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PART I

ITEM 1: BUSINESS
Overview
Mechanical Technology Incorporated, ("Mechanical Technology" or "the Company") is a New York Corporation,
incorporated in 1961, and its principal business is the development and commercialization of micro fuel
cells and the development and sales of precision instrumentation.
Over the last five years, Mechanical Technology has strengthened its commitment to and involvement in the
new energy sector. The Company has sold off non-core businesses and restructured its balance sheet in
order to implement its core business strategy, which is to develop new energy technologies and further
strengthen its operation.
Over the past fiscal year, the Company made progress in both strategic areas. In new energy, the Company
chose to focus on developing one new energy technology with a large and growing potential global market direct methanol micro fuel cells - and created an operational subsidiary to commercialize this technology.
The Company also made operational improvements in its existing precision instrumentation subsidiary,
increasing sales and developing new product offerings. The Company plans to continue to move ahead with
its strategy to commercialize micro fuel cells and strengthen its market position in precision
instrumentation while increasing shareholder value.
The Company also has holdings in three new energy companies.
Operations
Mechanical Technology's operations consist of two majority owned
subsidiaries, MTI MicroFuel Cells Inc. ("MTI Micro") and MTI Instruments, Inc. ("MTI Instruments").
After conducting scientific and market sizing research, the Company made a commitment to developing and
commercializing Direct Methanol Micro Fuel Cells ("DMFC's"), an alternative form of energy to conventional
portable power sources. The market for DMFC technology is believed to include, but it is not limited to,
handheld portable electronics and military applications.
The Company formed MTI Micro, a majority owned subsidiary for this commercialization effort. MTI Micro has
swiftly assembled a team of top scientists in the fuel cell industry, engineers and business development
professionals. Core technology has been licensed from Los Alamos National Laboratory ("LANL"), an
internationally recognized center for fuel cell research and has filed fifteen patent applications for its
own patent portfolio. MTI Micro also moved its operation into its newly renovated 15,000 square foot
facility dedicated to its development and commercialization of DMFC's. MTI Micro also entered into a
strategic relationship with E.I. DuPont deNemours, Inc. ("Dupont") which includes a 5.9% minority interest
in MTI Micro, a joint development agreement for fuel cell components and a supply agreement.

Mechanical Technology's majority-owned subsidiary, MTI Instruments, formerly the Advanced Products
Division of the Company, commenced operations on April 1, 2000. MTI Instruments has three product lines:
portable engine balancing systems for the aircraft industry, non-contact measurement probes and
electronics, and metrology tools for the semiconductor industry. MTI Instruments' strategy is to continue
to enhance and expand its product offerings with the goal of increasing market share and profitability.
Mechanical Technology held interests in the following new energy companies as of September 30, 2001:

Holding

Nasdaq

Shares

Ownership
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Percentage

Symbol

Plug Power Inc. ("Plug Power")

PLUG

11,994,315

23.90%

SatCon Technology Corporation
("SatCon")

SATC

1,300,000

8.05%

Beacon Power Corporation ("Beacon
Power")

BCON

4,410,797

10.30%

Plug Power designs and develops on-site electric power generation systems utilizing Proton Exchange
Membrane (PEM) fuel cells for stationary applications. SatCon manufactures and sells power and energy
management products for digital power markets. Beacon Power designs, manufactures, and markets advanced
flywheel technology products that provide reliable electric power required by the information economy.

Products and Services
Mechanical Technology is focusing its entrepreneurial effort in the field of new energy, in particular the
development and commercialization of direct methanol micro fuel cell technology. The Company plans to use
its experience as a founder of Plug Power and its knowledge of and involvement in other new energy
endeavors to help it successfully develop and commercialize DMFC's.
The Company's approach has included and will include assembling the necessary scientific, engineering,
financial and business development personnel, forming strategic alliances and working partnerships with
industry leaders, structuring research and development processes, and developing the ramp-up to
manufacturing and product distribution.
MTI MicroFuel Cells Inc.
MTI MicroFuel Cells Inc. ("MTI Micro") is developing direct methanol micro fuel cells. A fuel cell is an
energy-generating device that creates power through a chemical reaction. Unlike a rechargeable battery, it
takes no time to recharge. You can refuel it instantly, and you do not need access to a secondary power
source. The MTI fuel cell uses methanol as fuel. Methanol (MeOH) has the advantage of high energy density;
five to ten times that of an advanced lithium ion Battery.
MTI Micro's fuel cell can be customized to provide portable power for a number of applications depending
on the wattage level.
MTI Instruments is involved in the design, manufacture and sale of high-performance test and measurement
instruments and systems. MTI Instruments has three product groups: non-contact sensing instrumentation,
computer-based balancing systems, and semiconductor systems.
Non-contact sensing instrumentation products
perform high precision position measurements
requirements, primarily in the semiconductor
as the Fotonic SensorÔ and AccumeasureÔ are

utilize fiber optic, laser, and capacitance technology to
for product design and quality control inspection
and computer disk drive industries. Product trademarks such
recognized worldwide.

MTI Instruments' computer-based aircraft engine balancing systems include an on-wing jet engine balancing
system used by both commercial and military aircraft fleet maintenance personnel. This product provides
trim balancing and vibration analysis in the field or in test situations.
The semiconductor group designs and produces manual, semi-automated and fully automated metrology tools
designed specifically for the semiconductor industry. Some examples include the ProformaÔ Autoscan 200
and the ProformaÔ Scan 200 SA. Such tools are based on MTI Instruments' proprietary Push-PullÔ
technology.
MTI Instruments' largest customers include industry leaders in the computer, electronic, semiconductor,
automotive, aerospace, aircraft and bioengineering fields.
MTI Holdings
As of September 30, 2001, Mechanical Technology holds interests in companies which were acquired solely as
a result of either extraordinarily successful development and subsequent public offering of its PEM
business, or the SatCon alliance entered into as a vehicle to dispose of its non-core businesses. These
companies provided the following products and services:
Plug Power
Plug Power Inc. ("Plug Power") designs and develops on-site electric power generation systems utilizing
proton exchange membrane fuel cells for stationary applications. Plug Power was formed in 1997, as a joint
venture between Edison Development Corporation ("EDC"), a DTE Energy Company, and the Company.
SatCon manufactures and sells power and energy management products for digital power markets. SatCon has
three business units: SatCon Power Systems manufactures and sells power systems for distributed power
generation, power quality and factory automation. SatCon Semiconductor Products manufactures and sells
power chip components; power switches; RF devices; amplifiers; telecommunications electronics; and hybrid
microcircuits for industrial, medical, and aerospace applications. SatCon Applied Technology develops
advanced technology in digital power electronics, high-efficiency machines and control systems with the
strategy of transitioning those technologies into products.
Beacon Power designs, manufactures, and markets advanced flywheel technology products that provide
reliable electric power required by the information economy. Beacon Power Corporation is the only company
to have developed a flywheel made from proprietary composite materials that can store and deliver the
energy needed for long-duration backup of remote communications sites. Beacon Power Corporation is
initially targeting this $4 billion communications segment of the $12 billion power quality and
reliability market with products that offer better return on investment with superior performance to
environmentally hazardous lead-acid battery back-up power systems, including higher reliability, longer
life, reduced maintenance, quicker recharging, remote monitoring and environmental friendliness.
Business Strategy
Mechanical Technology operates in two segments, the New Energy Technologies segment and the Test and

Measurement Instrumentation segment.
New Energy Technologies
In January of 2001, the Company announced the launch of a major initiative to develop and commercialize
direct methanol fuel cells. This effort, now carried out under our subsidiary MTI Micro, positions us to
capitalize on the immense commercial and military opportunities for this innovative source of portable
power.
The Company believes that commercial applications of DMFC's include, but are not limited to, handheld and
portable electronic devices such as cell phones, PDA's and laptops, and that DMFC's should provide the
consumer with longer use time for these devices, as well as instant and easy refueling. In the long term,
our market strategy is to enter other end-user markets for portable electronic devices.
In addition, a wide range of possible military applications exists as well, and will be explored in
conjunction with our efforts to develop commercial products. MTI Micro believes there is a large
potentially growing market for direct methanol micro fuel cells in military applications, including
weaponry and communications where there are critical, even life threatening situations requiring longlasting, lightweight portable power sources. The advanced military battery sector is a technology-driven
niche market that requires new solutions for its growing energy needs and encourages development of new
technologies for specific products or integrated systems and programs.
Because of the dramatically increasing demand for portable electronic devices and the potential uses and
advantages of DMFCs, the Company
believes there is significant market opportunities for DMFC's, and it anticipates that these opportunities
will continue to exist or may even grow substantially over the next decade or more. The Company also
believes that DMFCs could be an enabling technology that may provide the increased and improved power
necessary to combine portable electronic products, and therefore, may open significant new market
opportunities for these convergence devices.
To best leverage its assets and efficiently use its resources,
extended enterprise strategy in its commercialization efforts.
begun to team up with industry leaders and government agencies
resources and accelerate the development and commercialization
to follow this approach in the future.

the Company has chosen to follow an
As part of this approach, the Company has
in order to reduce start-up expenses, share
processes. The Company intends to continue

After conducting scientific and market sizing research, the Company has made a commitment to hiring top
scientists and engineers in the area of DMFC's and to establishing relationships with strategic partners
in order to rapidly commercialize DMFC's. The Company also has patents filed, pending and in process and
has entered into an agreement to license DMFC technology from Los Alamos National Laboratories (see the
Intellectual Property and Proprietary Rights Section under Item 1). In addition, the Company's team of
officers and senior staff will use their expertise in technical, financial, business development,
organizational and marketing areas to help the DMFC commercialization effort (see the Executive Officers
Section under Item 1). Despite these beliefs and actions, the Company's efforts in DMFC technology remain
in the research and development phase and the Company recognizes that significant technical and
engineering challenges remain before DMFC's can become commercially viable or available.
In the short time since its formation, MTI Micro has achieved the following:
Agreements
MTI Micro signed an agreement with E.I. DuPont deNemours, Inc. to accelerate the development and
commercialization of Direct Methanol Micro Fuel Cells for portable electronics. Terms of the partnership
include:
1. An agreement for DuPont to develop selected fuel cell components based on DupontTM Nafion® membrane
technology. The components will be customized for MTI Micro's fuel cells, which are being developed
for portable electronic applications including mobile telephones, personal digital assistants and
portable computers.
2. A supply agreement for DuPont to provide Mechanical Technology with membranes and related fuel cell
components.
3. The sale of a 5.9% minority equity interest in MTI Micro to DuPont.
DuPont is a science company, delivering science-based solutions that make a difference in people's lives
in food and nutrition; health care; apparel; home and construction; electronics; and transportation.
Founded in 1802, DuPont operates in seventy countries and has 93,000 employees.
In November 2001, MTI Micro signed a teaming agreement with Alliant Integrated Defense Company LLC, an
operating company of Alliant Techsystems ("ATK"), to explore military applications for direct methanol
micro fuel cells in weapon systems including OICW, the U.S. Army's Objective Individual Combat Weapon.
ATK is a major aerospace and defense company with leading positions in propulsion, composite structures,
munitions and precision capabilities, headquartered in Edina, Minnesota. ATK has two business segments:
aerospace and defense.
Grants

Mechanical Technology has received an award of more than $4.6 million by the Advanced Technology Program
(ATP) of the National Institute of Standards and Technology ("NIST"). The award carries out a two-and-ahalf year, $9.3 million cost-shared program to research and develop an advanced micro fuel cell system for
portable electronics.
NIST is a division of the U.S. Commerce Department's Technology Administration that develops technology to
enhance productivity,
facilitate trade and improve quality of life. ATP is a program of NIST that invests in the research and
development of the cutting-edge technologies that promise significant social and economic benefit. The
grant is highly competitive, and an applicant must demonstrate the innovative aspects of the technology,
its national benefits and commercial viability.
MTI MicroFuel Cells Inc. is reaching final agreement with the New York State Energy Research and
Development Authority (NYSERDA) for an award of nearly $500,000. This award will fund a year-long $1
million research program targeting specific technical issues related to development of direct methanol
micro fuel cells (DMFCs) as replacements for batteries in mobile phones and other handheld portable
devices.
The New York State Energy Research and Development Authority (NYSERDA) is a public benefit corporation,
which funds research into energy supply and efficiency, as well as energy-related environmental issues,
important to the well-being of New Yorkers. Successful NYSERDA award recipients have proven experience in
providing qualified research and service delivery in their areas of expertise and can also provide
environmental and commercial benefits to New York State as a whole.
Technological achievements
MTI Micro has advanced the design of its micro fuels, components, and systems. These advancements were
achieved through internal development, strategic R&D contracts, and joint development with component
suppliers. Patents have been applied for on key intellectual property arising from these efforts.
During 2001, MTI Micro more than doubled the power density achieved from its micro fuel cells. Since the
power density of the micro fuel cell determines the size of the main component in the powerpack, this
achievement is an important step in our goal of size reduction to meet the needs of advanced electronics.
Additional achievements in fuel cell and system components include the development of a model to optimize
the design of key microfluidic elements and improved design of the membrane electrode assembly.
In June 2001, MTI Micro demonstrated a micro fuel cell powering a portable digital assistant (PDA). An
early prototype hybrid fuel cell system was developed by the end of September 2001, that included a micro
fuel cell, removable fuel cartridge, hybridizing battery, and voltage regulation electronics. This
prototype successfully powered a combination mobile telephone/ PDA device. Although substantial size
reduction is required from this first prototype, it demonstrated the complete packaging and operation of a
micro fuel cell system. It also demonstrated another important technological advancement in that it could
be operated in any orientation.
Milestones
In November 2001, the Company announced the following milestones:

To introduce a mass-market product in 2004.
To have an OEM/Distribution partner by the end of 2002.
To develop two generation prototypes in 2002, each one raising the bar on key parameters such as size
and performance:

- The first of these prototypes is scheduled for development by
May 1st 2002.
- The prototype will be half the size of our November 2001
prototype or smaller.
Test and Measurement Instrumentation
In the segment of Test and Measurement Instrumentation, MTI Instruments' strategy is to continue to
enhance and expand its product offerings and market share and increase profitability. MTI Instruments
introduced the following product offerings in 2001: The semiconductor product group added a new automated
wafer thickness measurement system. This system offers edge handling robotics and full wafer mapping
capability. The general instruments group introduced a new generation of CCD-based laser triangulation
sensors. This new product offers accuracy, speed and frequency response advantages over existing

competitive products. In January 2001, the PBS group's 4100 product line was enhanced by the next
generation vibration diagnostics and balancing system - the WinPBS - for on-wing balancing and test cell
applications. The test cell version permits exchange of data with other test cell instrumentation using
Ethernet.
Holdings
In addition to its own efforts to develop new energy products, Mechanical Technology has holdings in
companies that control their own product development efforts, such as Plug Power, SatCon and Beacon Power.
However, the Company realizes that their products and any products developed by the Company itself, are
not necessarily lower cost alternatives to existing energy technologies but are often solutions to
questions of reliability, capacity, quality, maintenance, environmental issues and other current and
future power requirements or concerns.
Marketing and Sales
Mechanical Technology's officers and senior staff attend and speak at conferences appropriate to
developing the Company's efforts and expanding its activities in the new energy sector.
The Company believes that commercial applications of DMFC's include, but are not limited to, handheld and
portable electronic devices such as cell phones, PDA's and laptops, and that DMFC's should provide the
consumer with longer use time for these devices, as well as instant and easy refueling. The longer-term
market strategy is to have DMFC's replace batteries as the power supply for portable electronic devices.
In addition, a wide range of possible military applications exists as well, and will be explored in
conjunction with our efforts to develop commercial products.
In the segment of test and measurement instrumentation, MTI Instruments markets its products and services
through a separate experienced marketing, sales and applications engineering staff. The marketing and
sales efforts of MTI Instruments are supported by a network of manufacturers' representatives, a regional
sales office in the USA, and sales agents and distributors in foreign markets. In some cases, such as OEM
accounts, MTI Instruments sells direct.
To supplement these efforts, MTI Instruments also attends numerous trade shows in the areas of its
concentration and uses product listings in appropriate media and directories and the internet.
A comparison of sales by class of products, which account for over 10 percent of the Company's
consolidated sales, are shown below for the years ended September 30:
Test and Measurement Instrumentation

2001

2000

1999

(Dollars in thousands)
Vibration test equipment (Ling)

$ -

$ 140

$ 4,862

Starsine power conditioning (Ling)

-

-

1,333

Parts (Ling)

-

-

2,106

Engine balancing systems (MTI Instruments)

1,088

1,503

1,570

OEM (MTI Instruments)

3,896

1,421

1,169

Capacitance probes and sensors (MTI Instruments)

-

976

-

Fiber optic probes and sensors (MTI Instruments)

-

563

-

$4,984

$4,603

$11,040

Total

Competition
MTI Micro faces competition from a number of companies. Many of MTI Micro's competitors are larger, with
much better access to capital, resources, component supplies, manufacturing capacity and distribution
channels. Because of the nature of the product development, MTI Micro cannot determine how far its
competitors have advanced in developing DMFC's and whether those competitors are ahead of MTI Micro in
their development efforts. Although MTI Micro cannot assume that it is the dominant DMFC company, it
believes its management team, product development skills, product quality and reputation are competitive
advantages.
MTI Instruments is subject to intense competition from
larger than MTI Instruments and have greater financial
of its respective markets, it does not consider any of
primary competitive considerations in MTI Instruments'
and timely delivery. MTI Instruments believes that its
competitive advantages.

at least several companies, many of which are
resources. While MTI Instruments has a major share
them to be dominant within its industry. The
markets are product quality and performance, price
product development skills and reputation are

Research and Development
MTI Micro focuses on the research and development of direct methanol micro fuel cell technology. As of the
end of the fiscal year, MTI Micro has filed 15 patent applications and is actively pursuing a path to
commercialization of this technology.
MTI Instruments conducts research and develops technology to support its existing products and develop new
products. MTI Instruments' technology is generally an advancement of state of the art in its industries.
MTI Instruments expects to maintain a competitive position by continuously advancing its technology rather
than relying on patent protection.

During fiscal years 2001, 2000 and 1999, the Company expended approximately $3.7, $2.0, and $1.1 million,
respectively, on product development and research costs.
Intellectual Property and Proprietary Rights
Mechanical Technology relies on a combination of patent, trade secret, and copyright and trademark laws to
protect its intellectual property.
It has entered into confidentiality agreements with all of its employees and consultants with respect to
its intellectual property, whether developed internally or licensed from other parties.
MTI Micro has licensed certain core Direct Methanol Fuel Cell ("DMFC") Technology from Los Alamos National
Laboratory ("LANL"). Under this agreement, the Company has a nonexclusive right to use technology
developed by LANL's research teams. The technology relates to fundamental DMFC construction and
architecture of the power generating components of the DMFC.
MTI Micro has developed intellectual property related to DMFC systems and components. The Company has
filed more than fifteen United States Patent Applications, and is seeking international patent protection
for a number of pieces of intellectual property. These patents cover fuel cell system designs that result
in increased performance and efficiency, ease of manufacture, as well as component and subsystem designs
related to control of the DMFC system and its operation under a variety of conditions. (A discussion of
DMFC is covered more fully in the Business Strategy Section under this Item 1.)
The Company will continue to develop intellectual property related to DMFC systems, and will seek to
appropriately protect this intellectual property using patents and other appropriate legal protection.
The Company's majority-owned subsidiary, MTI Instruments, relies primarily on trade secret law to protect
its intellectual property.
Segment Information
Segment information is set forth in Note 21 - Geographic and Segment Information - of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements referred to in Item 8 below and incorporated herein by reference.
Subsequent Events
On October 4, 2001, the Company repaid $4 million on its $10 million line of credit with KeyBank, N.A.
("Line of Credit"). The outstanding balance on the Line of Credit is $1.0 million.
On November 1, 2001, MTI Micro closed its second round of financing. The Company and DuPont invested $5
million at a $55 million post-money valuation. DuPont maintained its ownership percentage of 5.9%.
In November 2001, MTI Micro signed a teaming agreement with Alliant Integrated Defense Company LLC, an
operating company of Alliant Techsystems ("ATK"), to explore military applications for direct methanol
micro fuel cells in weapon systems including OICW, the U.S. Army's Objective Individual Combat Weapon.

Significant Business Developments or Historical Business Developments
On June 27, 1997, the Company and Edison Development Corp. ("EDC"), a subsidiary of DTE Energy Co. formed
a joint venture, Plug Power, LLC ("Plug Power"), to further develop the Company's Proton Exchange Membrane
("PEM") Fuel Cell technology. In exchange for its contribution of
contracts and intellectual property and certain other net assets that had
comprised the fuel cell research and development business activity of the Technology segment (the assets
of which had a net book value of $357 thousand), the Company received a 50% interest in Plug Power. EDC
made
an initial cash contribution of $4.75 million in exchange for the
remaining 50% interest in Plug Power. The Company's holding in Plug Power
is included in the balance sheet caption "Holdings, at equity".

Plug Power has focused exclusively on the research, development and manufacture of an economically viable
PEM fuel cell.
On October 29, 1999, Plug Power Inc. made an initial public offering ("IPO") of its common stock on the
Nasdaq National Market under the symbol "PLUG." The initial public offering price for the 6 million shares
issued was $15 per share. Additionally, the underwriters of the IPO exercised their 900,000 shares over
allotment at the IPO price.
Since Plug Power was formed in 1997, the Company, EDC and other investors have contributed substantial
amounts of cash and other assets to Plug Power. Contributions to Plug Power by the Company totaled $20.7
million as of September 30, 1999. Immediately prior to the Plug Power IPO, the Company purchased an
additional 2,733,333 shares of Plug Power at $7.50 per share for a total purchase price of $20.5 million.
As of September 30, 1999, the Company owned 13,704,315 shares of Plug Power or approximately 31.4% of
outstanding Plug Power stock.
During 2001, the Company sold 1,710,000 shares of Plug Power which resulted in a gain of $31.009 million.
The proceeds of $35.717 million were used to pay down debt and fund operations. As of September 30, 2001,
the Company owns 11,994,315 shares of Plug Power or approximately 23.9% of Plug Power's issued and
outstanding shares.
As part of its program to restructure the Company, and concentrate its limited financial resources on the
development of its PEM fuel cell business, on October 21, 1999, the Company created a strategic alliance
with SatCon Technology Corporation ("SatCon"), an innovator of new energy technologies. In exchange for
Ling Electronics, Inc. and Ling Electronics, Ltd. ("Ling") and the Company's cash support of approximately
$7 million to SatCon the Company received 1,800,000 shares of SatCon's common stock and warrants to
purchase an additional 100,000 shares of SatCon's common stock. SatCon also received warrants to purchase
100,000 (300,000 post-split) shares of the Company's common stock.
During September 2001, the Company sold 500,000 shares of SatCon which resulted in proceeds of $2.125
million at a loss of $2.171 million. The proceeds will be used to pay down debt and fund operations.
On May 23, 2000, in connection with its alliance with SatCon, and to support its interest in SatCon, the
Company provided cash support of $6 million to Beacon Power and received preferred stock and warrants to
purchase common stock, and the right to receive additional warrants for common stock if there was an
initial public offering ("IPO"). In August 2000, the Company exercised warrants for 12,000 shares. On
November 17, 2000, Beacon Power completed its IPO. Immediately prior to its IPO, Beacon Power converted
its preferred stock to common stock and completed a 2-for-1 stock split. In connection with the IPO,
Beacon also granted the Company a warrant to purchase 1,333,333 shares of common stock at an
exercise price of $2.25 per share. On December 20, 2000, the Company exercised its warrant for 1,333,333
shares on a cash-less basis and received an additional 985,507 shares of Beacon Power common stock.
On September 28, 2001, the Company received 544,148 shares of Beacon Power common stock as a pro rata
distribution by SatCon. The Company
recognized a gain of $827 thousand on this dividend distribution.
On July 12, 1999, the Company completed the sale of 801,223 shares of common stock to current shareholders
through a rights offering. The offering raised approximately $12.8 million before offering costs of
approximately $158 thousand for net proceeds of approximately $12.7 million. The Company used some of the
proceeds of the offering to purchase Plug Power shares. In addition, proceeds were used for general
corporate purposes and other capital expenditures.
On September 30, 1998, the Company completed the sale of 1,196,399 shares of common stock to current
shareholders through a rights offering. The offering raised approximately $7.2 million before offering
costs of
approximately $186 thousand for net proceeds of approximately $7 million. The Company used some of the
proceeds of the offering to purchase Plug Power shares. In addition, proceeds were used for core
businesses, efforts to increase market share, general corporate purposes and other capital expenditures.
During 2001, the Company formed MTI MicroFuel Cells Inc. (MTI Micro) and acquired substantially all of the
outstanding stock of MTI Micro in exchange for contributing the assets of its micro-fuel cell operations.
Dupont owns 5.9% of MTI Micro as of September 30, 2001.
Risk Factors
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements. You
can identify these statements by forward-looking words such as "may,"
"will," "expect," "anticipate," "believe," "estimate," and "continue," or similar words. You should read
statements that contain these words carefully because they discuss our future expectations contain
projections of our future results of operations or of our financial
condition or state other "forward-looking" information. All statements other than historical information
should be deemed to be forward-looking statements. We believe that it is important to communicate our
future expectations to our investors. However, there may be events in the future that we are not able to

accurately predict or control and that may cause our actual results to differ materially from the
expectations we describe in our forward-looking statements. Investors are cautioned that all forwardlooking statements involve risks and uncertainties, and actual results may differ materially from those
discussed as a result of various factors, including the risks described below.
We need to secure additional financing for our future capital needs
In August 2001, we restructured our loan agreement with KeyBank, N.A., reducing our credit line to $10
million. The Company may borrow up to $10 million on the line if the closing price of Plug Power shares is
at least $10. If Plug Power shares close at less than $10 per share but more than $8 per share, the line
is reduced to $7.5 million and the Company must pledge and maintain additional collateral in the form of
SatCon shares or cash. If Plug Power shares close at less than $8 per share but more than $7 per share,
the line is reduced to $5 million. If Plug Power shares close at less than $7 per share, any outstanding
balance on the line of credit must be repaid. As of October 4, 2001, the total amount outstanding on our
line of credit was $1.0 million and the Company had approximately $5.8 million in unrestricted cash.
The Company believes that it will be able to meet the liquidity needs of its continuing operations for the
next year from one or more of the
following sources: additional borrowings, equity financings, the sale of
assets, debt financings, current cash resources and cash flow generated by operations. If future financing
is not available or is not available on acceptable terms, we may not be able to fund our future needs,
which would have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Developing new technology is very risky
An important component of our business strategy is to develop DMFC's for portable power applications.
DMFC's are a new technology with many technical and engineering challenges still to be resolved. We cannot
assure that we will be able to successfully resolve the technical and engineering challenges of DMFC's, or
if we are successful, that such solutions will be commercially viable. Resolution of these technical and
engineering issues requires substantial resources including financial, managerial and technical resources.
We cannot assure that all the necessary resources will be available to the degree, and at the times they
are needed. If we are unable to successfully develop DMFC's, our results of operations and financial
condition could be materially adversely affected.
DMFC technology may not be commercially viable
The success of the Company's plans to commercialize DMFC's depends on the market's acceptance of DMFC's as
a replacement for existing battery
technology. Consumers have never carried fuel cells or used fuel cells in portable electronic devices, and
we cannot be sure consumers will feel comfortable doing so. In addition, it is highly unlikely that fuel
cells will be cheaper than batteries on a per unit basis. We do not know whether consumers will be willing
to pay a higher per unit price for a DMFC compared to a battery. Accordingly, the future commercial
prospects for DMFC's are not yet clear. Our business and financial results and condition will be
materially adversely affected if DMFC's are not accepted by the market or consumers are unwilling to pay a
higher price for DMFC's.
Our competitors may develop a cheaper, better product and bring that product to market quicker than we can
There are a number of other companies developing DMFC's. Some of our competitors may have better access to
resources and capital than we do. Some of our competitors are much larger and have better access to
manufacturing capacity, supply chains and distribution channels than we do. Some of our competitors may
resolve technical or engineering issues before we do. Accordingly, one or more of our competitors may
bring a product to market before we do. In addition, one or more of our competitors may make a better or
cheaper product than we can make. Failure to get to market with the best and cheapest DMFC product before
our competitors could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.
Our success in commercializing DMFC's will depend, in part, on attracting and retaining the right
strategic partners
Our business model is to outsource and partner with other companies whenever we see a strategic advantage
in doing so. Some potentially critical areas for such relationships are in the areas of manufacturing,
distribution, component development and critical component supplies. Attracting and retaining the best
partners in some or all of these areas is critical to our success.
We may not be able to attract and retain suitable partners. Failure to do so may have a material adverse
effect on our results of operations and financial condition.
We may not produce a commercially viable DMFC by the end of calendar 2004
We have predicted that we will introduce our first DMFC product to the market during the last quarter of
calendar 2004. There is no assurance we will meet this deadline. There may be technical or engineering
challenges we have not anticipated, issues of reliability for our device, an inability for our device to
be integrated into existing electronic devices, difficulties in obtaining materials or components, or

problems with manufacturing or distribution, and many other problems that we have not, and perhaps could
not anticipate. All of these issues could result in a late release of our initial DMFC product.
We may become an inadvertent investment company
Our equity holdings and securities available for sale constitute investment securities under the
Investment Company Act. In general, a company may be deemed to be an investment company if it owns
investment securities with a value exceeding 40% of its total assets, subject to certain exclusions and
exemptions. Investment companies are subject to registration under, and compliance with, the Investment
Company Act unless a particular exemption or safe harbor provision applies. If we were to be deemed an
investment company, we would become subject to the requirements of the Investment Company Act. As a
consequence, we would be prohibited from engaging in certain businesses or issuing certain securities,
certain of our contracts might be voidable, and we might be subject to civil and criminal penalties for
noncompliance.
Until this year, we qualified for a safe harbor exemption under the Investment Company Act based upon the
level of our ownership of shares of Plug Power and our influence over its management or policies. However,
since we sold some of our shares of Plug Power during this year, this safe harbor exemption is no longer
available.
On December 3, 2001, we made an application to the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") requesting
that they either declare that we are not an investment company because we are primarily engaged in another
business or exempt us from the provisions of the Investment Company Act. This application is pending. If
our application is not granted, we will have to find another safe harbor or exemption that we can qualify
for, which may include a one year safe harbor granted by the Investment Company Act, or become an
investment company subject to the regulations of the Investment Company Act.
If we were deemed to be an investment company and could not find another safe harbor or exemption and
failed to register as an investment company, the SEC could require us to sell our interests in Plug Power,
SatCon and Beacon, until the value of our holdings is reduced below 40% of total assets. This could result
in sales of our holdings in quantities of shares at depressed prices and we may never realize anticipated
benefits from, or may incur losses on, these sales. Further, we may be unable to sell some holdings due to
contractual or legal restrictions or the inability to locate a suitable buyer. Moreover, we may incur tax
liabilities when selling assets.
We have incurred losses and anticipate continued losses
As of September 30, 2001, we had an accumulated deficit of $41.3 million. Our net income for the year
ended September 30, 2001 was $3.8 million, which included a loss of $(17.1) million generated by our
proportionate share of losses, after taxes, in our portfolio companies,
a net gain of $28.8 million from sales of holdings and income of $7.6 million, net of tax, for changes in
accounting principles. We expect to continue incurring net losses from operations until we and our
portfolio companies can produce sufficient revenues to cover costs. In order to achieve profitability, we
and our portfolio companies must successfully achieve all or some combination of the following:
develop new products for existing markets;
sell these products to existing and new customers;
increase gross margins through higher volumes and manufacturing efficiencies;
control operating expenses; and
develop and manage distribution capability.
There is no assurance we will ever achieve profitability. Failure to do so will have a material adverse
effect on our results of operations and financial condition.
Our stock price may fluctuate as the value of our portfolio companies fluctuates
The primary assets of the Company are equity securities of publicly traded companies. As of September 30,
2001, the Company owned shares of common stock in Plug Power, SatCon and Beacon Power, each of which is a
publicly traded company. The market price and valuations of the securities the Company holds in these
companies may fluctuate due to market conditions and other conditions over which the Company has no
control. Fluctuations in the market price and valuations of the securities held by the Company may result
in fluctuations in the market price of the Company's common stock.
We are partially dependent on the success of our portfolio companies, some of which are in developmental
stages
Our success is partially dependent on the success of our portfolio companies. Each of these companies is
still researching and developing technologies. Plug Power, a developer of residential fuel cells, has
stated that it does not expect to have a high volume commercial product available until at least 2002.
There is no assurance Plug Power will successfully develop a commercial product, or if it does, that it
will do so in the time frames predicted. Although SatCon currently produces and sells some products, it
continues to research and develop other products for commercial business applications. There is no
assurance that such products will be accepted by the market or will be produced at a cost that is
commercially feasible. Finally, Beacon, a developer of flywheel energy storage devices, is still in the
development stage. There is no assurance it will develop a commercially viable flywheel at the costs or in
the timeframes it currently predicts.

Alternatives to new energy technologies could render our business obsolete
New energy technology markets are characterized by rapid technological change, frequent new product
introductions and enhancements, uncertain product life cycles, changes in customer requirements and
evolving industry standards. The introduction of new products embodying new technologies and the emergence
of shifting customer demands or changing industry standards could render the DMFC and the products of our
portfolio companies obsolete and unmarketable which would have a material adverse effect on our business,
operating results and financial condition. Our future success will depend upon our and our portfolio
companies' ability to continue to develop and introduce a variety of new products and product enhancements
to address the increasingly sophisticated needs of customers. This will require that we and our portfolio
companies continue to make substantial product development investments. We and our portfolio companies may
experience delays in releasing new products and product enhancements in the future. Such delays may cause
customers to forego purchases of products and/or purchase those of our competitors. Technological advances
in new energy products and improvements in existing technologies and power supplies may render our
technologies and the technologies of our portfolio companies obsolete.
We may not be able to protect our patents and intellectual property
Patent and trade secret rights are of material importance to us. No assurance can be given as to the
issuance of patents or, if so issued, as to their scope. Patents granted may not provide meaningful
protection from competitors. Even if a competitor's products were to infringe patents owned by us, or our
portfolio companies, it would be costly to pursue an enforcement action and would divert funds and
resources which otherwise could be used in operations. Furthermore, there can be no assurance that an
enforcement action would be successful.
In addition to our patent rights, we also rely on treatment of our technology as trade secrets and upon
confidentiality agreements. These agreements may be breached, and we may not have adequate remedies for
any breach.
We may infringe on the patent and intellectual property rights of others
In recent years, hundreds of fuel cell patents have been issued worldwide. Many of these patents are
broadly written and encompass basic and fundamental theories of how fuel cells should or could work. As we
continue to develop our DMFC technology, our DMFC design may infringe the patent or intellectual property
rights of others. Any such infringement could be costly, either in fees or royalties to the patent or
intellectual property right owner, or in additional development costs to find a non-infringing design or
in damages, legal or other fees to resolve any disputes related to potential infringement. In addition, an
infringement could be very costly in terms of delays in product development and production.
Our share price could be subject to extreme price fluctuations, and shareholders could have difficulty
trading shares
The markets for high technology companies in particular have been volatile, and the market price of our
common stock, which is traded on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol MKTY, has been and may
continue to be subject to significant fluctuations. Fluctuations could be in response to operating
results, announcements of technological innovations or new products by us, our portfolio companies, or by
our competitors, patent or proprietary rights developments, and market conditions for high technology
stocks in general. In addition, the stock market in recent years has experienced extreme price and volume
fluctuations that often have been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of individual
companies. These market fluctuations, as well as general economic conditions, may adversely affect the
market price of our common stock.
General economic conditions may affect investors' expectations regarding our financial performance and
adversely affect our stock price
Certain industries in which we, or our portfolio companies sell products, such
semiconductor industry, are highly cyclical. In the future, our results may be
period-to-period fluctuations as a consequence of the industry patterns of our
regional economic conditions, and other factors. These factors may also have a
our business, operating results and financial condition.
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Current shareholders may be diluted
If we raise additional funds through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, current
shareholders' percentage ownership will be reduced. In addition, these transactions may dilute the value
of common stock outstanding. We may have to issue securities that may have rights, preferences and
privileges senior to our common stock. We cannot assure current shareholders that we will be able to raise
additional funds on terms acceptable to us, if at all. If future financing is not available or is not
available on acceptable terms, we may not be able to fund our future needs, which would have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
We are dependent on continued government funding for new energy research and development
A large percentage of our revenues for the next several years are likely to come from government
contracts. The loss of such contracts and the inability to obtain additional contracts could adversely
affect our financial condition. We believe that government funding for areas of research and development
activities of our portfolio companies will continue without reduction, however, we cannot assure that this

funding will not be reduced in the future.

There may be conflicts of interest among the Company, its officers, directors, its portfolio companies and
its majority shareholder
Some of the Company's officers and directors serve as officers or
directors of one or more of the Company's portfolio companies. Some of the Company's officers and
directors also serve as officers and directors of the Company's majority shareholder. As a result, the
Company, the Company's officers and directors, the Company's portfolio companies and the Company's
majority shareholder may face potential conflicts of interest with each other and with its stockholders.
Specifically, the Company's officers and directors may be presented with situations in their capacity as
officers or directors of one of the Company's portfolio Companies or as officers and directors of the
Company's majority shareholder that conflict with their obligations as officers or directors of the
Company.
We face intense competition
A variety of companies compete in developing DMFC's, test and measurement instrumentation. We expect
competition to intensify greatly as the need for alternatives to battery technology and precision
instrumentation becomes more apparent and continues to increase. Some of our competitors are well
established and have substantially greater managerial, technical, financial, marketing and product
development resources. Additional companies, both large and small, are entering the markets in which we
compete. There can also be no assurance that current and future competitors will not be more successful in
the markets in which we compete than we have been, or will be in the future. There can be no assurance
that we will be successful in such a competitive environment.
Competition for key personnel in our industries is intense
Our success will depend, in large part, upon our ability to attract, motivate and retain highly qualified
scientists and engineers, as well as highly skilled and experienced management and technical personnel.
Competition for these personnel is intense, and there can be no assurance that we will be successful in
attracting, motivating or retaining key personnel. Our success depends to a significant extent upon a
number of key employees, including members of senior management. The loss of the services of one or more
of these key employees could have a material adverse effect on our plans for expansion in the future.
Our business is under the significant control of our directors, officers, and their affiliates
As of September 30, 2001, our officers, directors, and their affiliates, beneficially own approximately
43% of our outstanding common stock; and First Albany Companies Inc. holds approximately 33.1% of the
outstanding common stock. This concentration of ownership may have the effect of delaying or preventing a
change in control of the Company.
Operations Sold or Discontinued
Ling Electronics, Inc. and Ling Electronics, Ltd. ("Ling") were sold on October 21, 1999 to SatCon in
exchange for 770,000 shares of SatCon common stock (which stock had a market value of approximately $6.7
million on the transaction date). Ling, of Anaheim, California, designs, manufactures, and markets
electro-dynamic vibration test systems, highintensity-sound transducers, power conversion equipment and power amplifiers used to perform reliability
testing and stress screening during product development and quality control. This mode of testing is used
by industry and the military to reveal design and manufacturing
flaws in a broad range of precision products, from satellite parts to computer components. Ling products
for power and frequency conversion
and "clean power" applications include systems capable of output up to 432 kVA.
The sale of the Company's Technology Division, the sole component of the Technology segment, to NYFM,
Incorporated (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Foster-Miller, Inc., a Waltham, Massachusetts-based technology
company) was completed on March 31, 1998. Accordingly, the Company no longer includes Technology among its
reportable business segments. The Technology Division is reported as a discontinued operation as of
December 26, 1997, and the consolidated financial statements have been restated to report separately the
net assets and operating results of
the business. The Company's prior year financial statements have been restated to conform to this
treatment. See Note 19 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements referred to in Item 8 below.
On September 30, 1997, the Company sold all of the assets of its L.A.B. Division to Noonan Machine Company
of Franklin Park, IL. The Company received $2.6 million in cash and two notes, totaling $650 thousand,
from Noonan Machine Company. The purchaser requested that the principal amount of the $250 thousand note
be reduced to reflect the resale value of certain assets of L.A.B. The Company enforced its rights with
respect to the note and was granted a summary judgment for collection of this note during 2001. Noonan

appealed this summary judgment and the Company and Noonan agreed to a settlement which includes the
principal balance of the note receivable and accrued interest. The net proceeds from the sale were used to
pay down all outstanding debt on September 30, 1997 and build working capital. The sale of L.A.B. resulted
in a $2.0 million gain, which was recorded in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 1997.
The L.A.B. Division designed, manufactured, and marketed mechanically and hydraulically-driven test
systems for package and product reliability testing. Among other uses, this equipment simulates the
conditions a product will encounter during transportation and distribution including shock, compression,
vibration and impact. This type of testing is widely conducted by businesses involved in product design,
packaging and distribution.
Backlog
The backlog of orders believed to be firm as of September 30, is approximately $1.3 million and $1.9
million for 2001 and 2000, respectively. The backlog relates to contracts awarded by commercial customers
or government agencies.
Employees
The total number of employees of Mechanical Technology and its subsidiaries was 76 as of September 30,
2001, as compared to 59 as of September 30, 2000. This increase is primarily due to the addition of staff
to MTI Micro.
Fiscal 2001 employees reflect the Company's two subsidiaries, MTI Micro and MTI Instruments. Executives
and staff were chosen for their acumen, ability and experience in areas critical to the execution of the
Company's core business strategy. The backgrounds of the Company's
officers are more fully detailed under the Executive Officers Section of Item 1.
Significant Customers
Significant customer information is set forth in Note 21 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
referred to in Item 8 below and incorporated herein by reference.
Executive Officers
The executive officers of the registrant (all of whom serve at the pleasure of the Board of Directors),
their ages, and the position or office held by each, are as follows:

Position or Office

Name

Age

Chief Executive Officer and Director

George C. McNamee

55

President and Chief Technology Officer

William P. Acker

40

Vice President and Chief Marketing
Officer

Judith A. Barnes

53

Vice President of Business Development

James T. Bunch

30

Vice President of Corporate Development

Catherine S. Hill

39

Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer

Cynthia A.
Scheuer

40

Mr. McNamee has been a Director and Chairman of the Company's Board since 1996, and Chief Executive
Officer since April 1998. Mr. McNamee is and has been the Chairman of the Board of First Albany Companies,
Inc. ("FAC") since 1985 (see "Securities Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners" in Item 10 below). Mr.
McNamee also serves as Chairman of the Board of Plug Power Inc., a position he has held since Plug Power

was formed in 1997. He is a member of the Board of Directors of MapInfo Corporation and The Meta Group,
Inc. He is on the Board of Directors of the New York Stock Exchange, and the New York Conservation
Education Fund.
Dr. Acker was appointed President of the Company in June 2000. From 1997 to June 2000, Dr. Acker was Vice
President of Technology and Product Development at Plug Power Inc., a manufacturer of residential fuel
cells founded as a joint venture of the Company and DTE Energy. Before his tenure at Plug Power, Dr. Acker
joined Texaco in 1990 and served in numerous management positions, including Global Manager for
Engineering and Product Testing from 1996 to 1997, where he was
responsible for the development of energy products and was involved in the formation of Texaco's strategic
business direction.
Dr. Barnes had a consulting practice from 1971 until March 2000, when she joined the Company as Vice
President and Chief Marketing Officer. She provided services in marketing, advertising, management
communication and technical communication to clients in business and
industry, finance, the arts, education, healthcare, retailing and entertainment. Dr. Barnes is and has
been an adjunct professor in the Lally School of Management and Technology at Rensselaer Polytechnic
Institute, where she has taught in its graduate and executive programs since 1990.
Mr. Bunch, who joined the Company as Vice President
the energy sector as an equity research analyst. He
companies with Goldman, Sachs in New York from 1993
1997, he worked in Moscow with Renaissance Capital,

of Business Development in June 2000, has worked in
evaluated international integrated and Russian oil
to 1995 and in London from 1997 to 1998. From 1996 to
a Russian investment bank, where he was involved in

the sale of part of one of Russia's largest integrated oil and gas companies to a leading international
petroleum company. Mr. Bunch also worked with the Boston Consulting Group in London during the summer of
1999, while completing his MBA from Harvard University, which he received in May 2000.
Ms. Hill, who joined the Company in March of 2000 as Vice President of Corporate Development, has focused
on counseling high technology start-up firms throughout her career, first at Wilmer, Cutler & Pickering in
Washington, D.C. from 1990 through 1996, and then at Whiteman, Osterman, Hanna in Albany, New York from
1997 to 1999. She was instrumental in forming Plug Power and in developing and implementing its early
strategic relationships. From 1999 until she joined the Company, Ms. Hill worked as outside general
counsel for a number of start-up internet and software companies.
Ms. Scheuer was appointed Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company in November 1997.
Prior to joining the Company, she was a Senior Business Assurance Manager at PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP,
where she was employed from 1983 to 1997. From 1989 to 1997, she was a Senior Business Assurance Manager
responsible for the planning and delivery of audit and financial consulting services to a diverse group of
clients in manufacturing, high technology, retailing and government.
Other Key Employees
Mr. Chaves has been Vice President and General Manager of MTI Instruments, Inc., a majority-owned
subsidiary of the Company, since March 2000. He was Vice President and General Manager of the Company's
Advanced Products Division from 1987 to March 2000, and Vice President and General Manager of the
Company's L.A.B Division from January 1994 until it was sold in September 1997. Previously, he served as
Manager of Corporate Marketing for the Company from 1981 to 1987.
Mr. Dohring, a Director since 1997, became President of MTI Instruments, Inc., a majority-owned subsidiary
of the Company on April 1, 2000. Mr. Dohring retired December 31, 1998 from Silicon Valley Group, Inc.
("SVG") where he had been Vice President since July 1992 and President of its SVG Lithography Systems,
Inc. ("SVGL") unit since October 1994. From June 1992 to October 1994, he served as President of SVG's
Track Systems Division. He joined SVG from Rochester Instrument Systems, Inc., where he served as
President from April 1989 to June 1992. He also held management positions with General Signal, CVC
Products, Bendix, Bell & Howell and Veeco Instruments. He is a member of the Board of Directors of Tegal
Corporation, and has served as a director of Semiconductor Equipment & Materials International (SEMI) and
International Disc Equipment Manufacturers Association (IDEMA). He currently serves on the
State University of New York Maritime College Board of Directors and is a trustee of the College.

Dr. Gottesfeld has been Vice President and Chief Technology Officer of MTI MicroFuel Cells, Inc., a
majority-owned subsidiary of the Company, since December 2000. Prior to this appointment, Dr. Gottesfeld
led the Fuel Cell Research Program at The Los Alamos National Laboratory ("LANL") for more than 15 years
and had earlier affiliations with Brookhaven and Bell Laboratories. Dr. Gottesfeld's work has been in
electrochemistry, electrocatalysis and electrochemical power sources, a field in which he holds patents
and has published extensively. He has served as an officer and chairman of the Physical Electrochemistry
Division of the Electrochemical Society, and is a Fellow of the Society. He is also a Laboratory Fellow at
LANL. Dr. Gottesfeld received his Ph.D. from the Technion, Israel Institute of Technology.
Mr. Law has been Vice President of Product Development and Commercialization of MTI MicroFuel Cells, Inc.
since April 2001. Mr. Law has worked in the energy sector for 12 years, the past three at Plug Power Inc.,

where he developed fuel cell technology and business relationships to support commercialization efforts.
Prior to Plug Power, Law held management positions at GE Power Systems, where his responsibilities
included overseeing a worldwide program modifying and upgrading existing power plants.
ITEM 2: PROPERTIES
The Company leases property in New York and, prior to the sale of Ling in October 1999, leased space in
California. In management's opinion, the facilities are generally well-maintained.
The Company leases approximately 15,100 square feet for its corporate headquarters and MTI Micro offices
and laboratory space in Albany, New York. The lease expires June 30, 2006. The Company's majority-owned
subsidiary, MTI Instruments, leases a facility of approximately 20,700 square feet of office and
manufacturing space in Albany, New York. The lease expires November 30, 2009.
ITEM 3: LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
At any point in time, the Company and its subsidiaries may be involved in various lawsuits or other legal
proceedings; these could arise from the
sale of products or services or from other matters relating to its regular business activities, compliance
with various governmental regulations and requirements, or other transactions or circumstances. The
Company does not believe there are any such proceedings presently pending, which could have a material
adverse effect on the Company's financial condition except for the matters described in Note 17 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements referred to in Item 8 below incorporated herein by reference.
On September 9, 1998, Barbara Lawrence, the Lawrence Group, Inc.
("Lawrence"), and certain other Lawrence-related entities ("Plaintiffs") filed suit in the United States
Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of New York against First Albany Corporation, Mechanical
Technology, Dale Church, Edward Dohring, Alan Goldberg, George McNamee, Beno Sternlicht, Marty Mastroianni
(former President and Chief Operating Officer of MTI), and 33 other individuals ("Defendants") who
purchased a total of 820,909 shares of the Company's stock from the Plaintiffs. The case concerns the
Defendants' 1997 purchase of Mechanical Technology shares from the Plaintiffs at the price of $2.25 per
share. FAC acted as Placement Agent for the Defendants in the negotiation and sale of the shares and in
proceedings before the Bankruptcy Court for the Northern

District of New York, which approved the sale in September 1997. Plaintiffs claim that the Defendants
failed to disclose material inside information concerning Plug Power, LLC to the Plaintiffs and therefore
the $2.25 per share purchase price was unfair. Plaintiffs are seeking
damages of $5 million plus punitive damages and costs. In April 1999, Defendants filed a motion to dismiss
the amended complaint, which was
denied by the Bankruptcy Court. On appeal in October 2000, Plaintiffs' cause of action was dismissed by
the United States District Court for
the Northern District of New York. In November 2000, Plaintiffs filed an appeal of that dismissal with the
United States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit. That appeal is presently pending.
ITEM 4: SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
There were no matters submitted to a vote of the registrant's security holders during the fourth quarter
of fiscal 2001.
PART II
ITEM 5: MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
Price Range of Common Stock
Mechanical Technology stock is traded on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol MKTY. Set forth below
are the highest and lowest prices at which shares of the Company's common stock have been traded during
each of the Company's last two fiscal years.

High Low
Fiscal Year 2001
First Quarter

$11.375

$2.000

Second Quarter

8.500

3.281

11.650

3.750

7.580

2.700

$11.667

$4.917

Second Quarter

33.667

6.333

Third Quarter

24.333

7.625

Fourth Quarter

16.500

8.625

Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

Fiscal Year 2000
First Quarter

Number of Equity Security Holders
As of December 3, 2001, the Company had approximately 459 holders of its $1.00 par value common stock. In
addition, there are approximately 14,002 beneficial owners holding stock in "street" name.
Dividends
The payment of dividends is within the discretion of the Company's Board of Directors and will depend,
among other factors, on earnings, capital requirements, and the operating and financial condition of the
Company. The Company has never paid and does not anticipate paying dividends in the foreseeable future.

ITEM 6: SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
The following table sets forth summary financial information regarding Mechanical Technology for the years
ended September 30, as indicated:
Statement of Earnings Data
(In thousands, except per share data)
2001

2000

1999

Restated4

1998

1997
Net sales
Net gain on sale of holdings
Gain on sale of subsidiary

$ 7,298

$ 5,558

$ 12,895

$ 21,035

$ 24,109

28,838

-

-

-

-

-

1,262

-

-

2,012

20,736

(4,917)

(1,329)

(1,800)

3,031

(7,524)

1,927

(37)

(25)

(143)

(17,072)

(15,849)

(9,363)

(3,806)

(330)

123

-

-

-

-

(3,737)

(18,839)

(10,729)

(2,031)

2,558

-

243

41

(2,285)2

(545)

Income (loss) from continuing
operations before income taxes,
equity in holdings' losses and
minority interests
Income tax (expense) benefit
Equity in holdings' losses, net
of
tax benefit
Minority interests in losses of
consolidated subsidiary
(Loss) income from continuing
operations
Income (loss) from discontinued
operations, net of taxes

Extraordinary item Gain on extinguishment of debt,

-

-

-

-

net of taxes

2,507

Cumulative effect of accounting
change for derivative financial
instruments for Company's

1,468

-

-

-

-

6,110

-

-

-

-

3,841

$(18,596)

$(10,688)

$ (4,316)

$ 4,520

own stock, net of tax
Cumulative effect of accounting
change for derivative financial
instruments, net of tax
Net income (loss)

Basic and Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share1,3
(Loss) income from continuing

$ (0.10)

$ (0.54)

$ (0.31)

$ (0.07)

$ 0.09

-

0.01

-

(0.08)

(0.02)

-

-

-

-

0.09

0.04

-

-

operations
Income (loss) from discontinued
operations
Extraordinary item
Cumulative effect of accounting
change for derivative financial
instruments for Company's own
stock, net of tax

-

Cumulative effect of accounting
change for derivative financial

0.17

-

-

-

-

$ 0.11

$ (0.53)

$ (0.31)

$ (0.15)

$ 0.16

35,455,782

35,236,278

33,991,590

28,730,016

27,447,528

$ 13,833

$ (23,151)

$ 18,662

$ 5,779

$ 7,696

Holdings, at equity

47,197

64,356

8,710

1,221

27

Total assets

71,257

77,016

31,780

21,128

14,003

8,453

2,852

597

607

594

54,047

45,029

27,786

11,124

8,213

instruments, net of tax
Earnings (loss)
Weighted average shares
outstanding and equivalents1
Balance Sheet Data:
Working capital

Total long-term obligations
Total shareholders' equity

1Earnings per share information has been retroactively adjusted to reflect both the April 3, 2000 3-for-1 and the April 30, 1999 3-for-2 stock splits.
2Includes a net charge of $1,769 related to the discontinuance of the Company's Technology Division and a $516 loss from operations prior to discontinuance.
3Earnings per share for 1997 have been restated to comply with SFAS No. 128, "Earnings per Share."
4Statement of earnings data for 1997 has been restated to reflect the Technology and Defense/Aerospace segments as discontinued operations. (See Note 19 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.)

ITEM 7: MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Results of Operations: 2001 in Comparison with 2000
The following four paragraphs summarize significant organizational changes, which impact the comparison of

September 30, 2001 and 2000 results of operations:
The Company has two operating subsidiaries, MTI Micro and MTI Instruments. MTI Micro is developing DMFC's
for portable electronics. MTI Instruments develops, manufacturers and sells precision measurement and
balancing equipment. The Company also has holdings in the following three new energy companies: Plug
Power, SatCon and Beacon Power.
During 2001, the Company formed a subsidiary, MTI Micro, and acquired substantially all of its outstanding
stock in exchange for MTI's contribution of its ongoing micro fuel cell operations.
As part of its program to restructure the Company, and concentrate its limited financial resources on the
development of its PEM fuel cell business, on October 21, 1999, the Company created a strategic alliance
with SatCon Technology Corporation ("SatCon"), an innovator of new energy technologies. In exchange for
Ling Electronics, Inc. and Ling Electronics, Ltd. ("Ling") and the Company's cash support of approximately
$7 million to SatCon the Company received 1,800,000 shares of SatCon's common stock and warrants to
purchase an additional 100,000 shares of SatCon's common stock. SatCon also received warrants to purchase
100,000 (300,000 post-split) shares of the Company's common stock.
On May 23, 2000, in connection with its strategic alliance with SatCon, and to support its interest in
SatCon, the Company provided cash support of $6 million to Beacon Power and received preferred stock,
warrants to purchase common stock, and the right to receive additional warrants to purchase common stock.
In August 2000, the Company exercised its warrants. Immediately prior to its IPO, Beacon Power converted
its preferred stock to common stock and completed a 2-for-1 stock split. On November 17, 2000, Beacon
Power completed the IPO of its common stock, and the Company was granted warrants to purchase 1,333,333
shares of common stock at an exercise price of $2.25 per share. The Company exercised these warrants on a
cash-less basis, on December 20, 2000 and received 985,507 shares of Beacon Power common stock. As of
September 30, 2001, MTI owns 4,410,797 shares of Beacon Power and no warrants.
The following is management's discussion and analysis of certain significant factors, which have affected
the Company's results of operations for the year ended September 30, 2001 compared to the year ended
September 30, 2000.
Sales for fiscal 2001 totaled $7.3 million compared to $5.6 million for the prior year, an increase of
$1.7 million or 31.3%. This increase is primarily due to an increase in OEM sales which more than offset a
decrease in engine balancing shipments.
Due to difficult market conditions in the semiconductor industry, sales for fiscal 2002 are not expected
to grow at the same rate as fiscal 2001.

Results of Operations: 2001 in Comparison with 2000 (Continued)
Gross profit increased to 56.8% of sales in fiscal 2001 from 53.5% of sales in fiscal 2000. Gross profits
increased in 2001 due to increased sales in the higher margin OEM product line.
Selling, general and administrative expenses for fiscal 2001 were 84.4% of sales, as compared to 87.5% in
2000. Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $1.3 million from 2000 to 2001. This increase
is a direct result of the increase in sales and the cost of developing MTI Micro's business. Selling,
general and administrative expense includes compensation, benefits and related costs in support of general
corporate and sales functions, including general management, finance and accounting, human resources,
marketing, information technology and legal services.
Product development and research costs during fiscal 2001 were 50.5% of sales, compared to 36.6% for 2000.
Development costs increased $1.7 million from 2000 to 2001, as a direct result of building the MTI Micro
organization to implement the research and development of DMFC's. This increase was reduced by lower
spending on the wafer measurement system program at MTI Instruments. Research and development expense
includes; materials to support research and development and build development and prototype units,
compensation and benefits for the engineering and related staff, expenses for contract engineers, fees
paid to outside suppliers for subcontracted components and services, fees paid to consultants for services
provided, materials and supplies consumed, facility related costs, such as computer and network services
and other general overhead costs.
The operating loss of $5.7 million for the year ended September 30, 2001 represents a $1.8 million or 45%
increase from the $3.9 million operating loss reported during the same period last year. The increase is
the result of increased research and development efforts coupled with increased management focus on
implementing the new energy business strategy.
As of October 1, 2000, the Company recorded a $6.1 million unrealized gain, net of tax, from the adoption
of SFAS No. 133 "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities." On June 30, 2001, the
Company began accounting for warrants to purchase the Company's common stock designated as a liability in
accordance with EITF 00-19, "Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed to, and Potentially
Settled in, a Company's Own Stock," and, therefore, recorded a cumulative unrealized gain, net of tax, of
$1.5 million.
The Company also recorded a net loss of $1.3 million on derivative accounting and a gain of $.9 million on
derivative accounting for Company's own stock during 2001. Changes in derivative fair values are recorded

on a quarterly basis.
Fiscal 2001 results include a $28.8 million net gain on the sale of holdings and the prior year results
included a $1.3 million gain from the sale of Ling.
On September 28, 2001, the Company received 544,148 shares of Beacon Power common stock as a pro rata
distribution by SatCon. The Company recognized a gain of $827 thousand on this dividend distribution.
Results during fiscal 2001 were reduced by higher interest expense of Results of Operations: 2001 in
Comparison with 2000 (Continued)
$2.0 million compared to $1.9 million in 2000. This increase results primarily from higher average debt
and lower interest rates compared to 2000.
The Company recorded a $17.1 million loss, net of tax, from the recognition of the Company's proportionate
share of losses in equity holdings in 2001 compared to a $15.8 million loss, net of tax, in 2000.
Equity in holdings' losses results from the Company's minority ownership in certain companies which are
accounted for under the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method of accounting, the Company's
proportionate share of each company's operating losses and amortization of the Company's net excess
holdings over its equity in each holding's net assets is included in equity in holdings' losses. Equity in
holdings' losses for the year ended September 30, 2001 includes the results from the Company's minority
ownership in Plug Power and SatCon. The Company expects these companies to continue to
invest in development of their products and services, and to recognize operating losses, which will result
in future charges recorded by the Company to reflect its proportionate share of such losses.
Equity in holdings' losses includes a loss, before taxes, from Plug Power of $22.1 million in 2001
compared to $23.1 million in 2000. This $1 million decrease in losses is primarily the result of the
Company's reduced ownership position as a result of stock sales. Equity in holdings' losses in 2001 also
includes our proportionate share of losses from SatCon of $1.9 million in 2001 compared to $.9 million in
2000 and embedded difference (the difference between the carrying value of the Company's holdings and its
interest in the underlying equity) amortization of $2.8 million in 2001 compared to $2.1 million in 2000.
SatCon is accounted for on a one-quarter lag and includes results of SatCon through June 30, 2001. The
Company acquired its holdings in SatCon during fiscal 2000.
The tax rate for fiscal 2001 is 36.28% compared to 39.2% in 2000. The fiscal 2001 tax rate is impacted by
gains generated through the sale of holdings, use of net operating losses, calculation of alternative
minimum tax, losses generated by operations and changes in deferred tax liabilities associated with the
accounting for holdings in and recognition of the Company's proportionate share of losses from Plug Power
and SatCon. Further, as a result of ownership changes in 1996, the availability of net operating loss
carryforwards to offset future taxable income will be significantly limited pursuant to the Internal
Revenue Code.
Results of Operations: 2000 in Comparison with 1999
The following three paragraphs summarize significant organizational changes, which impact the comparison
of September 30, 2000 and 1999 results of operations:
The Company has developed new energy technologies and held majority and sometimes minority positions in
companies involved in new energy technologies. As of September 30, 2000, the Company had holdings in the
following three new energy companies: Plug Power, SatCon and Beacon.

Results of Operations: 2000 in Comparison with 1999 (Continued)
As part of its program to restructure the Company, and concentrate its limited financial resources on the
development of its PEM fuel cell business, on October 21, 1999, the Company created a strategic alliance
with SatCon Technology Corporation ("SatCon"), an innovator of new energy technologies. In exchange for
Ling Electronics, Inc. and Ling Electronics, Ltd. ("Ling") and the Company's cash support of approximately
$7 million to SatCon the Company received 1,800,000 shares of SatCon's common stock and warrants to
purchase an additional 100,000 shares of SatCon's common stock. SatCon also received warrants to purchase
100,000 (300,000 post-split) shares of the Company's common stock.
On May 23, 2000, in connection with its strategic alliance with SatCon, and to support its interest in
SatCon, the Company provided cash support of $6 million to Beacon Power and received preferred stock,
warrants to purchase common stock, and the right to receive additional warrants to purchase common stock.
In August 2000, the Company exercised its warrants. At September 30, 2000, the Company owned 1,428,571
shares of Beacon Power Class F Preferred Stock and 12,000 shares of common stock. Immediately prior to its
IPO, Beacon Power converted its preferred stock to common stock and completed a 2-for-1 stock split. On
November 17, 2000, Beacon Power completed the IPO of its common stock, and the Company was granted
warrants to purchase 1,333,333 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $2.25 per share. The Company
exercised these warrants, on a cash-less basis, on December 20, 2000 and received 985,507 shares of Beacon
Power common stock. After the exercise of the warrants, the Company owned 3,866,949 shares, approximately

10%, of Beacon Power common stock.
The following is management's discussion and analysis of certain significant factors, which have affected
the Company's results of operations for the year ended September 30, 2000 compared to the year ended
September 30, 1999.
Sales for fiscal 2000 totaled $5.6 million compared to $12.9 million for the prior year, a decrease of
$7.3 million or 56.9%. This decrease is primarily due to the October 21, 1999 sale of Ling, which had
sales of $8.4 million in 1999 and $.14 million in 2000 prior to the sale. Annual sales for MTI
Instruments, now a separate subsidiary but formerly the Advanced Products Division, were $5.4 million for
fiscal 2000, an increase of $.9 million over fiscal 1999 sales due primarily to marketing efforts for a
new wafer thickness gauge product line and increased sales of capacitance products in the Pacific Rim and
Japan.
Gross profit increased to 53.5% of sales in fiscal 2000 from 36% of sales in fiscal 1999. Gross profits
increased in 2000 due to the sale of Ling which had lower gross profits.
Selling, general and administrative expenses for fiscal 2000 were 87.5% of sales, as compared to 38.4% in
1999. Higher levels of selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of sales for fiscal
2000, resulted from the 56.9% decrease in sales coupled with the costs of
building a management team to implement the new energy business strategy. Selling, general and
administrative expenses decreased $.9 million from 1999 to 2000.

Results of Operations: 2000 in Comparison with 1999 (Continued)
Product development and research costs during fiscal 2000 were 36.6% of sales, compared to 8.6% for 1999.
Development costs increased $.9 million from 1999 to 2000, reflecting MTI Instruments' commitment to
developing both its new wafer thickness gauge product line and its OEM products.
The operating loss of $3.9 million for the year ended September 30, 2000 represents a $2.5 million or
178.9% increase from the $1.4 million operating loss reported during the same period last year. The
increase is the result of increased research and development efforts coupled with increased management
focus on implementing the new energy business strategy.
Results during fiscal 2000 were reduced by higher interest expense of $1.9 million compared to $.1 million
in 1999. This increase results primarily from increased debt used to fund purchases of Plug Power, Beacon
Power and SatCon stock and working capital requirements.
The Company recorded a $15.8 million loss, net of tax, from the recognition of the Company's proportionate
share of losses in equity investees compared to a $9.4 million loss, net of tax, in 1999.
Equity in holdings' losses result from the Company's minority ownership in certain companies that are
accounted for under the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method of accounting, the Company's
proportionate share of each company's operating losses and amortization of the Company's net excess
holdings over its equity in each holding's net assets is included in equity in holdings' losses. Equity in
holdings'
losses for the year ended September 30, 2000 includes the results from the Company's minority ownership in
Plug Power and SatCon. Equity in holdings' losses for the year ended September 30, 1999 included the
results from the Company's minority ownership in Plug Power. The Company expects these companies to
continue to invest in development of their products and services, and to recognize operating losses, which
will
result in future charges recorded by the Company to reflect its proportionate share of such losses.
Equity in holdings' losses includes a loss, before taxes, from Plug Power of $23.1 million in 2000
compared to $9.4 million in 1999. This $13.8 million increase in losses is primarily the result of Plug
Power expanding business operations including costs to develop and prototype residential fuel cell units.
Equity in holdings' losses in 2000 also includes our proportionate share of losses from SatCon of $.9
million and embedded difference (the difference between the carrying value of the Company's holdings and
its interest in the underlying equity) amortization of $2.1 million. Our SatCon holdings are accounted for
on a one-quarter lag and include the results of SatCon through June 30, 2000. The Company acquired its
holdings in SatCon during fiscal 2000.
The tax rate for fiscal 2000 is (39.2%) compared to 0% in 1999. The fiscal 2000 tax rate is due to losses
generated by operations and changes in deferred tax liabilities associated with the accounting for
holdings
in and recognition of the Company's proportionate share of losses from Plug Power and SatCon. Further, as
a result of ownership changes in 1996, the availability of net operating loss carryforwards to offset
future taxable income will be significantly limited pursuant to the Internal Revenue Code.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
At September 30, 2001, the Company's order backlog was $1.3 million, compared to $1.9 million for the

prior year.
Inventory and accounts receivable turnover ratios and their changes for the years ended September 30 are
as follows:

2001

2000

Change

Inventory

1.9

2.1

(0.2)

Accounts receivable

7.0

7.5

(0.5)

The change in the inventory turnover ratio is the result of increased inventory levels to support new
product offerings. The change in the accounts receivable turnover ratio is the result of the timing of
sales.
Inventories in fiscal 2001 of $1.7 million reflect inventory levels for MTI Instruments required to
support expected first quarter sales and new product offerings. Additionally, accounts receivable
decreased by $.1 million in fiscal 2001 primarily due to reduced sales in September 2001 compared to 2000.
Cash flow used by operating activities excluding discontinued operations was $7.1 million in 2001 compared
with $3.9 million in 2000 and $2.3 million in 1999. Cash flow from operating activities reflects operating
losses in 2001, 2000 and 1999.
Working capital was $13.8 million at September 30, 2001, a $37 million increase from $(23.2) million at
September 30, 2000. This increase is primarily the result of $37.8 million of proceeds from sales of Plug
Power and SatCon common stock.
To achieve our micro fuel cell development milestones and move forward with commercialization plans, the
Company plans a gross spending level of approximately $15 million (including capital expenditures) for
fiscal 2002, to be provided by equity investments, government revenues and some asset sales.
Capital expenditures were $1.3, $.3, and $2.7 million for 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. Capital
expenditures in 2001 included furniture, computer network equipment, telephone system, facilities fit-up,
computers, software, manufacturing and laboratory equipment. Capital expenditures in 2002 are expected to
approximate $2 million, consisting of expenditures for facility fit-up and computer and manufacturing
equipment. The Company expects to finance these expenditures with cash from operations and other financing
sources.
Cash and cash equivalents were $9.8 million at September 30, 2001 compared to $1.6 million at September
30, 2000.
As of September 30, 2001, the Company had a $10 million Credit Agreement with KeyBank, N.A. dated as of
August 10, 2001 ("the $10 million Credit Agreement"). As of September 30, 2001, the Company had $5 million
outstanding under this line of credit. On October 4, 2001, in order to reduce negative interest arbitrage,
the Company made an additional principal reduction of $4 million bringing the line of credit balance to $1
million as of that date.

Liquidity and Capital Resources (Continued)
The $10 million Credit Agreement expires July 31, 2003. The Company has pledged two million shares of Plug
Power common stock as collateral for the $10 million Credit Agreement. In the event the market value of
Plug Power common stock falls below $10 per share, the facility will be reduced to $7.5 million and
additional collateral will be required. In the event the market value of Plug Power common stock falls
below $8 per share, the facility will be reduced to $5 million. In the event the market value of Plug
Power common stock falls below $7 per share, the facility will be reduced to zero.
As of September 30, 2001, the market value of Plug Power common stock was $9.62 which means the cash
available on the line of credit was $7.5 million of which $5 million was outstanding, leaving $2.5 million
available under the facility.
The Company is required to make interest only payments on the credit facility through July 31, 2003 and to
pay any outstanding principal balance on July 31, 2003. Interest is payable monthly at either the Prime
Rate, or after November 3, 2001, if certain performance standards are achieved, based on both the trading
volume and market price of Plug Power common stock, at LIBOR based rates.
The $10 million Credit Agreement requires the Company to meet certain covenants, including maintenance of
a debt service reserve account (equal to 3 months of interest payments on outstanding debt), minimum Plug
Power share price and pledge additional collateral and maintain an additional collateral value, if
required, based on the Plug Power share price falling below $10 per share. Additional collateral
consisting of 500,000 shares of SatCon common stock was pledged in August 2001, when the market value of
Plug Power common stock fell below $10 per share. Although the price of Plug Power stock has fluctuated
since that date, the Company has not requested that the additional collateral be released. The Company was
in compliance with these covenants as of September 30, 2001.

If the market price of Plug Power common stock falls below $10 per share, the line of credit will be
reduced and the Company may need to sell assets, or otherwise raise cash to fund its obligations pursuant
to the line of credit.
In 2001, the Company recognized a $28.8 million net gain on the sale of its holdings. This gain related to
the Company's previously announced strategy to raise additional capital through equity offerings and the
sale of up to 10% of its assets in order to pay down debt, strengthen its balance sheet and fund its micro
fuel cell operations.
As of September 30, 2001, the Company has sold 1.710 million shares of Plug Power common stock with
proceeds totaling $35.7 million and gains totaling $31.0 million and .500 million shares of SatCon common
stock with proceeds totaling $2.1 million and losses totaling $2.2 million. Taxes on gains will be offset
by the Company's net operating loss carryforwards, however, alternative minimum taxes will be paid. As of
September 30, 2001, the Company estimates its remaining net operating loss carryforwards to be
approximately $6.4 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources (Continued)
The future sale of holdings in Plug Power, SatCon and Beacon Power will generate taxable income or loss
which is different from book income or loss due to the taxes bases in these assets being significantly
different from their book bases and the small available net federal operating loss carryforwards available
to offset income. Book and tax bases as of September 30, 2001 are as follows:
Shares Held
Holdings
Plug Power

Average

Average

Book Basis

Tax Basis

11,994,315

$3.00

$0.96

SatCon

1,300,000

8.59

7.06

Beacon Power

4,410,797

3.49

2.06

The increase in net liabilities of discontinued operations of $.1 million from $.2 million in 2000 to $.3
million in 2001, reflects the collection of receivables and settlement of liabilities. The sale of the
Technology Division was completed as of March 31, 1998.
During August 2001, the Company announced that it, and its partners, had received an award of more than
$4.6 million by the Advanced Technology Program (ATP) of the National Institute of Standards and
Technology (NIST). The award is to carry out a two-and-a-half-year, $9.3 million cost-shared program to
research and develop a micro fuel cell for use in portable electronics.
The Company anticipates that it will be able to meet the liquidity needs of its continuing operations,
including the repayment of its outstanding balance under the $10 million Credit Agreement, for the next
year from current cash resources, cash flow generated by operations, equity financings and sale of assets,
if deemed appropriate. However, there can be no assurance that the Company will not require additional
financing within this time frame or that any additional financing will be available to the Company on
terms acceptable to the Company, if at all.
As of September 30, 2001, the Company has holdings in Plug Power, SatCon and Beacon Power securities. Each
of these securities is currently traded on the Nasdaq National Market and is therefore subject to stock
market conditions. In addition, our shares of Plug Power are subject to an underwriter lockup prohibiting
sale until October 25, 2001. When acquired, each of these securities was unregistered. In February 2000,
SatCon registered the securities acquired by the Company on a Form S-3. The stock in Plug Power and Beacon
Power are considered "restricted securities" as defined in Rule 144 and may be sold in the future without
registration under the Securities Act subject to compliance with the provisions of Rule 144. Generally,
restricted securities that have been owned for a period of at least one year may be sold immediately after
an IPO, subject to the volume limitations of Rule 144. However, because of our ownership position and our
appointment of directors to both Plug Power's and Beacon Power's Board of Directors, we are considered an
"affiliate" of those companies and therefore are subject to the volume limitation of Rule 144, even if we
have held the securities for two years or more.
The Rule 144 limitations, as currently in effect, limit our sales of either Plug Power or Beacon Power
stock within any three-month period
to a number of shares that does not exceed the greater of 1% of the then outstanding shares of common
stock of the company, or the average
Liquidity and Capital Resources (Continued)
weekly trading volume of the common stock during the four calendar weeks preceding the date on which
notice of such sale is filed, subject to certain restrictions.

As disclosed in Plug Power's most recent Form 10-Q filed for the period ended September 30, 2000:
Plug Power's cash requirements depend on numerous factors, including product development activities,
ability to commercialize its fuel cell systems, market acceptance of its systems and other factors. Plug
Power expects to devote substantial capital resources to continue its
development programs directed at commercializing fuel cell systems worldwide, to hire and train production
staff, develop and expand manufacturing capacity, and continue research and development activities. Plug
Power will pursue the expansion of its operations through internal growth and strategic acquisitions and
expects
such activities will be funded from existing cash and cash equivalents, issuance of additional equity or
debt securities, or additional borrowings subject to market and other conditions. In July 2001, Plug Power
completed a public equity financing raising $51.6 million in net proceeds after fees and expenses.
Simultaneous with the closing of the public financing, Plug Power closed a private equity financing
raising an additional $9.6 million in net proceeds. Plug Power believes that its current cash balances,
including the recently completed financings are sufficient to fund operations through 2003.
Plug Power financed its operations through September 30, 2001, primarily from the sale of equity, which
has provided cash in the amount of $291.5 million. As of September 30, 2001, Plug Power had unrestricted
cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities totaling $104.1 million and working capital was
approximately $103.5 million. As a result of Plug Power's purchase of real estate from Mechanical
Technology Inc., it has escrowed $5.6 million in cash to collateralize the debt assumed on the purchase.
As disclosed in SatCon's most recent Form 10-Q filed for the period ended June 30, 2001:
Since inception, SatCon has financed its operations and met its capital expenditure requirements primarily
through the sale of private equity securities, public security offerings, borrowings on a line of credit
and capital equipment leases.
SatCon anticipates that the existing $16.2 million in cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to fund
operations for at least the next twelve months. However, there can be no assurance that SatCon will not
require additional financings within this time frame or that any additional financing, if needed, will be
available to SatCon on terms acceptable to it, if at all.
Market Risk
Market risk represents the risk of changes in value of a financial instrument caused by fluctuations in
interest rates and equity prices.
The Company has variable rate debt and interest rate changes generally do not affect the fair market value
of the debt but do impact future
Market Risk (Continued)
earnings and cash flows. The earnings and cash flow impact for the next year resulting from a onepercentage point increase in interest rates, holding other variables (debt level) constant would be as
follows:

Balance

Debt

One-Percentage

as of

Outstanding

Point Increase

September 30, 2001

$ 5 million

$.050 million

September 30, 2000

$27 million

$.270 million

The Company has performed a sensitivity analysis on its holdings of Plug Power, SatCon and Beacon Power
common stock and its derivative financial instruments (warrants to purchase SatCon common stock). The
sensitivity
analysis presents the hypothetical change in fair value of the Company's holdings as of the balance sheet
date, which are sensitive to changes in
interest rates. Market risk is estimated as the potential change in
fair value resulting from an immediate hypothetical one-percentage point parallel shift in the yield
curve. The fair values of the Company's holdings in marketable securities have been based on quoted market
prices and its derivative financial instruments based on estimates using valuation techniques.
The Company's holdings in Plug Power and SatCon are accounted for on the equity method, holdings in Beacon
Power are accounted for at fair value, and derivative financial instruments are accounted for at estimated
values. The fair market and estimated values of the Company's holdings in these companies and derivatives
and the calculated impact of a market price decrease of ten percent, is as follows:

Holdings/
Balance at

Ten Percent

Fair Market
Value

Market Decrease

Plug Power

$115.385 million

$11.539 million

"

SatCon

$ 6.318 million

$ .632 million

"

Beacon Power

$ 6.704 million

$ .670 million

"

Derivatives

$ .220 million

$ .022 million

Plug Power

$510.486 million

$51.049 million

"

SatCon

$ 64.350 million

$ 6.435 million

"

Beacon Power
(a)

$ 23.200 million

$ 2.320 million

September 30,
2001

September 30,
2000

Derivatives

Estimated

(a) The fair market value of the Company's interest in 3,866,649 shares of Beacon Power common stock after
the December 20, 2000 cash-less warrant exercise is based on the November 17, 2000 $6 per share IPO price.
Market risk has increased and equity prices have declined in fiscal 2001 due to the slowing of the U.S.
economy and the terrorist attacks on September 11, 2001.
New Accounting Pronouncements
In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement No. 141, "Accounting for Business
Combinations," and Statement No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets." These Statements modify
accounting for business combinations after June 30, 2001 and will affect the Company's treatment of
goodwill and other intangible assets at the start of fiscal year 2003. The Statements require that
goodwill
New Accounting Pronouncements (Continued)
existing at the date of adoption be reviewed for possible impairment and that impairment tests be
performed periodically, with impaired assets written-down to fair value. Additionally, existing goodwill
and intangible assets must be assessed and classified consistent with the Statements' criteria. Intangible
assets with estimated useful lives will continue to be amortized over those periods. Amortization of
goodwill and intangible assets with indeterminate lives will cease.
The Company is currently reviewing these Statements to determine their effect on the Company's financial
statements.
In August 2001, the FASB issued Statement No. 143, "Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations."
Statement No. 143 requires the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation to be
recognized in the period in which it is incurred if a reasonable estimate of fair value can be made. The
associated asset retirement costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the long-lived asset.
Statement No. 143 is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002. The Company does not
believe this Statement will have a material impact on its financial statements.
In August 2001, the FASB issued Statement No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of LongLived Assets," which supersedes Statement No. 121, "Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and
for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of", and the accounting and reporting provisions of APB No. 30. This
Statement addresses financial accounting and reporting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets
and will be adopted October 1, 2003. This Statement specifies how impairment will be measured and how
impaired assets will be classified in the financial statements. The Company does not believe this
Statement will have a material impact on its financial statements.

ITEM 8: FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements filed herewith are set forth on the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements on

Page F-1 of the separate financial section which follows page 45 of this report and are incorporated
herein by reference.
Selected Quarterly Financial Data
(unaudited and in 000's except per share amounts)
1st

2nd

3rd

4th

Net sales

$1,638

$1,657

$2,260

$1,743

Gross profit

923

908

1,237

1,080

Net (loss) income before cumulative
effects of changes in accounting
principles

(6,419)

(2,758)

10,094

(4,654)

Net (loss) income

(309)

(2,758)

11,562

(4,654)

Net (loss) income before cumulative
effects of changes in accounting
principles

(.18)

(.08)

.28

(.13)

Net (loss) income

(.01)

(.08)

.32

(.13)

Net (loss) income before cumulative
effects of changes in accounting
principles

(.18)

(.08)

.27

(.13)

Net (loss) income

(.01)

(.08)

.31

(.13)

Net sales

$1,360

$1,736

$1,146

$1,316

Gross profit

553

993

639

786

Net loss

(1,773)

(4,061)

(5,041)

(7,721)

(.05)

(.12)

(.14)

(.22)

2001

Earnings per share:
Basic

Diluted

2000

Net loss per share - basic and
diluted (A)

A. Earnings per share in the first quarter of 2000 have been adjusted to reflect the 3-for-1 stock split
as of April 3, 2000. In addition, the rights offering on July 12, 1999 offered to all existing
shareholders the right to purchase stock at exercise prices that were less than the fair value of the
stock at the time of issuance. As a result, basic and diluted Earnings per Share have been adjusted
retroactively for the bonus element for all periods presented.

ITEM 9: CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON
ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

PART III

ITEM 10: DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
The information set forth under the caption "Executive Officers" in Item 1 of this Form 10-K Report, and
the information which will be set forth in the section entitled "Election of Directors", and under the
captions "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners" and "Compliance with Section 16(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934" in the section
entitled "Additional Information", in the definitive Proxy Statement to
be filed by the registrant, pursuant to Regulation 14A, for its Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held
on March 7, 2002 (the "2002 Proxy Statement"), is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 11: EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information which will be set forth under the captions "Executive Compensation", "Compensation
Committee Report", "Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation", "Employment Agreements",
and "Directors Compensation", in the section entitled "Additional Information" in the registrant's 2002
Proxy Statement, is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12: SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND
MANAGEMENT
The information which will be set forth under the captions "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial
Owners" and "Security Ownership of Management" in the section entitled "Additional Information" in the
Registrant's 2002 Proxy Statement, is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13: CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
The information which will be set forth under the caption "Certain Information Regarding Nominees" in the
section entitled "Election of Directors", and under the captions "Directors Compensation", "Security
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners", and "Certain Relationships and Related Transactions", in the
section entitled "Additional Information", in the registrant's 2002 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein
by reference.

PART IV
ITEM 14: EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE AND REPORTS ON
FORM 8-K
a. (1) The financial statements filed herewith are set forth on the Index to Consolidated Financial
Statements on page F-1 of the separate financial section which accompanies this Report, which is
incorporated herein by reference.
The following exhibits are filed as part of this Report:

Exhibit
Number

Description

3.1

Certificate of Incorporation of the registrant, as
amended and restated and amended. (5)(11)(14)

3.2

By-Laws of the registrant, as restated. (5)

4.104

Credit Agreement, dated as of November 1, 1999, between
the registrant and KeyBank National Association for a
$22.5 million term loan to finance a capital
contribution to Plug Power, LLC. (8)

4.105

Stock Pledge Agreement, dated as of November 1,1999, by
the registrant with KeyBank National Association
pledging 13,704,315 shares of Plug Power stock in
support of the $22.5 million credit agreement. (8)

4.106

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of March
29, 2000, between the registrant and KeyBank National
Association for a $50 million revolving note. (12)

4.107

Revolving Note, dated as of March 29, 2000, between the
registrant and KeyBank National Association for the $50
million credit agreement. (12)

4.108

Amended and Restated Stock Pledge Agreement, dated as of
March 29, 2000, by The registrant and KeyBank National
Association pledging 2,000,000 shares of Plug Power
stock in support of the $50 million credit agreement.
(12)

4.109

Amendment dated as of October 1, 2000 to the Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement originally dated as of March
29, 2000 between the registrant and KeyBank National
Association. (13)

Exhibit
Number

Description

4.110

Waiver and Amendment dated as of December 27, 2000 to
the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement originally
dated as of March 29, 2000 between the registrant and
KeyBank National Association. (13)

4.111

Amendment dated December 27, 2000 to the Stock Pledge
Agreement, dated as of March 29, 2000, by the registrant
with KeyBank National Association pledging 8,000,000
shares of Plug Power Stock in support of Amended $30
million Credit Agreement. (13)

4.112

Put and Call Agreement dated as of December 27, 2000,
between the registrant, First Albany Companies Inc. and
KeyBank. (13)

4.113

Bridge Promissory Note in the amount of $5 million,
dated as of December 27, 2000 between the registrant and
First Albany Companies Inc. (13)

4.114

Put Promissory Note in the amount of $945,000, dated as
of December 27, 2000, between the registrant and First
Albany Companies Inc. (13)

4.115

Stock Pledge Agreement, dated as of December 27, 2000,
by registrant with First Albany Companies Inc. pledging
1,000,000 shares of Plug Power Stock in support of the
$5 million Bridge Promissory Note. (13)

4.116

Stock Pledge Agreement, dated as of December 27, 2000,
by registrant with First Albany Companies Inc. pledging
200,000 shares of Plug Power Stock in support of the
$945,000 Put Promissory Note. (13)

4.117

Account Control Agreement, dated as of December 22,
2000, by registrant, KeyBank, and McDonald Investments
Inc. (13)

10.1

Mechanical Technology Incorporated Restricted Stock
Incentive Plan. Filed as Exhibit 28.1 to the
registrant's Form S-8 Registration Statement No. 3326326 and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.14

Mechanical Technology Incorporated Stock Incentive Plan
- included as Appendix A to the registrant's Proxy
Statement, filed pursuant to Regulation 14A, for its
December 20, 1996 Special Meeting of Shareholders and
incorporated herein by reference. (2)

10.18

Limited Liability Company Agreement of Plug Power, LLC,
dated June 27, 1997, between Edison Development
Corporation and Mechanical Technology, Incorporated. (3)
(4)

10.19

Contribution Agreement, dated June 27, 1997, between
Mechanical Technology, Incorporated and Plug Power, LLC.
(3)(4)

Exhibit
Number

Description

10.20

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 22,
1997, between Mechanical Technology, Incorporated and
Noonan Machine Company. (3)

10.21

Asset Purchase Agreement between Mechanical Technology
and NYFM, Incorporated, dated as of March 31, 1998. (6)

10.24

Contribution Agreement between Edison Development
Corporation and Mechanical Technology, dated as of June
10, 1998. (6)

10.30

Mechanical Technology Incorporated 1999 Employee Stock
Incentive Plan. (7)

10.32

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated October 1,1999, between
the registrant, Ling Electronics, Inc., Ling
Electronics, Ltd. and SatCon Technology Corporation. (9)

10.33

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated October 21, 1999,
between the registrant and SatCon Technology
Corporation. (9)

10.34

Mechanical Technology Incorporated Registration Rights
Agreement, dated October 21, 1999, between the
registrant and SatCon Technology Corporation. (9)

10.35

SatCon Technology Corporation Registration Rights
Agreement, dated October 21, 1999, between SatCon
Technology Corporation and the registrant. (9)

10.36

Mechanical Technology Incorporated Stock Purchase
Warrant dated October 21, 1999. (9)

10.37

SatCon Technology Corporation Stock Purchase Warrant
dated October 21, 1999. (9)

10.38

Lease dated August 10, 1999 between Carl E. Touhey and
Mechanical Technology, Inc. (9)

10.39

Registration Rights Agreement, dated November 1, 1999 by
and among Plug Power Inc. and the registrant. (9)

10.40

Plug Power Inc. Lock-Up Agreement, dated November 1,
1999. (9)

10.41

Mechanical Technology Incorporated Stock Purchase
Warrant dated January 31, 2000. (10)

10.42

SatCon Technology Corporation Stock Purchase Warrant
dated January 31, 2000. (10)

10.43

Lease dated April 2, 2001 between Kingfischer L.L.C. and
Mechanical Technology Inc.

21

Subsidiaries of the registrant.

23

Consents of experts and counsel.

Exhibit
Number

Description

99

Other

_____________________
Certain exhibits were previously filed (as indicated below) and are incorporated herein by reference. All
other exhibits for which no other filing information is given are filed herewith:
1. Filed as Exhibit 28.1 to the registrant's Form S-8 Registration Statement No. 33-26326, filed
December 29, 1988, and incorporated herein by reference.
2. Filed as Appendix A to the registrant's Definitive Proxy Statement Schedule 14A filed November 19,
1996.
3. Filed as an Exhibit (bearing the same exhibit number) to the registrant's Form 10-K Report for the
fiscal year ended September 30, 1997.
4. Re-filed
exhibits
exhibits
5. Filed as
6. Filed as
1998.

herewith after confidential treatment request, with respect to certain schedules and
were denied by the Commission. Confidential treatment with respect to certain schedules and
was granted.
an Exhibit to the Proxy Statement, Schedule 14A, dated March 9, 1998.
an Exhibit (bearing the same exhibit number) to the registrant's Form S-2 dated August 18,

7. Filed as an Exhibit to the registrant's Proxy Statement, Schedule 14A, dated February 12, 1999.
8. Filed as an Exhibit to the registrant's Form 13-D Report dated November 4, 1999.
9. Filed as an Exhibit (bearing the same exhibit number) to the registrant's Form 10-K Report for the
fiscal year ended September 30, 1999.
10. Filed as an Exhibit (bearing the same exhibit number) to the registrant's Form 10-Q Report for its
fiscal quarter ended December 31, 1999.
11. Filed as an Exhibit to the Proxy Statement, Schedule 14A, dated February 22, 2000.
12. Filed as an Exhibit (bearing the same exhibit number) to the registrant's Form
10-Q Report for its fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2000.

13. Filed as an Exhibit (bearing the same exhibit number) to the registrant's Form 10-K Report for the
fiscal year ended September 30, 2000.
14. Filed as an Exhibit to the Proxy Statement, Schedule 14A, dated March 19, 2001.

(a) (2) Schedule. The following consolidated financial statement schedule for each of the three years in
the period ended September 30, 2001 is included pursuant to Item 14(d):
Report of Independent Accountants on Financial Statements Schedule;
Schedule II--Valuation and Qualifying Accounts.
(b) No reports on Form 8-K were filed during the quarter ended September 30, 2001.
d. Separate financial statements for Plug Power Inc. and SatCon Technology Corporation; less than fifty
percent owned entities, will be filed as Exhibit 99 to this Form 10-K or as an amendment to this Form
10-K as soon as they become available. Plug Power's fiscal year ends December 31, 2001 and their financial
statements should be available by March 31, 2002, the SEC filing deadline for their Report on Form 10-K.
SatCon's fiscal year ends September 30, 2001 and their financial statements should be available by
December 31, 2001, the SEC filing deadline for their Report on Form 10-K.

SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

MECHANICAL TECHNOLOGY INCORPORATED

Date: December 7, 2001 By: /s/ William P. Acker
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS
ON FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
of Mechanical Technology Incorporated

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements referred to in our report dated November 9, 2001,
appearing on page F-2 of this Form 10-K of Mechanical Technology Incorporated, also included an audit of
the financial statement schedule listed in Item 14(a)(2) of this Form 10-K. In our opinion, this financial
statement schedule presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read
in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements.
As discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements, in 2001 the Company adopted Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities and Emerging
Issues Task Force Issue 00-19, Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed to, and Potentially
Settled in a Company's own Stock.

/s/PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Albany, New York
November 9, 2001

MECHANICAL TECHNOLOGY INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS)

Balance
at
beginning
Description

of period

Additions

Balance

Charged to Charged

at end of

costs and to other

Deductions

period

expenses accounts

Allowance for doubtful accounts (accounts and notes receivable)
Year ended September 30:
2001

$ 910

$ -

$ -

$ 250

$ 660

2000

113

660

250

113

910

1999

99

76

-

62

113

Includes accounts written off as uncollectible, recoveries and the effect of currency exchange rates.

Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets
Year ended September 30:
2001

$ 1,144

$ -

$ -

$ -

$ 1,144

2000

3,750

-

1,144

3,750

1,144

1999

4,089

5,092

-

5,431

3,750

MECHANICAL TECHNOLOGY INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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F-1
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
of Mechanical Technology Incorporated
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of
operations, shareholders' equity and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Mechanical Technology Incorporated and Subsidiaries at September 30, 2001 and 2000, and the
results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended September
30, 2001, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management; our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these
statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
As discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements, in 2001 the Company adopted Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities and Emerging
Issues Task Force Issue 00-19, Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed to, and Potentially
Settled in a Company's own Stock.
/s/PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Albany, New York
November 9, 2001

F-2
MECHANICAL TECHNOLOGY INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
September 30, 2001 and 2000

(Dollars in
thousands) 2001 2000
Assets
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$ 9,807

$ 1,552

78

1,142

6,704

-

586

693

1,674

1,193

250

94

Deferred income taxes

2,052

979

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

1,108

331

22,259

5,984

220

-

1,581

529

Restricted cash equivalents (Note 11)
Securities available for sale
Accounts receivable, less allowances of $0
in 2001 and 2000
Inventories
Notes receivable - current, less allowance
of $0 in 2001 and $250 in 2000

Total Current Assets

Derivative asset
Property, plant and equipment, net

Notes receivable - noncurrent, less
allowance

-

97

47,197

64,356

-

6,050

$71,257

$77,016

of $660 in 2001 and 2000
Holdings, at equity (Note 7)
Holdings, at cost
Total Assets

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

F-3
MECHANICAL TECHNOLOGY INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (Continued)
September 30, 2001 and 2000

(Dollars in thousands)
2001 2000
Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity

Current Liabilities:
Line of credit (Note 11)
Accounts payable

$ 5,000

$27,000

807

283

Accrued liabilities
Accrued liabilities - related parties
Income taxes payable
Contingent obligation to common stock

1,945

1,603

3

9

25

9

288

-

358

231

8,426

29,135

8,453

2,852

16,879

31,987

331

-

35,505

35,437

65,103

54,790

(41,328)

(45,169)

59,280

45,058

(5,204)

-

(29)

(29)

54,047

45,029

$71,257

$77,016

warrant holders (Note 2)
Net liabilities of discontinued operations
Total Current Liabilities
Long-Term Liabilities:
Deferred income taxes and other credits
Total Liabilities

Commitments and Contingencies
Minority interests

Shareholders' Equity
Common stock, par value $1 per share,
authorized 75,000,000; 35,505,010 issued in
2001 and 35,437,285 in 2000
Paid-in-capital
Accumulated deficit

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss:
Unrealized loss on available for sale
securities, net of tax

Common stock in treasury, at cost,
20,250 shares in 2001 and 2000
Total Shareholders' Equity
Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

F-4
MECHANICAL TECHNOLOGY INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the Years Ended September 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999

(Dollars in thousands, except per share)
2001
Net sales

2000

1999

$ 7,298

$ 5,558

$ 12,895

Cost of sales

3,150

2,587

8,249

Gross profit

4,148

2,971

4,646

Selling, general and administrative expenses

6,159

4,864

4,949

Product development and research costs

3,684

2,034

1,105

Operating loss

(5,695)

(3,927)

(1,408)

Interest expense

(1,970)

(1,943)

(106)

Loss on derivatives

(1,266)

-

-

922

-

-

28,838

-

-

-

1,262

-

(93)

(309)

185

20,736

(4,917)

(1,329)

(7,524)

1,927

(37)

(17,072)

(15,849)

(9,363)

123

-

-

(3,737)

(18,839)

(10,729)

-

243

41

(3,737)

(18,596)

(10,688)

1,468

-

-

6,110

-

-

$ 3,841

$(18,596)

$(10,688)

$ (.10)

$ (.54)

$ (.31)

Gain on derivatives, Company stock
Gain on sale of holdings, net
Gain on sale of subsidiary
Other (expense) income, net
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income
taxes, equity in holdings' losses and minority interests
Income tax (expense) benefit
Equity in holdings' losses (net of tax benefit of
$9,722 in 2001, $10,219 in 2000 and $0 in 1999)
Minority interest in losses of consolidated subsidiary
Loss from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations (net of taxes of $157
in 2000 and $0 in 1999)
Loss before cumulative effects of changes in accounting
Principles
Cumulative effect of accounting change for derivative
financial instruments for Company's own stock, net of tax
(Note 2)
Cumulative effect of accounting change for
derivative financial instruments, net of tax (Note 2)
Net income (loss)

Earnings (Loss) per Share (Basic and Diluted):
Loss from continuing operations

Income from discontinued operations

-

.01

-

.04

-

-

.17

-

-

$ .11

$ (.53)

$ (.31)

Cumulative effect of accounting change for derivative
financial instruments for Company's own stock
Cumulative effect of accounting change for derivative
financial instruments
Earnings (loss) per share

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

F-5
MECHANICAL TECHNOLOGY INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
For the Years Ended September 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999
(Dollars in thousands)
2001

2000

1999

COMMON STOCK
Balance, October 1
Issuance of shares - options

$35,437

$ 34,947

$ 32,325

68

490

168

-

2,454

Issuance of shares

-

Balance, September 30

$ 35,505

$ 35,437

$ 34,947

$54,790

$ 19,457

$ (5,276)

Issuance of shares - options

3

(3)

1

Issuance of shares

-

-

10,190

MTI MicroFuel Cell investment

1,163

-

-

Plug Power holding, net of taxes

8,678

29,252

14,487

SatCon holding, net of taxes

2,506

872

-

PAID-IN-CAPITAL
Balance, October 1

Warrants issued, net of taxes

-

2,207

-

(14)

1,199

55

(2,207)

-

-

184

1,806

-

$ 65,103

$ 54,790

$ 19,457

$(45,169)

$(26,573)

$(15,885)

3,841

(18,596)

(10,688)

$(41,328)

$(45,169)

$(26,573)

$ -

$ (5)

$ -

(5,204)

5

(5)

$ (5,204)

$ -

$ (5)

$ -

$ (11)

$ (11)

-

11

-

$ -

$ -

$ (11)

Balance, October 1

$ (29)

$ (29)

$ (29)

Balance, September 30

$ (29)

$ (29)

$ (29)

$ 54,047

$ 45,029

$ 27,786

$ 3,841

$ (18,596)

$(10,688)

-

11

-

(5,204)

5

(5)

$ (1,363)

$ (18,580)

$(10,693)

Compensatory stock options, net of taxes
Reclassification of common stock warrants from equity
to liability, net of taxes
Stock option exercises recognized differently
for financial reporting and tax purposes
Balance, September 30
ACCUMULATED DEFICIT
Balance, October 1
Net income (loss)
Balance, September 30
ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS:
UNREALIZED (LOSS) GAIN ON AVAILABLE FOR SALE SECURITIES,
NET OF TAXES
Balance, October 1
Unrealized loss on available for sale securities, net
of taxes
Balance, September 30
FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION ADJUSTMENT
Balance, October 1
Adjustments
Balance, September 30
TREASURY STOCK

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
September 30
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS):
Net income (loss )
Other comprehensive (loss) income:
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Unrealized (loss) gain on available for sale
securities, net
Total comprehensive loss

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
F-6
MECHANICAL TECHNOLOGY INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For The Years Ended September 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999

(Dollars in thousands)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

2000

1999

$ 3,841

$(18,839)

$(10,729)

(9,986)

-

-

(2,468)

-

-

Loss on derivatives

1,266

-

-

Gain on derivatives, Company stock

(922)

-

-

Stock dividend

(827)

-

-

107

-

-

(28,838)

-

-

1,761

264

581

-

(1,262)

-

(123)

-

-

26,794

26,068

9,363

(250)

636

14

4

20

28

2,197

(12,152)

(10)

(14)

547

55

107

887

1,093

-

105

(18)

Inventories

(481)

(343)

(4)

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

(166)

(76)

(174)

524

311

(1,450)

16

19

(7)

Accrued liabilities - related parties

(6)

9

-

Accrued liabilities

342

(127)

(1,085)

(7,122)

(3,933)

(2,343)

-

243

41

-

157

-

Changes in net liabilities/assets

127

(309)

548

Net cash provided by discontinued operations

127

91

589

(6,995)

(3,842)

(1,754)

Net income (loss) excluding discontinued operations

2001

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash
used by operating activities:
Cumulative effect of accounting change for derivative
financial instruments, gross
Cumulative effect of accounting changes for derivative
financial instruments for Company's own stock, gross

Capitalized interest
Gain on sale of holdings
Depreciation and amortization
Gain on sale of subsidiaries
Minority interest
Equity in losses of equity holdings, gross
Allowance for bad debts
Loss on sale of fixed assets
Deferred income taxes and other credits
Stock based compensation
Changes in operating assets and liabilities net
of effects from discontinued operations:
Accounts receivable
Other receivables - related parties

Accounts payable
Income taxes

Net cash used by operating activities excluding discontinued
operations
Discontinued Operations:
Income from discontinued operations
Deferred income taxes and other credits

Net cash used by operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant & equipment

(1,318)

(286)

(2,738)

37,842

-

-

Purchase of stock in Plug Power

-

(20,500)

(6,000)

Purchase of stock in SatCon

-

(7,070)

-

Purchase of stock in Beacon Power

-

(6,050)

-

Proceeds from sale of subsidiary, net

-

23

-

1,064

(1,142)

-

Investment in marketable debt securities

-

(2,000)

(7,881)

Proceeds from sale of marketable debt securities

-

9,881

-

Investment in Note receivable

-

(660)

-

191

72

78

37,779

(27,732)

(16,541)

-

-

5,858

71

489

153

867

-

-

Proceeds from rights offering

-

-

12,820

Costs of rights offering

-

-

(158)

(1,360)

(233)

(75)

(107)

-

-

(23,200)

(5,500)

-

1,200

32,500

-

Net cash (used) provided by financing activities

(22,529)

27,256

18,598

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

8,255

(4,318)

303

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year

1,552

5,870

5,567

$ 9,807

$ 1,552

$ 5,870

Proceeds from sale of holdings

Change in restricted cash equivalents, net

Principal payments from note receivable
Net cash provided (used) by investing activities
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Borrowings under IDA financing, less restricted cash
Proceeds from stock option exercises
Net proceeds from subsidiary stock issuance

Financing costs
Net borrowings (payments) on related party debt
Payments under lines-of-credit
Borrowings under lines-of-credit

Cash and cash equivalents - end of year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
For The Years Ended September 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999
(Dollars in thousands)

2001

2000

1999

Non-cash Investing and Financing
Activities:
Acquired stock of Plug Power Inc. in
exchange for net assets contributed

$ -

$ -

$ 367

Additional holdings and paid-in-capital
resulting from other investors'
investments in Plug Power Inc.

14,464

42,310

14,487

-

6,738

-

-

3,678

-

4,175

1,418

-

184

1,806

-

warrant exercise to convert derivative
asset to common stock

8,500

-

-

Contingent obligation to common stock

1,210

-

-

1,163

-

-

Acquired stock of SatCon Technology
Corporation in exchange for net assets
of Ling Electronics, Inc. and subsidiaries

Additional holdings and paid-in-capital
resulting from warrant issuance to SatCon
Technology Corporation

Additional holdings and paid-in-capital
resulting from other investors'
investments
in SatCon Technology Corporation

Additional paid-in-capital resulting from
stock option exercises treated differently
for financial reporting and tax purposes

Holdings in Beacon Power Corporation -

warrant holders

Additional investment and paid-in-capital
resulting from other investors'
investments
in MTI MicroFuel Cells Inc.

Prepaid material in exchange for
investment

750

-

-

in subsidiary

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(1) Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its majority-owned
subsidiaries. The equity method of accounting is used for holdings in entities over which the Company has
significant influence, generally this represents common stock ownership or partnership equity of at least
20% and not more than 50%, or where the Company has the ability to exercise significant influence over
operating and financial policies of the holdings. All significant intercompany transactions are eliminated
in consolidation.
Under the equity method of accounting, the Company recognizes its proportionate share of income or loss of
holdings. Holdings' losses are generally recognized only to the extent of holdings. Changes in equity of
holdings, other than income or loss, which change the Company's proportionate interest in the underlying
equity of holdings, are generally accounted for as changes in holdings and additional paid-in-capital.
Non-monetary contributions to equity holdings are recorded at book value, and if the Company's calculated
share of net assets of holdings exceeds the book value of non-monetary contributions, the difference is
accounted for as a basis difference. Original differences between the Company's carrying amount of an
equity holding and its calculated share of net assets of a holding are treated as an embedded difference
if the Company's carrying amount is higher, or as a basis difference if lower. Embedded differences are
amortized into net income (loss) from holdings generally over a five-year period while basis differences
are generally not amortized due to the research and development nature of holdings. Upon an equity
holdings' initial public offering, basis differences are eliminated in connection with the change in
equity. Impairment is measured in accordance with the Company's Asset Impairment Policy.
During 2001, the Company formed MTI MicroFuel Cells Inc. (MTI Micro), a Delaware corporation. During 2001,
the Company acquired substantially all of the outstanding stock of MTI Micro in exchange for the
contribution of the assets of its micro fuel cell operations. As of September 30, 2001, the Company owns
93% of MTI Micro.
On October 21, 1999, Ling Electronics, Inc. and Ling Electronics, Ltd. ("Ling") was sold and is therefore
not included in the consolidation after that date. Further, the Company acquired an equity interest in
SatCon Technology Corporation as of October 21, 1999.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. F-9
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Accounting Policies (Continued)
Financial Instruments
The fair value of the Company's financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, marketable
securities, derivatives and line-of-credit, approximate their carrying values. Fair values were estimated
based on quoted market prices, where available, Black-Scholes valuations or based on current rates offered
for debt with similar terms and maturities.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market.
Property, Plant, and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost and depreciated using primarily the straight-line method
over their estimated useful lives:

Leasehold improvements

5 to 10
years

Machinery and equipment

2 to 10
years

Office furniture, equipment and fixtures

2 to 10
years

Significant additions or improvements extending assets' useful lives are capitalized; normal maintenance
and repair costs are expensed as incurred. The costs of fully depreciated assets remaining in use are
included in the respective asset and accumulated depreciation accounts.
When items are sold or retired, related gains or losses are included in
net income.
Income Taxes
The Company accounts for taxes in accordance with Financial Accounting
Standard No. 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes," which requires the use of the asset and liability method
of accounting for income taxes. Under the asset and liability method, deferred income taxes are recognized
for the tax consequences of "temporary differences" by applying enacted statutory tax rates applicable for
future years to differences between financial statement and tax bases of existing assets and liabilities.
Under FAS No. 109, the effect of tax rate changes on deferred taxes is recognized in the income tax
provision in the period that includes the enactment date. The provision for taxes is reduced by investment
and other tax credits in the years such credits become available.
Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue from product sales in accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No.
101, "Revenue Recognition." Product revenue is recognized when there is persuasive evidence of an
arrangement, delivery of the product to the customer or distributor has occurred, at which time title
generally is passed to the customer or distributor, and the Company has determined that collection of a
fixed fee is probable, all of which occur upon shipment of the product. If the product requires
installation to be performed by the Company, all revenue
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Accounting Policies (Continued)
Revenue Recognition (Continued)
related to the product is deferred and recognized upon the completion of the installation. The Company
provides for a warranty reserve at the time the product revenue is recognized.
Sales of products under long-term contracts are recognized under the percentage-of-completion method.
Percentage-of-completion is based on the ratio of incurred costs to current estimated total costs at
completion. Total contract losses are charged to operations during the period such losses are estimable.
Foreign Currency Translation
Assets and liabilities of the foreign subsidiary are translated at year-end rates of exchange, and
revenues and expenses are translated at the average rates of exchange for the year. Gains or losses
resulting from the translation of the foreign subsidiary's balance sheet are accumulated in a separate
component of shareholders' equity.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of
maturities of less than three months.

cash

and

highly

liquid

short-term

investments

with

original

Investments in Marketable Securities
Management determines the appropriate classification of its investments in marketable securities at the
time of purchase and reevaluates such determinations at each balance sheet date. Marketable securities for
which the Company does not have the intent or ability to hold to maturity are classified as available for
sale along with any
investments in mutual funds. Securities available for sale are carried at fair value, with the unrealized
gains and losses, net of income taxes, reported as a separate component of shareholders' equity. The
Company has had no investments that qualify as trading or held to maturity.
The amortized cost of marketable debt securities is adjusted for accretion of discounts to maturity. Such
accretion as well as interest are included in interest income. Realized gains and losses are included in
"Other (expense) income, net" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The cost of securities sold is
based on the specific identification method.
Net Income (Loss) per Basic and Diluted Common Share
The Company reports net income (loss) per basic and diluted common share in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 128, "Earnings Per Share," which establishes standards for
computing and presenting income (loss) per share. Basic income (loss) per share is computed by dividing
net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares
outstanding for the period. Diluted income (loss) per share reflects the potential
dilution, if any, which would occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised
or converted into common stock or resulted in the issuance of common stock that then shared in the income
(loss) of the Company.
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1. Accounting Policies (Continued)
Stock Based Compensation
Pursuant to SFAS No. 123 "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation," the Company has elected to follow the
accounting provisions of APB No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees," for stock-based
compensation issued to employees and to adopt the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 123. The Company will
follow the accounting provisions of SFAS No. 123 for stock-based compensation issued to consultants and
record a charge to earnings for fair value of options granted.
Advertising
The costs of advertising are expensed as incurred. Advertising expense was approximately $67, $44 and $102
thousand in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.
Asset Impairment
The Company adopted SFAS No. 121, "Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived
Assets to Be Disposed Of." This Statement requires companies to review for impairments to long-lived
assets and certain identifiable intangibles (goodwill will be reviewed under SFAS No. 142 going forward)
when events or changing circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be fully
recovered. Impairment losses are recognized when expected future cash flows (undiscounted and without
interest charges) are less than the asset's carrying value.
Concentration of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of
cash equivalents, investments in marketable securities, trade accounts receivable and unbilled contract
costs.
The Company's trade accounts receivable and unbilled contract costs and fees are primarily from sales to
commercial customers and U.S. government agencies. The Company does not require collateral and has not
historically experienced significant credit losses related to receivables or unbilled contract costs and
fees from individual customers or groups of customers in any particular industry or geographic area.
The Company deposits its cash and invests in short-term investments and marketable securities primarily
through commercial banks and investment companies. Credit exposure to any one entity is limited by Company
policy.
Research and Development Costs
The Company expenses research and development costs as incurred.

Comprehensive Loss
Comprehensive loss includes net income (loss), as well as changes in stockholders' equity, other than
those resulting from investments by shareholders (i.e., issuance or repurchase of common shares and
dividends). F-12
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1. Accounting Policies (Continued)
Effect of Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement No. 141, "Accounting for Business
Combinations," and Statement No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets." These Statements modify
accounting for business combinations after June 30, 2001 and will affect the Company's treatment of
goodwill and other intangible assets at the start of fiscal year 2003. The Statements require that
goodwill existing at the date of adoption be reviewed for possible impairment and that impairment tests be
periodically repeated, with impaired assets written-down to fair value. Additionally, existing goodwill
and intangible assets must be assessed and classified consistent with the Statements' criteria. Intangible
assets with estimated useful lives will continue to be amortized over those periods. Amortization of
goodwill and intangible assets with indeterminate lives will cease.
The Company is currently reviewing this Statement to determine its effect on the Company's financial
statements.
In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, "Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations." SFAS No. 143
requires the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation to be recognized in the period
in which it is incurred if a reasonable estimate of fair value can be made. The associated asset
retirement costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the long-lived asset. SFAS No. 143 is
effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002. The Company does not believe the adoption of
this Statement will have a material impact on its financial statements.
In August 2001, the FASB issued Statement No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of LongLived Assets," which supersedes SFAS No. 121, "Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for
Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of", and the accounting and reporting provisions of APB No. 30. This
Statement addresses financial accounting and reporting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets
and will be adopted by the Company on October 1, 2003. This Statement specifies how impairment will be
measured and how impaired assets will be classified in the financial statements. The Company does not
believe the adoption of this Statement will have a material impact on its financial statements.
Reclassification
Certain 2000 and 1999 amounts have been reclassified to conform to the 2001 presentation.
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2. Changes in Accounting
Effective October 1, 2000, the Company adopted SFAS No. 133 ("SFAS No. 133"), "Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities." SFAS No. 133 established a new model for accounting for derivatives
and hedging activities. It requires an entity to recognize all derivatives
as either assets or liabilities in the statement of financial position and measure these instruments at
fair value regardless of purpose or intent for holding them. Changes in the fair value of derivative
financial instruments are either recognized periodically in income or shareholders' equity (as a component
of comprehensive income), depending on whether the derivative is being used to hedge changes in fair value

or cash flows. Upon adoption of SFAS No. 133, the Company recorded an unrealized gain of $9.986 million.
The deferred tax expense on this unrealized gain was $3.876 million, resulting in a net unrealized gain of
$6.110 million, reported in the Company's results of operations as a cumulative effect of a change in
accounting. For the year ended September 30, 2001, the Company recognized a loss on derivatives of $1.266
million. The derivative asset value as of September 30, 2001 is $.220 million.
Effective June 30, 2001, the Company adopted the Emerging Issues Task Force Issue EITF 00-19, "Accounting
for Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed to, and Potentially Settled in, a Company's Own Stock," which
requires freestanding contracts that are settled in a company's own
stock, including common stock warrants, to be designated as an equity instrument, asset or a liability.
Under the provisions of EITF 00-19, a contract designated as an asset or a liability must be carried at
fair value, with any changes in fair value recorded in the results of operations. A contract designated as
an equity instrument must be included within equity, and no fair value adjustments are required. In
accordance with EITF 00-19, the Company has determined that outstanding warrants as of June 30, 2001 to
purchase 300,000 shares of the Company's Common Stock issued to SatCon Technology Corporation should be
designated as a liability. Effective June 30, 2001, all warrants designated as a liability must be
recorded as a liability and therefore, the Company reclassified the warrants designated as a liability
from equity to liabilities, which had a fair value on the issuance date of $3.678 million, using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Additionally, on June 30, 2001, the Company recorded the warrants at
the current fair value of $1.210 million, using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, and recorded a
$1.468 million gain, net of tax, in its results of operations as a cumulative effect of a change in
accounting principle. Outstanding warrants designated as liabilities will continue to be recorded at fair
value with any changes in the fair value included in the results of operations. For the year ended
September 30, 2001, the Company recognized a gain on derivatives, Company stock of $.922 million. The
contingent obligation to common stock warrant holders as of September 30, 2001 is $.288 million.
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1. Changes in Accounting (Continued)
Derivative financial instruments do not have quoted market prices; therefore fair value is based on
estimates using valuation techniques.
The Company held the following derivative financial instruments:
Sept. 30,

Oct.1,

2001

2000

Warrants to purchase the Company's common stock
issued to SatCon at a purchase price of $12.56
per share

300,000
300,000

Warrants to purchase SatCon Technology common
stock at a purchase price of $8.80 per share
100,000
Warrants to purchase Beacon Power Corporation
common stock at a purchase price of $2.25 per
share

-

100,000

1,333,333

3. Issuance of Stock by Subsidiary
On March 26, 2001, MTI Micro sold approximately .2 million shares of its junior convertible preferred
class A stock to founding employees of MTI Micro at a price of $.50 per share which raised proceeds of
$117 thousand. In July 2001, MTI Micro sold approximately 1.3 million shares of its senior convertible
preferred class B stock to E.I. DuPont de Nours and Company, in connection with the establishment of a
strategic partnership, at a price of $1.18 per share which raised proceeds of $1.5 million. As a result of
these transactions, the Company's ownership interest in MTI Micro was reduced from 100 percent to 93
percent. The increase in the Company's paid-in-capital of $1.163 million represents the increase in the

Company's equity investment in MTI Micro, which resulted from the issuance of stock at a price in excess
of book value.
4. Inventories
Inventories consist of the following at September 30:

(Dollars in thousands)

2001

Finished goods

2000

$ 272

$ 150

Work in process

693

249

Raw materials, components and
assemblies

709

794

$1,674

$1,193

5. Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment consists of the following at September 30:

(Dollars in thousands)

2001

2000

Leasehold improvements

$ 518

$ 72

Machinery and equipment

2,149

1,417

190

72

2,857

1,561

1,276

1,032

$1,581

$ 529

Office furniture and fixtures

Less accumulated depreciation
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5. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)
Depreciation expense was $262, $169 and $489 thousand for 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. Repairs and
maintenance expense was $52, $52, and $166 thousand for 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.
(6) Notes Receivable
Notes receivable consists of the following at September 30:
(Dollars in thousands)

2001

2000

Notes receivable with interest at prime (6% at September 30, 2001 and
9.5% at September 30, 2000), interest and principal due May 18, 2005

$ 660

$ 660

Notes receivable with an interest rate of 10%, interest and principal due
September 30, 1998 (A)

250

250

-

191

910

1,101

Less: Current portion

(250)

(94)

Less: Allowance for bad debt

(660)

(910)

Notes receivable with an interest rate of 10%, due in monthly
installments through September 30, 2002

$-

$ 97

A. The principal amount of this note could be reduced in accordance with the terms of the note in the
event of a sale of the fixed assets. The purchaser, Noonan Machinery ("Noonan"), requested that the
principal amount of the note be reduced to reflect the resale value of certain assets of the L.A.B.
Division, which was sold on September 30, 1997. The Company enforced its rights with respect to the
note and was granted a summary judgment for collection of this note during 2001. Noonan appealed this
summary judgment and the Company and Noonan agreed to a settlement which includes the principal
balance of this note receivable and accrued interest.
7. Holdings, at Equity
The principal components of holdings, at equity consist of the following at September 30:
2001

Holding

Recorded

Quoted

Calculated

Book Value

Market
Price

Market Value

($ in millions)
per
Nasdaq

Plug Power Inc.
SatCon Technology
Corporation
Total

per Nasdaq

Ownership

Shares

($ in millions)

$36.027

$9.62

$115.4

23.9%

11,994,315

11.170

$4.86

6.3

8.05%

1,300,000

$47.197

$121.7
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2000

Holding

Plug Power Inc.
SatCon Technology
Corporation

Recorded

Quoted

Calculated

Book Value

Market
Price

Market Value

($ in millions)

Ownership

Shares

$510.5

31.4%

13,704,315

64.4

13.2%

1,800,000

($ in millions)

$48.372

$37.25

15.984

$35.75

$64.356
Holding

per Nasdaq

per
Nasdaq

$574.9
Description
of Business

Plug Power Inc.

Plug Power designs and develops on-site electric power generation systems
utilizing Proton Exchange Membrane fuel cells for stationary applications.

SatCon Technology

SatCon Technology Corporation manufactures and sells power and energy
management products for digital power markets. SatCon has three business
units: SatCon Power Systems manufactures and sells power systems for
distributed power generation, power quality and factory automation. SatCon
Semiconductor Products manufactures and sells power chip components; power
switches; RF devices; amplifiers; telecommunications electronics; and hybrid
microcircuits for industrial, medical, and aerospace applications. SatCon Applied
Technology develops advanced technology in digital power electronics, highefficiency machines and control systems with the strategy of transitioning those
technologies into products.

Corporation

Plug Power Inc.
The following is a roll forward of the Company's holdings in Plug Power at September 30:

(Dollars in thousands)

2001

Holdings balance, October 1

2000

$48,372

$ 8,710

(22,101)

(23,148)

(4,708)

-

14,464

4,364

Capital contribution - cash

-

20,500

Company's contribution of campus, at book value

-

-

Company's contribution of research credits in

-

-

-

37,946

$ 36,027

$ 48,372

Share of Plug Power losses, gross
Sale of shares
Equity adjustment for share of third- party
investments in Plug Power which increased
equity

1999, at book value
Equity adjustment for share of pre-IPO, IPO and
over-allotment third-party investments in Plug
Power
Holdings balance, September 30
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(7) Holdings, at Equity (Continued)
The difference between the carrying value of the Company's holdings in Plug Power and its interest in the
underlying equity consists of the following at September 30:

(Dollars in thousands)
Calculated ownership (23.9% in 2001 and 31.4%
in

2001

2000

$ 36,027

$ 48,372

-

-

$ 36,027

$ 48,372

2000)
Unrecognized basis difference
Carrying value of holdings in Plug Power

Summarized below is financial information for Plug Power whose fiscal year ends December 31.
9 Months Ended

Year Ended

Unaudited
(Dollars in thousands)

Dec.31, Dec.31,

Sept.30, Sept.30,

2000 1999

2001 2000
Current assets

111,212

$112,897

$ 93,342

$177,413

53,607

57,100

57,487

38,713

Current liabilities

7,737

9,618

9,991

8,202

Noncurrent liabilities

6,534

6,303

6,708

6,517

150,548

154,076

134,130

201,407

3,237

6,898

8,378

11,000

(3,342)

(3,534)

(4,677)

(4,497)

(56,042)

(63,929)

(86,242)

(33,469)

Noncurrent assets

Stockholders' equity

Gross revenue
Gross profit
Net loss

During 2001, the Company sold 1,710,000 shares of Plug Power which resulted in a gain on sale of $31.009
million and proceeds of $35.717 million.
SatCon Technology Corporation
As part of its program to restructure the Company, and concentrate its limited financial resources on the
development of its PEM fuel cell business, on October 21, 1999, the Company created a strategic alliance
with SatCon Technology Corporation ("SatCon"), an innovator of new energy technologies. In exchange for
Ling Electronics, Inc. and Ling Electronics, Ltd. ("Ling") and the Company's cash support of approximately
$7 million to SatCon the Company received 1,800,000 shares of SatCon's common stock and warrants to
purchase an additional 36,000 and 64,000 shares of SatCon common stock on October 21, 1999 and January 31,
2000, respectively. The warrants were immediately exercisable at $8.80 per share and expire on October 21,
2003 and January 31, 2004, respectively.
As a part of the SatCon transaction, the Company issued to SatCon warrants to purchase 108,000 and 192,000
shares of the Company's stock on October 21, 1999 and January 31, 2000, respectively. The warrants were
immediately exercisable at $12.56 per share and expire on October 21, 2003 and January 31, 2004,
respectively. The estimated fair value of these warrants at the dates issued were $4.94 and $16.38 per
share,
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respectively, using a Black-Scholes option pricing model and assumptions similar to those used for valuing
the Company's stock options.
The sale of Ling to SatCon resulted in a $1.26 million gain, which was recorded in the first quarter of
fiscal year 2000.
The following is a roll forward of the Company's holdings in SatCon at September 30:
(Dollars in thousands)
Holdings balance, October 1
Exchange of Ling for 770,000 shares of SatCon valued at

2001

2000

$15,984
-

$8.75/share
Cash support for purchase of shares of SatCon (1,030,000)
and warrants to purchase shares of SatCon (100,000)

$ -

6,738
-

7,070

Warrants to purchase 300,000 shares of the Company's common

-

3,678

Share of SatCon losses on one-quarter lag, gross

(1,938)

(853)

Sale of shares

(4,296)

-

(2,755)

(2,067)

4,175

1,418

$11,170

$15,984

stock issued to SatCon - valued using Black-Scholes method

Amortization of embedded difference between the Company's
basis and calculated ownership of underlying equity, one
quarter lag
Equity adjustment for share of third-party investments in
SatCon, one quarter lag
Holdings balance, September 30

The difference between the carrying value of the Company's holdings in SatCon and its interest in the
underlying equity consists of the following at September 30:
(Dollars in thousands)

2001

2000

$ 4,704

$ 4,275

6,466

11,709

$11,l70

$15,984

Calculated ownership, one quarter lag, except for common
stock sales which are recognized as of the sale date
(8.05% in 2001 and 13.2% in 2000)
Embedded difference
Carrying value of holdings in SatCon

Summarized below is financial information for SatCon. SatCon's fiscal year ends September 30. The
Company's holdings in SatCon are accounted for on a one-quarter lag, except for sales of common stock
which are effected as of the sale date.
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(Dollars in thousands)
Current assets
Noncurrent assets

9 Months Ended

9 Months Ended

Unaudited

Unaudited

June 30, 2001

June 30, 2000

Year Ended
Sept.30, 2000

$ 44,802

$24,935

$25,751

24,621

18,560

18,736

Current liabilities

9,302

5,271

7,361

Noncurrent liabilities

1,723

5,773

6,008

Stockholders' equity

58,398

32,451

31,118

Gross revenue

31,670

20,795

31,055

2,477

749

1,685

(9,202)

(6,878)

(9,941)

(13,067)

(7,706)

(9,941)

Gross profit
Net loss before cumulative effect of
change in accounting principle
Net loss

During 2001, the Company sold 500,000 shares of SatCon which resulted in a loss on sale of $2.171 million
and proceeds of $2.125 million.
(8) Securities Available for Sale
Securities available for sale are classified as current assets and accumulated net unrealized gains
(losses) are charged to Other Comprehensive Income.
As of September 30, 2001, securities available for sale consist of Beacon Power common stock and includes
the following:
(Dollars in thousands)
Capital contribution - cash

$ 6,050

Cash-less warrant exercise

8,500

Stock received as pro rata distribution from SatCon

827

Securities book basis

$15,377

Fair value adjustment

(8,673)

Securities at market value

$ 6,704

For the year ended September 30, 2001, unrealized losses were $8.673 million. The deferred tax benefit on
this loss at September 30, 2001 was $3.469 million, resulting in a net unrealized loss of $5.204 million,
which is included in Other Comprehensive Income.
Prior to obtaining its interest in Beacon Power Corporation ("Beacon Power"), a SatCon affiliate, the
Company made a one time $1.2 million bridge loan to Beacon Power in April 2000. This bridge loan was
converted to equity as part of the Company's $6 million cash support to Beacon Power. As part of the
bridge financing, the Company received warrants to purchase 12,000 shares of Beacon Power's common stock
at $4.20 per share. In order to avoid violating the asset test under the Investment Company Act, the
Company exercised the warrants on August 24, 2000 for approximately $50 thousand and received 12,000
shares of Beacon Power common stock.
In connection with the above May 23, 2000 transaction, the Company received warrants to purchase shares of
common stock, the exercise date, number of shares and exercise price of which would be determined upon
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either the sale of Beacon Power or the consummation of an underwritten public offering of Beacon Power
common stock. When Beacon Power completed its IPO, the warrant terms were set for the purchase of
1,333,333 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $2.25 per share exercisable as of November 17,
2000. The warrants had an expiration date of May 23, 2005.
On November 17, 2000, the date of the Beacon Power IPO, Beacon Power converted its preferred stock to
common stock and completed a 2-for-1 stock split immediately prior to the IPO. Immediately after Beacon
Power's IPO, the Company owned 2,881,142 shares, approximately 7.5%, of Beacon Power common stock.
The Company exercised the 1,333,333 warrants on a cash-less basis, on December 20, 2000, and received

985,507 shares of Beacon Power common stock.
On September 28, 2001, the Company received 544,148 shares of Beacon Power common stock as a pro rata
distribution by SatCon. The Company recognized a gain of $827 thousand on this dividend distribution.
As of September 30, 2001 and 2000, the Company owned 4,410,797 shares, approximately 10.3%, and 1,428,571
shares, approximately 9.7%, respectively, of Beacon Power common stock.
Beacon Power Corporation designs, manufactures, and markets advanced flywheel technology products that
provide reliable electric power required by the information economy.
9. Income Taxes
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the temporary differences between the
financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities as measured by the enacted tax rates.
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9. Income Taxes (Continued)
Income tax expense (benefit) consists of the following for the years ended September 30:
(Dollars in thousands)

2001

2000

1999

Continuing operations before equity
holdings losses and changes in accounting
principle
Federal

$ 459

$ (457)

$ 1

22

14

36

7,043

(1,484)

-

7,524

(1,927)

37

Federal

-

-

-

State

-

-

-

State
Deferred

Equity holdings losses

Deferred

(9,722)

(10,219)

-

(9,722)

(10,219)

-

(2,198)

(12,146)

37

Federal

-

-

-

State

-

-

-

3,876

-

-

$ 3,876

-

-

Federal

-

-

-

State

-

-

-

Deferred

1,000

-

-

Change in accounting principle

1,000

-

-

Federal

-

-

-

State

-

-

-

Deferred

-

157

-

Total discontinued operations

-

157

-

$ 2,678

$(11,989)

$ 37

Total continuing operations

Change in accounting principle for
derivative financial instruments

Deferred
Change in accounting principle

Change in accounting principle for
derivative financial instruments in
Company's own stock

Discontinued operations
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(Dollars in thousands)

2001

2000

1999

Items charged (credited) directly to
shareholders' equity:
Increase in additional paid-in
capital for equity holdings,
and warrants and options issued

7,456

18,825

5,794

(3,469)

-

-

(184)

(1,806)

(380)

(1,471)

-

-

-

(3,750)

(5,414)

$ 2,332

$13,269

$ -

- Deferred
Increase in unrealized loss on
available for sale securities
- Deferred
Expenses for employee stock
options recognized differently
for financial reporting/tax
purposes - Federal
Decrease in additional paid-in capital
for cumulative effect of change in
accounting for derivative financial
instruments for Company's own stock
Valuation allowance

The significant components of deferred income tax expense (benefit) consists of the
following for the years ended September 30:
(Dollars in thousands)

2001

2000

1999

Continuing operations
Deferred tax (benefit) expense
Net operating loss carryforward
Valuation allowance

$(3,157)

$ (647)

$ (488)

10,200

(1,981)

(859)

-

1,144

1,347

7,043

(1,484)

-

Deferred tax (benefit) expense

(8,705)

(8,179)

(1,345)

Net operating loss carryforward

(1,017)

(2,040)

(2,400)

-

-

3,745

(9,722)

(10,219)

-

Equity holdings losses

Valuation allowance

Change in accounting principle for derivative
financial instruments
Deferred tax (benefit) expense

3,876

-

-

Net operating loss carryforward

-

-

-

Valuation allowance

-

-

-

3,876

-

-

1,000

-

-

Net operating loss carryforward

-

-

-

Valuation allowance

-

-

-

1,000

-

-

Deferred tax expense (benefit)

-

187

114

Net operating loss carryforward

-

(30)

(97)

Valuation allowance

-

-

(17)

-

157

-

$2,197

$(11,546)

$ -

Change in accounting principle for derivative
financial instruments in Company's own stock
Deferred tax expense (benefit)

Discontinued operations
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The Company's effective income tax rate from continuing operations, including equity in holdings' losses,
differed from the Federal statutory rate for the years ended September 30:

2001
Federal statutory tax rate
State taxes, net of federal tax
effect
Change in valuation allowances
Research and development credit
Other, net

2000

1999

(34)%

(34)%

(34)%

(6)

(6)

-

-

4

34

(1)

(1)

-

5

(2)

-

(36)%

(39)%

- %

Pre-tax (loss) from continuing operations before minority interests, including pre-tax losses from equity
holdings, was $(6,058), $(30,985) and $(10,692) for the years ended September 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999,
respectively.
The deferred tax assets and liabilities consist of the following tax effects relating to temporary
differences and carryforwards as of September 30:
(Dollars in thousands)

2001

2000

Current deferred tax assets:
Loss provisions for discontinued operations

$ 143

$ 104

277

336

Inventory valuation

27

17

Inventory capitalization

12

14

Bad debt reserve

Securities available for sale

956

-

Vacation pay

78

45

Warranty and other sale obligations

29

22

Stock options

232

241

Contingent liability warrant holders

115

-

Other reserves and accruals

183

200

2,052

979

-

-

$2,052

$ 979

Valuation allowance
Net current deferred tax assets
Noncurrent deferred tax assets (liabilities):
Net operating loss

$ 2,360

$11,543

(82)

(38)

(10,618)

(13,835)

(88)

-

Other

201

223

Research and development tax credit

459

399

Alternative minimum tax credit

609

150

(7,159)

(1,558)

(1,144)

(1,144)

(150)

(150)

$(8,453)

$(2,852)

Property, plant and equipment
Holdings, at equity
Derivatives

Valuation allowance
Other credits
Noncurrent net deferred tax liabilities
and other credits

The valuation allowance at September 30, 2001 and 2000 was $1.144 million. During the
year ended September 30, 2000, the valuation allowance was increased through the
statement of operations by $1.144 million and decreased by $3.750 million through
paid-in-capital, for a net decrease of $2.606 million.
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At September 30, 2001, the Company has unused Federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately
$6.362 million. The Federal net operating loss carryforwards, if unused, will begin to expire during the
year ended September 30, 2009. The use of $3.140 million of loss carryforwards is limited on an annual
basis, pursuant to the Internal Revenue Code, due to certain changes in ownership and equity transactions.
For the year ended September 30, 2001, the Company has approximately $459 thousand of research and
development tax credit carryforwards, which begin to expire in 2018, and approximately $609 thousand of
alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards, which have no expiration date.

The Company made cash payments, net of refunds, or received net (refunds) for income taxes of $454, $(18),
and $15 thousand for 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.
10. Accrued Liabilities
Accrued liabilities consist of the following at September 30:

(Dollars in thousands)

2001

Salaries, wages and related expenses

2000

$ 789

$ 383

Acquisition and disposition costs

400

483

Legal and professional fees

200

169

Warranty and other sale obligations

73

54

Commissions

45

72

Interest expense

35

219

403

223

$1,945

$1,603

Other

11. Debt
Outstanding debt is as follows at September 30:

(Dollars in thousands)

2001

2000

Line of Credit - KeyBank with interest at
prime (6.0% at September 30, 2001 and 9.5% at
September 30, 2000)

$ 5,000

$ 27,000

Less: Current portion

(5,000)

(27,000)

$ -

$ -

As of September 30, 2001, the Company had a $10 million Credit Agreement with KeyBank, N.A. dated as of
August 10, 2001 ("the $10 million Credit Agreement"). On October 4, 2001, the Company made an additional
principal reduction of $4 million bringing the loan balance to $1 million as of that date. This liability
is classified as short-term.
The $10 million Credit Agreement expires July 31, 2003. The Company has pledged two million shares of Plug
Power common stock as collateral for the $10 million Credit Agreement. In the event the market value of
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Plug Power common stock falls below $10 per share, the facility will be reduced to $7.5 million and
additional collateral will be required. In the event the market value of Plug Power common stock falls
below $8 per share, the facility will be reduced to $5.0 million. In the event the market value of Plug
Power common stock falls below $7 per share, the facility will be reduced to zero.
As of September 30, 2001, the market value of Plug Power common stock was $9.62 which reduced the facility
to $7.5 million of which $5 million was outstanding, leaving $2.5 million available under the facility.
The Company is required to make interest only payments through July 31, 2003 and to pay any outstanding
principal balance on July 31, 2003. Interest is payable monthly at either the Prime Rate or, after
November 3, 2001, if certain performance standards are achieved, based on both the trading volume and
market price of Plug Power common stock, at LIBOR based rates.
The $10 million Credit Agreement requires the Company to meet certain covenants, including maintenance of
a debt service reserve account (equal to three months interest payments on outstanding debt, the debt

service account balance was $78 thousand at September 30, 2001), minimum Plug Power share price and pledge
additional collateral and maintain an additional collateral value, if required, based on the Plug Power
share price falling below $10 per share. Additional collateral consisting of 500,000 shares of SatCon
common stock was pledged in August 2001, when the market value of Plug Power common stock fell below $10
per share. The Company was in compliance with these covenants as of September 30, 2001.
As of September 30, 2000, the Company had a $50 million Amended and Restated Credit Agreement with
KeyBank, N.A. dated as of March 29, 2000 ("the $50 million Credit Agreement").
The Company pledged two million shares of Plug Power common stock as collateral for the $50 million Credit
Agreement. The Company was obligated to make interest only payments through March 15, 2002, and upon
exercise of a term loan option at the end of the line of credit term, to repay the principal in 8 equal
quarterly installments beginning March 31, 2002. Interest was payable monthly at either the Prime Rate or
if certain performance standards were achieved, based on both the trading volume and market price of Plug
Power common stock, at LIBOR based rates.
The $50 million Credit Agreement required the Company to meet certain covenants, including maintenance of
a debt service reserve account (equal to 6 months of interest payments on outstanding debt, amounting to
$1.142 million at September 30, 2000) and a collateral coverage ratio, and a minimum Plug Power share
price.
Cash payments for interest were $2,144, $1,731 and $164 thousand for 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

F-26
MECHANICAL TECHNOLOGY INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12. Shareholders' Equity
Stock Splits
On March 8, 2000, the Company declared a 3-for-1 stock split in the form of a dividend. Holders of the
Company's $1.00 par value common stock received two additional shares of $1.00 par value common stock for
every one share of common stock owned as of April 3, 2000.
On April 23, 1999, the Company declared a 3-for-2 stock split in the form of a stock dividend. Holders of
the Company's $1.00 par value common stock received one additional share of $1.00 par value common stock
for every two shares of common stock owned as of April 30, 1999.
Earnings per share information has been retroactively adjusted to reflect both the April 3, 2000 3-for-1
and the April 30, 1999 3-for-2 stock splits.
Stock Sales
On July 12, 1999, the Company completed the sale of 801,223 shares of common stock to current shareholders
through a rights offering. The offering raised approximately $12.820 million before offering costs of
approximately $158 thousand for net proceeds of approximately $12.671 million. The Company used some of
the proceeds of the offering for investment into Plug Power. In addition, some proceeds were used for
acquisitions for the Company's core businesses, efforts to increase market share, working capital, general
corporate purposes and other capital expenditures.
Warrants
The Company issued warrants as part of its strategic alliance with SatCon. The warrants, as adjusted for
the April 3, 2000 stock split, provide for the purchase of 108,000 and 192,000 shares of the Company's
common stock and were issued on October 21, 1999 and January 31, 2000, respectively. The warrants are
immediately exercisable at $12.56 per share and expire on October 21, 2003 and January 31, 2004,
respectively.
Changes in Common Shares
Changes in common shares as of September 30 are as follows:
Common Shares
Balance, October 1
Issuance of shares for stock
option exercises

2001

2000

1999

35,437,285

34,949,877

32,321,904

67,725

487,408

224,304

Issuance of shares for stock sale

-

-

2,403,669

35,505,010

35,437,285

34,949,877

20,250

20,250

13,500

Acquisition of shares

-

-

6,750

Balance, September 30

20,250

20,250

20,250

Balance, September 30

Treasury Shares
Balance, October 1
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13. Earnings per Share
The following is the reconciliation, effected for stock splits in 2000 and 1999, of the numerators and
denominators of the basic and diluted per share computations of net loss at September 30:
(Dollars in thousands)
Loss from continuing operations

2001

2000

1999

$(3,737)

$(18,839)

$(10,729)

35,417,035

34,949,877

32,321,904

38,747

286,401

599,997

-

-

1,069,689

Weighted average shares outstanding

35,455,782

35,236,278

33,991,590

Net loss per weighted average share

$ (.10)

$ (.54)

$ (.31)

Basic and Diluted EPS:
Common shares outstanding, beginning of period
Weighted average common shares issued during the period
Weighted average common shares issued during the period,
as calculated for the bonus element effects for rights
offering (a)

(a) The rights offering on July 12, 1999 offered to all existing shareholders the right to purchase stock at exercise prices that were less
than the fair value of the stock at the time of issuance. As a result, basic and diluted Earnings per Share have been adjusted retroactively
for the bonus element for all periods presented.

During fiscal 2001, options to purchase 3,182,900 shares of common stock at prices ranging from $0.54 to
$21.92 per share were outstanding but were not included in the computation of Earnings per Share-assuming
dilution because the Company incurred a loss from continuing operations before accounting changes during
this period and inclusion would be antidilutive. The options expire between December 20, 2006, and April
2, 2011. The Company also has 300,000 warrants outstanding at an exercise price of $12.56 per share. These
warrants were outstanding at September 30, 2001 but were not included in the computation of Earnings per
Share-assuming dilution because the Company incurred a loss from continuing operations before accounting
changes during this period and inclusion would be antidilutive. The warrants expire October 21, 2003
(108,000) and January 31, 2004 (192,000).
During fiscal 2000, options to purchase 2,703,374 shares of common stock at prices ranging from $0.54 to
$21.90 per share were outstanding but were not included in the computation of Earnings per Share-assuming
dilution because the Company incurred a loss during this period and
inclusion would be antidilutive. The options expire between December 20,
2006, and August 3, 2010. The Company also has 300,000 warrants outstanding at an exercise price of $12.56
per share. These warrants
were outstanding at September 30, 2000 but were not included in the computation of Earnings per Shareassuming dilution because the Company incurred a loss during this period and inclusion would be
antidilutive. The warrants expire October 21, 2003 (108,000) and January 31, 2004 (192,000).
During fiscal 1999, options to purchase 2,224,839 shares of common stock
at prices ranging between $0.54 and $7.50 per share were outstanding but

were not included in the computation of Earnings per Share-assuming dilution because the Company incurred
a loss during this period and inclusion would be antidilutive. The options expire between December 20,
2006 and June 16, 2009.
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14. Stock Based Compensation
During March 1999, the shareholders approved the 1999 Employee Stock Incentive Plan ("1999 Plan"). The
1999 Plan provides that an initial aggregate number of 1 million shares of common stock may be awarded or
issued. The number of shares available under the 1999 Plan has been
adjusted for stock splits, and during 2001, 2000 and 1999 the number of shares available under the 1999
Plan were 4,500,000, 4,500,000 and 1,500,000 shares, respectively. Under the 1999 Plan, the Board of
Directors is authorized to award stock options to officers, employees and others.
During December 1996, the shareholders approved a stock incentive plan ("1996 Plan"). The 1996 Plan
provides that an initial aggregate number of 500,000 shares of common stock may be awarded or issued. The
number of shares available under the 1996 Plan may be increased by 10% of any increase in the number of
outstanding shares of common stock for reasons other than shares issued under this 1996 Plan. The number
of shares available under the 1996 Plan have been adjusted for stock splits and rights offerings, and
during 2001, 2000 and 1999, the number of shares available under the 1996 Plan were 3,478,746, 3,478,746
and 1,159,582 shares, respectively. Under the 1996 Plan, the Board of Directors is authorized to award
stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, and other stock-based incentives to officers,
employees and others.
Options are generally exercisable in from one to four cumulative annual amounts beginning 12 months after
the date of grant. Certain options granted may be exercisable immediately or begin vesting immediately.
Option exercise prices are not less than 85 percent of the market value of the shares on the date of
grant. Unexercised options generally terminate ten years after grant.
The Company has elected to follow Accounting Principles Board ("APB")
No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees," and related
interpretations in accounting for employee stock-based compensation and to provide the disclosures
required under SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for
Stock Based Compensation." APB No. 25 requires no recognition of compensation expense for most of the
stock-based compensation arrangements provided by the Company, namely, broad- based employee
stock purchase plans and option grants where the exercise price is equal
to or not less than 85 percent of the market value at the date of grant. However, APB No. 25 requires
recognition of compensation expense for
variable award plans over the vesting periods of such plans, based upon the then-current market values of
the underlying stock. In contrast, SFAS No. 123 requires recognition of compensation expense for grants of
stock, stock options, and other equity instruments, over the vesting periods of such grants, based on the
estimated grant-date fair values of those grants.
During fiscal year 2000 and 1999, the Company awarded 60,000 and 45,000 options, respectively, to
consultants. Certain of these options vest
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over a four year period. Presented below is a summary of compensation expense recorded in "Selling,
general and administrative expenses" in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended
September 30:
(Dollars in thousands)

2001

2000

1999

SFAS 123 - Consultants

$ 51

$ 505

$ 55

APB No. 25 - Variable stock options

(65)

42

-

$(14)

$ 547

$ 55

Total compensation (income) expense

Presented below is a summary of the stock option plans' activity for the years ended September 30:
2001

2000

2,703,375

2,224,839

1,822,116

583,000

1,081,000

697,650

Exercised

(67,725)

(474,808)

(236,847)

Canceled

(35,750)

(127,656)

(58,080)

Shares under option at September 30

3,182,900

2,703,375

2,224,839

Options exercisable at September 30

2,030,654

1,500,636

1,258,314

Shares available for granting of

3,667,332

4,214,582

667,926

2000

1999

Shares under option at October 1
Granted

1999

options
The weighted average exercise price is as follows:
2001
Shares under option at October 1

$7.85

$ 1.63

$ .96

-

11.55

-

3.15

19.87

2.87

Exercised

1.03

1.01

.75

Canceled

4.57

2.34

1.12

Shares under option at September 30

7.17

7.85

1.63

Options exercisable at September 30

6.66

6.42

1.86

Granted:
Exercise price less than fair market
value at grant date
Exercise price equal to fair market
value at grant date

The following table summarizes information for options outstanding and exercisable at September 30, 2001:
Outstanding Options Options Exercisable
Exercise

Weighted

Weighted

Weighted

Price

Average

Average

Average

Range

Remaining

Exercise

Exercise

Contractual

Price

Number

Number

Price

Life

$ 0.54-$ 0.76

394,850

5.8

$ 0.69

394,850

$ 0.69

$ 1.06-$ 1.33

550,650

6.7

$ 1.32

443,775

$ 1.32

$ 1.76-$ 1.78

297,900

7.2

$ 1.77

193,950

$ 1.77

$ 2.88-$ 4.17

788,500

8.5

$ 3.40

340,000

$ 4.07

$ 4.31-$ 6.27

115,000

9.3

$ 4.62

83,750

$ 4.40

$ 9.25-$12.96

404,000

8.7

$11.38

161,329

$11.17

$14.05-$20.92

287,000

8.5

$20.80

251,750

$20.88

$21.63-$21.92

345,000

8.5

$21.80

3,182,900

161,250

$21.81

2,030,654
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14. Stock Based Compensation (Continued)
Pro Forma Fair Value Disclosures
Had compensation expense for the Company's stock options been recognized based on the fair value on
the grant date under the methodology prescribed by SFAS No. 123, the Company's net loss and net loss
per share for the three years ended September 30, would have been impacted as shown in the following
table (in thousands, except per share).
2001
Reported net income (loss)
Pro forma net income (loss)

2000

1999

$3,841

$(18,596)

$(10,688)

2,142

(22,321)

(11,988)

.11

(.53)

(.31)

.06

(.63)

(.35)

Reported basic and diluted earnings (loss)
per share
Pro forma basic and diluted earnings (loss)
per share

The fair value of options granted, which is amortized to expense over the option vesting period in
determining the pro forma impact, is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes optionpricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:
2001

2000

1999

Expected life of option

5 yrs

5 yrs

5 yrs

Risk-free interest rate

4.66-5.71%

6.00-6.55%

4.37-5.81%

96.5%

91%

78%

0%

0%

0%

Expected volatility of the
Company's stock
Expected dividend yield on the
Company's stock

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the years ended September 30, is as
follows:
2001
Fair value of each option granted
Number of options granted
Fair value of all options granted

2000

1999

$ 2.38

$ 12.55

$ 1.93

583,000

1,081,000

697,650

$1,387,540

$13,566,550

$1,346,465

In accordance with SFAS No. 123, the weighted average fair value of stock options granted is required
to be based on a theoretical statistical model using the preceding Black-Scholes assumptions. In
actuality, because the Company's stock options are not traded on any exchange, employees can receive
no value nor derive any benefit from holding stock options under these plans without an increase in
the market price of the Company's stock. Such an increase in stock price would benefit all
shareholders commensurately.
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15. Equity in Holdings' Losses, Net of Tax
The Company's proportionate share of losses, from holdings, net of tax, accounted for under the equity
method is as follows for the years ended September 30:
2001
Plug Power
SatCon

2000

1999

$(14,089)

$(14,122)

$(9,363)

(2,983)

(1,727)

-

$(17,072)

$(15,849)

$(9,363)

16. Retirement Plan
The Company maintains a voluntary savings and retirement plan (Internal Revenue Code Section 401(k) Plan)
covering substantially all employees. The Company plan allows eligible employees to contribute a
percentage of
their compensation; the Company makes additional voluntary contributions in amounts as determined by
management and the Board of Directors. The investment of employee contributions to the plan is selfdirected.
Effective April 1, 2001, employees of MTI Micro were included in the Plan and effective October 21, 1999,
Ling employees no longer participate in the plan due to Ling's sale to SatCon. The cost of the plan was
$116, $81, and $168 for 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.
17. Commitments and Contingencies
On September 9, 1998, Barbara Lawrence, the Lawrence Group, Inc.
("Lawrence"), and certain other Lawrence-related entities ("Plaintiffs") filed suit in the United States
Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of New York against First Albany Corporation, Mechanical
Technology, Dale Church, Edward Dohring, Alan Goldberg, George McNamee, Beno Sternlicht, Marty Mastroianni
(former President and Chief Operating Officer of MTI), and 33 other individuals ("Defendants") who
purchased a total of 820,909 shares of the Company's stock from the Plaintiffs. The case concerns the
Defendants' 1997 purchase of Mechanical Technology shares from the Plaintiffs at the price of $2.25 per
share. FAC acted as Placement Agent for the Defendants in the negotiation and sale of the shares and in
proceedings before the Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of New York, which approved the sale in
September 1997. Plaintiffs claim that the Defendants failed to disclose material inside information
concerning Plug Power, LLC to the Plaintiffs and therefore the $2.25 per share purchase price was unfair.
Plaintiffs are seeking damages of $5 million plus punitive damages and costs. In April 1999, Defendants
filed a motion to dismiss the amended complaint, which was denied by the Bankruptcy Court. On appeal in
October 2000, Plaintiffs' cause of action was dismissed by the United States District Court for
the Northern District of New York. In November 2000, Plaintiffs filed an appeal of that dismissal with the
United States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit. That appeal is presently pending.
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The Company and its subsidiaries lease certain manufacturing, laboratory, warehouse and office facilities.
The leases generally provide for the Company to pay either increases over a base year level for taxes,
maintenance, insurance and other costs of the leased properties or the Company's allocated share of

insurance, taxes, maintenance and other costs of leased properties. The leases contain renewal provisions.
Future minimum rental payments required under noncancelable operating leases are (dollars in thousands):
$464 in 2002; $462 in 2003; $452 in 2004, $460 in 2005 and $409 in 2006. Rent expense under all leases was
$453 (including $9 for contingent rent), $392 and $482 thousand for 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.
Rental income under all sub-leases was $0, $12 and $164 thousand in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.
Our equity holdings and securities available for sale constitute investment securities under the
Investment Company Act. In general, a company may be deemed to be an investment company if it owns
investment securities with a value exceeding 40% of its total assets, subject to certain exclusions and
exemptions. Investment companies are subject to registration under, and compliance with, the Investment
Company Act unless a particular exemption or safe harbor provision applies. If we were to be deemed an
investment company, we would become subject to the requirements of the Investment Company Act. As a
consequence, we would be prohibited from engaging in certain businesses or issuing certain securities,
certain of our contracts might be voidable, and we might be subject to civil and criminal penalties for
noncompliance.
Until this year, we qualified for a safe harbor exemption under the Investment Company Act based upon the
level of our ownership of shares of Plug Power and our influence over its management or policies. However,
since we sold some of our shares of Plug Power during this year, this safe harbor exemption is no longer
available.
On December 3, 2001, we made an application to the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") requesting
that they either declare that we are not an investment company because we are primarily engaged in another
business or exempt us from the provisions of the Investment Company Act. This application is pending. If
our application is not granted, we will have to find another safe harbor or exemption that we can qualify
for, which may include a one year safe harbor granted by the Investment Company Act, or become an
investment company subject to the regulations of the Investment Company Act.
If we were deemed to be an investment company and could not find another safe harbor or exemption and
failed to register as an investment company, the SEC could require us to sell our interests in Plug Power,
SatCon and Beacon, until the value of our holdings is reduced below 40% of total assets. This could result
in sales of our holdings in quantities of shares at depressed prices and we may never realize anticipated
benefits from, or may incur losses on, these sales.
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Further, we may be unable to sell some holdings due to contractual or legal restrictions or the inability
to locate a suitable buyer. Moreover, we may incur tax liabilities when selling assets.
18. Related Party Transactions
At September 30, 2001, First Albany Companies Inc. ("FAC") owned approximately 33.1% of the Company's
common stock.
Transactions among related parties are as fair to the Company as obtainable from unaffiliated third
parties.
In April 2000, the Company entered into a management services agreement with First Albany Corporation, a
wholly owned subsidiary of FAC, to provide certain services on a month to month basis. Under this
agreement, FAC bills services to the Company (phone, network, postage, etc.) on a cost reimbursement
basis. Billings under these agreements amounted to approximately $33 and $30 thousand for 2001 and 2000,
respectively. Amounts payable to FAC ($3 and $9 thousand at September 30, 2001 and 2000, respectively) are
included in the financial statement line "Accrued liabilities - related parties".
During fiscal 2000, FAC/Equities, a division of First Albany Corporation, provided financial advisory
services in connection with the sale of Ling to SatCon, for which FAC/Equities was paid a fee of
approximately $353 thousand.
During fiscal 1999, First Albany Corporation provided financial advisory services in connection with the
sale of the Technology Division, for which First Albany Corporation was paid fees of $15 thousand.
Prior to acquiring its interest in Beacon Power Corporation ("Beacon Power"), a SatCon affiliate, the
Company made a one time $1.2 million bridge loan to Beacon Power in April 2000. This bridge loan was
converted to equity as part of a $6 million capital contribution. As part of the bridge financing, the
Company received warrants to purchase 12,000 shares of Beacon Power's common stock at $4.20 per share. In
order to avoid violating the asset test under the Investment Company
Act, the Company exercised the warrants on August 24, 2000 for approximately $50 thousand and received
12,000 shares of Beacon Power common stock.

In connection with the above May 23, 2000 transaction, the Company received warrants to purchase shares of
common stock, the exercise date, number of shares and exercise price of which would be determined upon
either the sale of Beacon Power or the consummation of an underwritten public offering of Beacon Power
common stock. When Beacon Power completed its IPO, the warrant terms were set for the purchase of
1,333,333 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $2.25 per share exercisable as of November 17,
2000. The Company exercised the 1,333,333 warrants on a cash-less basis, on December 20, 2000, and
received 985,507 shares of Beacon Power common stock.
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The Company also received approximately $183 thousand in preferred stock dividends during fiscal 2001
and $5 thousand in interest income from Beacon Power for bridge loan interest during fiscal 2000.
On September 28, 2001, the Company received 544,148 shares of Beacon Power Common Stock as a pro rata
distribution by SatCon. The Company recognized a gain of $827 thousand on this dividend distribution.
Amounts receivable from an officer totaled approximately $38 thousand at September 30, 1999. The
balance was paid during fiscal 2000.
On June 27, 1997, the Company entered into a management services agreement with Plug Power to provide
certain services and facilities for a period of one year. This agreement expired on June 27, 1998.
The Company continued to provide services through fiscal 1999, which were billed on a cost
reimbursement basis. During 1998, the Company entered into leases for certain of its facilities for
manufacturing, laboratory and office space. These leases expired on July 1, 1999 pursuant to the sale
of the Company's facility to Plug Power in exchange for 704,315 Plug Power Class A membership
interests and the assumption of $6 million in debt by Plug Power. Billings under these agreements
amounted to $448 thousand for 1999.
During 2000 and 1999, the Company paid approximately $35 and $59 thousand, respectively to Plug Power
in connection with a lease of office and manufacturing space. This lease terminated on November 24,
1999.
During fiscal 2000, the Company sold furniture and equipment to Plug Power totaling approximately $12
thousand.
Prior to becoming Vice President of Corporate Development, Catherine Hill's law firm, Catherine S.
Hill, PLLC, served as general counsel to
the Company. Billings for 2000 totaled approximately $141 thousand. She also received 30,000 stock
options during 2000 with a Black-Scholes value of approximately $446 thousand.
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The Company made cash infusions into related parties during the fiscal years ended September 30:

(Dollars in thousands)

2001

Plug Power- cash

2000

1999

$ - $20,500

$6,000

Plug Power- capital commitment
in 1998 and funded in 1999

-

-

(4,000)

Plug Power- campus contribution

-

-

367

SatCon-cash

-

7,070

-

Beacon Power- cash

-

6,050

-

$ - $33,620

$2,367

On December 27, 2000, the Company entered into a Put and Call with First Albany Companies, Inc. ("FAC") to
provide independent credit support for
repayment of the loan ("FAC Credit Enhancement") for which the Company paid a fee of $945 thousand. The
FAC Credit Enhancement provided FAC with the option, if the price of Plug Power stock fell to $4 per
share, to either purchase 6.3 million Plug Power shares pledged as collateral on the loan or take an
assignment of KeyBank N.A.'s rights under the Credit Agreement, as amended. The FAC Credit Enhancement
could be triggered in the event of a default and was amended on April 27, 2001, the original expiration
date, to extend its expiration date to August 27, 2001. The Company paid a fee of $200 thousand for this
amendment. The FAC Credit Enhancement could be renewed by the Company and FAC on a monthly basis upon
mutually agreeable terms. If the FAC Credit Enhancement expired, and was not replaced, prior to November
3, 2001, the loan would be immediately due and payable. Upon expiration of the FAC Credit Enhancement
Agreement, mandatory repayments on any outstanding balance would be required if the Plug Power stock price
fell below $20 per share. The FAC Credit Enhancement expired on August 27, 2001 and was not replaced since
the Company amended and restated its Credit Agreement with KeyBank, N.A. on August 10, 2001. The new
KeyBank agreement does not require a credit enhancement.
On December 27, 2000, the Company entered into two bridge loan agreements with FAC. The first loan was for
$945 thousand and was used to pay the purchase price for the FAC Credit Enhancement. The Company pledged
200,000 shares of Plug Power common stock as collateral. The second loan was for $5 million, $3 million of
which was used to make a December 27, 2000 principal loan repayment to KeyBank, N.A. and the remaining $2
million was available for working capital. The Company
pledged 1 million shares of Plug Power common stock as collateral. Upon mutual agreement of FAC and the
Company, the loans may be converted to equity prior to maturity. Both loans bear interest at the Prime
Rate and both interest and principal are due on January 3, 2002. On March 30,
2001, the Company made a principal payment to FAC totaling $4 million. On April 30, 2001, the Company made
principal and interest payments to FAC totaling $1.445 million and $.117 million, respectively, which
reduced the Company's obligations on the FAC Bridge Loans to zero.
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The sale of the Company's Technology Division, the sole component of the
Technology segment, to NYFM, Incorporated (a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Foster-Miller, Inc., a Waltham, Massachusetts-based technology company) was completed on March 31, 1998.
Accordingly, the Company no longer includes Technology among its reportable business segments. The
Technology Division is reported as a discontinued operation as of December 26, 1997, and the consolidated
financial statements have been restated to report separately the net assets and operating results of the
business. In exchange for the Technology Division's assets, NYFM, Incorporated (a) agreed to pay the
Company a percentage of gross sales on an annual basis for a period of five years after the sale as

follows: yearly combined gross sales (in excess of $2.5 million) multiplied by .13, .053, .027, for years
one, two and three-to-five, respectively; (b) assumed approximately $40 thousand of liabilities; and (c)
established a credit for warranty work of approximately $35 thousand. The Company
received approximately $41 thousand as contingent sales proceeds from NYFM, Incorporated in 1999. This
amount is included in the financial statement line, "Income (loss) from discontinued operations."
During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2000, the Company reversed $400 thousand ($243 thousand, net of tax)
of the previously recorded loss on disposal of the Technology Division. The reversal includes estimated
reductions in warranty and accounts receivable reserves.
Discontinued operations consist of the following at September 30:

(Dollars in thousands)

2001

Sales

2000

1999

$ - $ -

(Loss) income from discontinued

$ -

-

-

-

-

-

-

operations before income tax
Income tax (benefit)
Net loss from discontinued

$ - $ -

$ -

Operations
Gain on disposal of Division

- $ 400

Income tax expense

-

157

-

$ -

$ 243

$ 41

Gain on disposal of Division

$ 41

The assets and liabilities of the Company's discontinued operations are as follows at September 30:

(Dollars in thousands)

2001

2000

Assets (primarily accounts receivable)

$ -

$ 30

Liabilities (primarily accrued
expenses)

358

261

$(358)

$(231)

Net liabilities
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The nature of the net liability for discontinued operations as of September 30, 2001 and the expected
period of liquidation are as follows:
(Dollars in thousands):

Nature of
(Liabilities)/Assets

Amount

Expected
Period
of Liquidation

Accounts receivable
Warranty

$ -

Fiscal 2001

(100)

Fiscal 2003

Personnel and wind-down
costs

(258)

Fiscal 2002

$(358)

20. Sale of Division/Subsidiary
On October 21, 1999, the Company created a strategic alliance with SatCon Technology Corporation
("SatCon"). SatCon acquired Ling Electronics, Inc. and Ling Electronics, Ltd. ("Ling") from the Company
and the Company agreed to provide cash support of approximately $7 million to SatCon. In consideration for
the acquisition of Ling and the Company's cash support, the Company received 1,800,000 shares of SatCon's
common stock. The Company also received warrants to purchase
36,000 and 64,000 shares of SatCon common stock on October 21, 1999 and January 31, 2000, respectively.
The warrants were immediately exercisable at $8.80 per share and expire on October 21, 2003 and January
31, 2004, respectively.
As a part of the SatCon transaction, the Company issued to SatCon warrants to purchase 108,000 and 192,000
shares of the Company's stock on October 21, 1999 and January 31, 2000, respectively. The warrants were
immediately exercisable at $12.56 per share and expire on October 21, 2003 and January 31, 2004,
respectively. The estimated fair value of these warrants at the dates issued were $4.94 and $16.38 per
share, respectively, using a Black-Scholes option pricing model and assumptions similar to those used for
valuing the Company's stock options.
The sale resulted in a $1.262 million gain, which was recorded in the first quarter of fiscal year 2000.
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21. Geographic and Segment Information
The Company sells its products on a worldwide basis with its principal markets listed in the table below
where information on export sales is summarized by geographic area for the Company as a whole for the
years ended September 30:
(Dollars in thousands)
Geographic Area
United States
Europe
Japan
Pacific Rim

2001

2000

1999

$6,382

$4,362

$ 9,576

358

185

1,180

47

397

787

243

387

760

China

38

88

278

176

20

153

54

119

161

$7,298

$5,558

$12,895

Canada
Rest of World
Total Sales

The percentage of total revenues contributed by class of product or service which constitutes more than
10% of consolidated sales in any year are shown below for the years ended September 30:
Test and Measurement Instrumentation

2001

2000

1999

(Dollars in thousands)
Vibration test equipment (Ling)

$ -

$ 140

$ 4,862

Starsine power conditioning (Ling)

-

-

1,333

Parts (Ling)

-

-

2,106

Engine balancing systems (MTI Instruments)

1,088

1,503

1,570

OEM (MTI Instruments)

3,896

1,421

1,169

Capacitance probes and sensors (MTI Instruments)

-

976

-

Fiber optic probes and sensors (MTI Instruments)

-

563

-

$4,984

$4,603

$11,040

Total

The Company operates in two business segments, New Energy and Test and Measurement Instrumentation. The
New Energy segment develops new energy technologies and companies and is currently focused on
commercializing direct methanol micro fuel cells. The Test and Measurement Instrumentation segment
develops, manufactures, markets and services sensing instruments and computer-based balancing systems for
aircraft engines; and prior to the sale of Ling in October 1999, vibration test systems and power
conversion products. The Company's principal operations are located in North America.
The accounting policies of the New Energy and Test and Measurement Instrumentation segments are the same
as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies. The Company evaluates performance
based on profit or loss from operations before income taxes, accounting changes, non-recurring items, and
interest income and expense. Inter-segment sales are not significant.
In the Test and Measurement Instrumentation Segment, in 2001, one customer accounted for $3.616 million or
49.5% of sales; in 2000, one customer accounted for $1.16 million or 20.9% of sales and one customer
accounted for $620 thousand or 11.2% of sales; and no customers accounted for more than 10% of sales in
1999. In 2001, one product line,
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OEM sales, accounted for 53% of sales compared to 26% in 2000 and 1999.
Summarized financial information concerning the Company's reportable segments is shown in the following
table. The "Other" column includes corporate related items and items like income taxes or unusual items,
which are not allocated to reportable segments. The reconciling items column includes minority interest in
consolidated subsidiary and income tax allocation to equity in holdings' losses. In addition, segments'
noncash items include any depreciation and amortization in reported profit or loss. The New Energy segment
figures include the Company's
activities related to evaluating new energy technologies, companies and growth opportunities, micro fuel
cell operations, the Company's holdings in Plug Power, SatCon and Beacon Power and the results of the
Company's equity method of accounting for certain holdings. SatCon results are accounted for on a onequarter lag except for sale of stock which is affected as of the date of sale. The results for Plug Power
and SatCon are derived from their unaudited quarterly and audited annual financial statements.

(Dollars in thousands)

New
September 30, 2001

Test and

Reconciling

Measurement

Energy

Other

Consolidated

Items

Totals

Instrumentation
Revenues

$ -

$ 7,298

$ -

$ -

$ 7,298

32,024

650

(11,938)

-

20,736

5,230

650

(2,162)

123

3,841

(26,794)

-

-

9,722

(17,072)

Total assets

59,455

2,596

9,206

-

71,257

Holdings, at equity

47,197

-

-

-

47,197

6,704

-

-

-

6,704

704

44

570

-

1,318

57

170

1,534

-

1,761

$ -

$ 5,558

$ -

$ -

$ 5,558

(1,222)

(2,431)

(1,264)

-

(4,917)

Segment profit (loss)

(27,290)

(2,431)

11,125

-

(18,596)

Equity in holdings losses,

(26,068)

-

-

10,219

(15,849)

Total assets

70,438

2,286

4,292

-

77,016

Holdings, at equity

64,356

-

-

-

64,356

6,050

-

-

-

6,050

Capital expenditures

9

137

140

-

286

Depreciation and amortization

3

130

131

-

264

Segment profit (loss) from
continuing operations
before income taxes, equity
in holdings' losses and
minority interests
Segment profit (loss)
Equity in holdings losses,
net of tax

Securities available for
sale
Capital expenditures
Depreciation and
amortization

September 30, 2000
Revenues
Segment profit (loss) from
continuing operations
before income taxes, equity
in holdings' losses and
minority interests

net of tax

Holdings, at cost

F-40
MECHANICAL TECHNOLOGY INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
21. Geographic and Segment Information (Continued)

(Dollars in thousands)
New
September 30, 1999

Test and

Reconciling

Measurement

Energy

Other

Consolidated

Items

Totals

Instrumentation
Revenues

$ -

$ 12,895

$ -

$ -

$ 12,895

-

(1,404)

75

-

(1,329)

Segment profit (loss)

(9,363)

(1,404)

79

-

(10,688)

Equity in holdings losses,

(9,363)

-

-

-

(9,363)

Total assets

8,710

8,185

14,885

-

31,780

Holdings, at equity

8,710

-

-

-

8,710

Capital expenditures

-

183

2,555

-

2,738

Depreciation and amortization

-

202

379

-

581

Segment profit (loss) from
continuing operations before
income taxes, equity in
holdings' losses and
minority interests

net of tax

The following table presents the details of "Other" segment profit (loss) for the years ended September
30:
(Dollars in thousands)

2001

2000

1999

Corporate and other (expenses) income:
Depreciation and amortization

$(1,534)

$ (131)

$ (379)

(1,970)

(1,943)

(106)

384

463

335

(2,678)

12,146

(37)

3,636

(915)

225

Income (loss) from discontinued
operations, net

-

243

41

Gain on sale of division

-

1,262

-

$(2,162)

$11,125

$ 79

Interest expense
Interest income
Income tax (expense) benefit
Other (expense) income, net

Total income (expense)

22. Subsequent Events
On November 1, 2001, MTI Micro closed its second round of financing. The Company and DuPont invested $5
million at a $55 million post-money valuation. DuPont maintained its ownership percentage of 5.9%.
In November 2001, MTI Micro signed a teaming agreement with Alliant Integrated Defense Company LLC, an
operating company of Alliant Techsystems ("ATK"), to explore military applications for direct methanol
micro fuel cells in weapon systems including OICW, the U.S. Army's Objective Individual Combat Weapon.
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10.43
LEASE AGREEMENT
Lease Agreement made April 2, 2001, by and between KINGFISHER, LLC, a limited liability company organized and existing pursuant to the laws
of the State of New York, with its principal place of business at 137 North Street, Pittsfield, Massachusetts 01201 ("Landlord"), Mechanical
Technology Incorporated, with its principal place of business at 30 South Pearl Street, Albany, New York 12207 ("Tenant").
RECITALS
1. Landlord is the owner of certain buildings and other improvements located at 431 New Karner Road, Albany, New York (the "Building"), and
situated on approximately 5.795 acres of land in the Town of Colonie, County of Albany, New York (the "Property"). See Exhibit B for site plan.
2. Landlord desires to rent a portion of the Building consisting of 15,098 Net Useable Square Feet of space located in the north section of Building
"A" as shown on the ground floor of Building "A" to Tenant, and Tenant desires to lease the same, all upon the terms and conditions set forth
herein.
NOW, THEREFORE, the parties agree as follows:
ARTICLE I LEASING
Section 1.01. Landlord hereby leases to Tenant 15,098 Net Useable Square Feet of space located in the north section of Building "A", together
with the non-exclusive right to the use of the Common Areas of the Building such as the entranceways, corridors and the like. The premises
leased to Tenant are described on Exhibit "A" to this Lease Agreement and which is attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.
Exhibit "A" shall be signed or initialed by both Landlord and Tenant, and any revisions thereto shall also be signed or initialed by both parties. The
premises described above are hereafter referred to as the "Leased Property".
ARTICLE II LEASE TERM
Section 2.01. Lease Commencement Date. The "Commencement Date" for the lease term shall the be earlier of (i) thirty (30) days following the
completion of Landlord's work and Tenant's improvement work described in Exhibit "C" annexed hereto subject to Section 5.08 or (ii) the date the
Tenant opens for business, but in no event later than September 1, 2001. Following the completion of Landlord's work described in Exhibit "C",
Tenant shall have access to the Leased Property, for the purpose of commencing the leasehold improvements as set forth in Exhibit "D" annexed
hereto, and installation of Tenant's equipment and the performance of such other work as Tenant has undertaken in connection with the
improvement and fit-up of the Leased Property as described in Exhibit "D" annexed hereto.
Section 2.02. Duration of Base Term. The initial lease term shall be for a term of 5 years.

ARTICLE III RENTALS
Section 3.01. Definitions. The term "Rent" or "Rents" shall mean all Base Rents (see subparagraph 3.02), and all items denominated as Additional
Rent pursuant to various provisions of this Lease Agreement.
Section 3.02. Base Rents. During the initial five (5) year lease term, Tenant shall pay to Landlord the following Base Rents on the first day of each
month: $147,205.56 per year in equal monthly installments of $12,267.13, calculated at the rate of $9.75 per one Gross Leaseable Square Foot,
which is the Net Useable Square Feet plus 0%.
Base rent includes a tenant fit up allowance of $191,077.31. If this allowance is not exhausted prior to Tenant occupancy, any remaining balance
may be used prior to December 31, 2001.
Landlord agrees, if tenant so desires to spend up to an additional $50,000 for tenant fit up. Base rent shall be adjusted upward based on a 5 year
amortization at 10% interest (ie if landlord contributes full $50,000 the annual lease rate will increase by approximately $.82 per square foot).
Section 3.03. Place and Manner of Payment. All payments of Base Rent shall be made by Tenant to Landlord without notice or demand. All Rents
shall be payable at Landlord's address as specified above, or at such other place as Landlord may from time to time designate in writing. All Rent
shall be payable in current legal tender of the United States of America as the same is then, by law, constituted. The annual Base Rent shall be
divided into twelve equal installments, and shall be paid on the first day of each and every month of the lease term (i.e., in advance). Rent for any
partial month at the beginning or end of the lease term shall be prorated, on a daily basis. The extension of the time for payment of any installment
of Rent, or the acceptance by Landlord of any payment other than of the kind or within the time herein specified, shall not be deemed a waiver of
Landlord's right to insist upon having all other payments of Rent made in the manner and at the time herein specified. All Rents shall be paid to
Landlord without any abatement, deduction or set-off of any kind or nature whatsoever, except as may be otherwise specifically provided in this
Lease Agreement.
Tenant will have the right to self help if the landlord has not responded to a request for repairs within 72 hours. Tenant agrees to use providers set
forth on list if provided by landlord. Amounts spent on self help may be offset against lease payments.
ARTICLE IV USE
Section 4.01. Use The Leased Property shall be used only for the purpose of general office space, together with ancillary uses including research
and development and ancillary small-scale prototype assembly and for no other use or purpose whatsoever without the prior Consent of Landlord.

ARTICLE V DEVELOPMENT OF IMPROVEMENTS; USE

Section 5.01. Tenants Obligation to Construct Improvements. In strict accordance with plans, specifications and schedules of completion prepared
by Tenant and approved in writing by Landlord (the "Plans"), Tenant shall construct wiring for telephone, data and security systems in connection
with the provisions of Exhibit "D" entitled "Tenant's Work" (the "Improvements").
Section 5.02. Covenants and Requirements of Construction. In the construction of the Improvements (sometimes referred to as "the Work"),
Tenant:
(a) shall at its own cost and expenses obtain all permits and approvals including, without limitation, those described in Section 25.02. Landlord
shall cooperate in signing any documents necessary to obtain such permits;
(b) shall comply with all requirements of public authorities described in Article XI applicable to the Work. Landlord shall cooperate in signing any
documents necessary to obtain such permits and approvals;
(c) shall perform the Work expeditiously, in strict compliance with the Plans, in a good and workmanlike manner and of first-class quality, and in
accordance with all the provisions of this lease;
(d) shall pay all proper accounts for work done or materials furnished under all contracts which it has entered into relating to the Work;
Section 5.03. Completion of Construction. Tenant shall substantially complete the Improvements in strict accordance with the Plans and thereafter
shall expeditiously fully complete the construction of the Improvements in accordance with all provisions of this Lease.
Section 5.04. Substantial Completion of Improvements. The improvements shall be deemed substantially complete upon Landlord's receipt of
evidence, in the form of certificates of completion of licensed architects employed by Tenant that:
(a) the Improvements shall have been completed in all respects in a good and workmanlike manner and of first-class quality in strict accordance
with the Plans, except for faults and defects which are minor and the correction of which is adequately assured;
(b) all building equipment and services, including heating and air conditioning systems and utilities have been completed, are operating properly
and are available for use by Tenant;
(c) all building codes and other regulations and all requirements of public authorities described in Article XI have been complied with;
(d) all permits and permanent unconditional certificates of occupancy which are required have been obtained;
(e) all areas are ready for use, clean and all surplus building material and rubbish removed from the Leased Property.
Section 5.05. Approvals by Landlord. Landlord shall be entitled to review and approve or reject Tenant's Plans, unless Landlord shall waive this
right in writing. If Landlord fails to reject or approve Plans within ten (10) business days of receipt thereof by Landlord, the Plans shall be deemed
approved. If Landlord rejects Plans, it must do so within ten (10) business days stating specifically the reason for rejection and, within ten (10)
business days of receipt, approve or reject a new submission to satisfy the rejection.
Section 5.06. Development of Utilities. Landlord at its expense shall make telephone (not DSL), electric, gas, water, sewer and storm drainage,
heating, ventilating and air conditioning services and connections available to the Leased Property, if not already available.
Section 5.07. Landlord's Obligation to Construct Improvements. In strict accordance with plans, specifications and schedules provided by Tenant
and Schedules of completion prepared by Landlord (the "Plans"), Landlord shall construct all leasehold and other improvements (other than the
work described in Exhibit "D") in connection with the provisions of Exhibit C entitled "Landlord's Work" and "Tenant Improvements"(the
"Improvements").
Landlord shall perform the Work expeditiously, in strict compliance with the Plans, in a good and workmanlike manner and of first-class quality,
and in accordance with all the provisions of this lease.
Section 5.08. Substantial Completion of Improvements. Tenant and Landlord acknowledge that Plans and specifications may not be in final form
and may be modified. Both parties agree to work expeditiously to move forward to complete the work in accordance with plans and specifications.
Landlord and Tenant further agree to conduct periodic reviews of work and completion status.
Landlord shall complete work within 90 days of receipt of all required permits and approvals provided Tenant or Tenant's agents specifications or
changes do not delay construction schedule, in which case, Landlord will use due diligence to complete work as soon as possible but will not be
liable to complete work within 90 days.
ARTICLE VI OWNERSHIP OF IMPROVEMENTS
Section 6.01. Tenant's Ownership of Improvements During Term . The Improvements which the Tenant constructs upon the Leased Property from
time to time are and shall be fixtures to the Leased Property and until the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, shall be the separate
property of Tenant, and not of Landlord, subject to and governed by all of the provisions of this Lease. Tenant shall be entitled to deduct all
depreciation for the Improvements, and any additions, changes or alterations thereto. Tenant's title to the Improvements (other than Tenant's trade
fixtures and equipment) shall cease with the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease as provided in Section 6.02.
Section 6.02. Landlord's Ownership of Improvements After Term . Upon the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, the Improvements (other
than Tenant's trade fixtures and equipment) shall become the property of Landlord without further act.
ARTICLE VII REPAIRS, MAINTENANCE AND ALTERATIONS
Section 7.01. Landlord Repairs. If at any time during the term of this Lease any repairs or changes to the exterior of the Building, to the roof, to the
water, sewer and utility lines, conduits, ducts and facilities located outside the Leased Property but serving the Leased Property, or any structural
work (whether interior or exterior and including without limitation the foundations, supporting columns, structural portions of floors and floor slabs,
load bearing walls and roof structure), non-routine repairs and replacements to major components of the heating, ventilating and air conditioning

units and equipment, or any repairs and changes resulting from the negligence of Landlord or its employees or agents or any breach by Landlord of
the provisions of this Lease, shall become necessary or shall be required by any law, now or hereafter in force, or other governmental authority
unless such repairs or changes are required as a result of Tenant's specific use of the premises such as trade or equipment regulations, Landlord
agrees (unless the necessity for such repairs or changes all have resulted from the negligence of Tenant or its agents or employees, or Tenant's
failure to perform routine preventive maintenance to the systems serving the Leased Property), at Landlord's own cost and expense, to make the
same promptly upon notice from Tenant.
Landlord agrees to make all repairs to HVAC units and equipment in excess of $1,000 in the aggregate per year.
Section 7.02. Tenant Repairs. Tenant shall do such maintenance and make such non-structural repairs to the Leased Property including the plate
glass thereof and routine repairs to the heating, ventilating and air conditioning system and equipment not to exceed $1,000 per year and shall
maintain a maintenance contract (to include routine semi-annual maintenance), as are necessary to maintain the same in good order and condition.
If an HVAC unit is replaced, tenant shall benefit from all applicable warranties and shall otherwise be responsible for all of its maintenance and
repairs. Tenant shall also provide routine maintenance and parts replacement to the electrical and plumbing systems at the Leased Property.
Tenant shall be solely responsible for maintaining and repairing its leasehold improvements, as well as all trade fixtures and equipment which
Tenant installed at the Leased Property.
Section 7.03. Alterations, Improvements and Additions. Upon completion of the construction of the Improvements under Article V, Tenant shall not
make any alterations, improvements or additions to the Leased Property or the Improvements (collectively "alterations") without the prior written
consent of Landlord unless costing less than $5,000; provided, however, that the prior written consent of Landlord shall not be required for
nonstructural interior alterations. Tenant's request to Landlord for permission to make alterations shall be accompanied by detailed plans and
specifications, estimated costs and the identity of the contractors which shall perform the work. Any alterations permitted by Landlord shall be at
least equal in quality and class to the original work and shall be consistent with permitted uses of the Leased Property and Improvements as
provided in Article V, and consistent with the quality equivalent to that of similar office buildings located in the Albany, New York region.
ARTICLE VIII TAXES; BUILDING AND COMMON AREA CHARGES
Section 8.01. Real Estate Taxes. "Real Estate Taxes" shall mean all real estate taxes and assessments, extraordinary as well as ordinary, levied
or assessed by the lawful taxing authorities upon the Building and the Property during the term of this Lease, and in addition thereto, all other
payments in the nature of Real Estate Taxes, including, without limitation, payments in lieu of taxes. Landlord must pay the Real Estate Taxes
affecting the Building and the Property, and it may contest such taxes by appropriate proceedings under the laws of the State of New York but
nothing herein shall excuse Tenant from its obligation to timely pay to Landlord its share of the taxes as set forth below. Landlord shall pay all real
estate taxes and charges which shall be assessed during the lease term as they become due.
Section 8.02. Tenant Pro-Rata Share of Taxes:
A. Tenant agrees to pay as additional rent its proportionate share of all Real Estate Taxes which may be levied or assessed against the Building
and the Property by any lawful authority for the period of the term of this Lease. Tenant's proportionate share shall be equal to the product obtained
by multiplying the amount of such Real Estate Taxes by a fraction, the numerator of which shall be the number of gross leaseable square feet of
floor area in the Leased Property and the denominator of which shall be the total number of gross leaseable square feet of leaseable floor area in
the Building.
B. Tenant's proportionate share of the Real Estate Taxes shall be paid in monthly installments on or before the first day of each calendar month, in
advance, in an amount estimated by Landlord, provided that in the event Landlord is required under a mortgage covering the Building and the
Premises to escrow real estate taxes, Landlord may, but shall not be obligated to, use the amount required to be escrowed as a basis for its
estimate of the monthly due from Tenant hereunder. Landlord shall furnish Tenant with a written statement of the actual amount of Tenant's
proportionate share of the Real Estate Taxes. If the total amount paid by Tenant under this article during any calendar year shall be less than the
actual amount due from Tenant for such year, as shown on such statement, Tenant shall pay to Landlord the deficiency within thirty (30) days
after demand therefore by Landlord, and if the total amount paid by Tenant hereunder for any such calendar year shall exceed such amount due
from Tenant for such calendar year, Tenant shall be entitled to offset the excess against payments next thereafter becoming due under this Lease.
For the calendar years in which this Lease begins and terminates, the provisions of this Article shall apply and Tenant's liability for its
proportionate share of any taxes and assessments for any such year shall be subject to a pro-rata adjustment based on the number of days of any
such year during which the term of this Lease is in effect.
Section 8.03. Tax Contests. Landlord or tenant may contest by appropriate proceedings the validity or amount of the assessed valuation or of the
Real Estate Taxes for any tax year (such proceedings being hereinafter called "Tax Contest"). If Landlord shall obtain a remission or refund of all
or any part of the Real Estate Taxes for any tax year for which Tenant's pro-rata share shall have been paid or be payable, Landlord shall promptly
refund to Tenant or credit Tenant with a proportionate share to be calculated after deduction of any and all of the actual costs and expenses and
attorneys' fees incurred in obtaining such remission or refund.
Section 8.04. Common Area. The term "Common Area" shall mean all those portions of the Building and the Property which are intended for the
common use and enjoyment of the Landlord, Tenant and all other tenants of the Building and the Property and their respective employees, agents,
customers, invitees, deliverymen, subtenants, assigns, concessionaires and licensees, including but not limited to parking areas, roads, streets,
entrances, exits, drives, tunnels, passageways, landscaped areas, exterior ramps, walks and arcades, stairways, enclosed corridors and rest
rooms.
Section 8.05. Grant of Non-Exclusive Use. Landlord hereby gives and grants to Tenant during the term of the Lease, for the benefit of Tenant and
Tenant's subtenants, licensees and concessionaires, and deliverymen, the non-exclusive right to use of the Common Area, in common with
Landlord and all other tenants and occupants of the Building and their respective employees, agents, assigns, customers, invitees and
deliverymen.
Section 8.06. Landlord Obligations to Maintain and Repair. Landlord shall keep and maintain the Common Area in good condition and repair,
including, but not limited to, repairing and replacing paving; keeping the Common Area properly policed, drained, free of snow, ice, water, rubbish
and other obstructions, and in a neat, clean, orderly and sanitary condition; keeping the Common Area and such other areas suitably lighted
during, and for appropriate periods before and after, Tenant's business hours, maintaining signs, markers, painted lines and other means and
methods of pedestrian and vehicular traffic control; maintaining adequate roadways, entrances and exits; and maintaining any plantings and
landscaped areas.

Section 8.07. Landlord's Rights in Common Area. With respect to the Common Area, Landlord shall have the right to:
(a) Establish and enforce reasonable rules and regulations applicable to all tenants concerning the maintenance, management, use and operation
of the Common Area.
(b) Close temporarily any of the Common Area to the extent required in the opinion of Landlord's counsel to prevent a dedication of any of the
Common Area or the accrual of any rights of any person or of the public to the Common Area.
(c) Close temporarily any of the Common Area for maintenance purposes.
(d) To designate other property outside the boundaries of the Building or the Property to become part of the Common Area, or to subdivide, reduce,
change or eliminate the same.
(e) Select a person affiliated or unaffiliated with Landlord to maintain and operate any of the Common Area if at any time Landlord determines that
the best interests of the Building and the Property will be served by having any of the Common Area maintained and operated by that person.
Landlord shall have the right to negotiate and enter into a contract with that person on such terms and conditions and for such period of time as
Landlord deems reasonable and proper both as to service and as to cost.
(f) Make changes to the Common Area including, without limitation, changes in the location of driveways, entrances and exits, provided that such
changes do not impair access to tenant's loading dock.
Section 8.08. Parking and Loading Areas . Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, the parking spaces in the Common Area shall be used
for the parking of private automobiles of customers, licensees, subtenants and employees of the tenants of the Building (and for the temporary
parking of delivery vehicles while servicing those tenants in the Building whose premises do not have service or delivery entrances) and the
access, perimeter and through roads, streets and drives shall be used for pedestrians and vehicular traffic and for no other purpose. Landlord
agrees to provide sufficient parking for all tenants' employees and guests.
Section 8.09. Proportionate Share of Common Area Costs . Tenant shall pay to Landlord an amount estimated by Landlord to be Tenant's
proportionate share of Common Area costs in advance on the first day of each month commencing on the Commencement Date, or on the first
day of the month following the month of the Commencement Date if the Commencement Date is a day other than the first day of a month, as the
case may be, and continuing during the Term, subject to the annual adjustment provided below.
Tenant's proportional share of Common Area costs shall be the ratio of its useable square feet to total square feet in this instance the numerator is
15, 098 square feet and the denominator is 48, 229 square feet or 31% of the total Common Area costs. Common Area costs that cover a period
not within the Term of this Lease shall be pro-rated.
Landlord can adjust the monthly Common Area charge at the end of each Lease Year on the basis of Landlord's reasonably anticipated costs for
the following Lease Year.
Landlord shall furnish to Tenant a statement showing the total Common Area costs, Tenant's share of Common Area costs for the Lease Year,
and the payments made by Tenant with respect to each Lease Year shall be made within thirty (30) days after the end of each Lease Year
covering the Lease Year just ended.
See Exhibit F for estimated itemized common area expenses.
If Tenant's share of Common Area costs for the Lease Year exceeds the payments made by Tenant, Tenant shall pay Landlord the deficiency
within thirty (30) days after receipt of the statement. If Tenant's payments made during the Lease Year exceed Tenant's share of Common Area
costs, the excess shall be applied against the next payment due to Landlord, except that if any unused excess exists at the expiration of the Term
of this Lease, the sum of the unused excess shall be paid to Tenant.
Section 8.10. Common Area Defined. "Common Area costs" means the real property taxes and assessments and other taxes and assessments in
the nature of real property taxes levied and assessed against the Common Area, or assessed against Landlord as a result of the Common Area,
and all other charges in the nature of real property taxes including, but not limited to, payments in lieu of taxes (but only to the extent not included
in Section 8.01 above,) sums expended by Landlord for the maintenance and operation of the Common Area, and all other costs for maintenance
and operation of the Common Area which shall include, without limitation, costs of repainting, cleaning, sweeping, and other janitorial services,
policing, purchase, construction and maintenance of refuse receptacles, planting and relandscaping, direction signs and other markers, lighting and
other utilities, security services, insurance costs (to the extent not reimbursable under Article XIX below), reasonable depreciation allowance on
improvements, machinery and equipment used in connection with the Common Area, premiums on public liability and property damage insurance
and all other costs necessary in Landlord's judgment for the maintenance and operation of the Common Area, together with an administrative fee
equal to fifteen (15%) percent of all Common Area costs.
Section 8.11. Utilities.
(a) In the event that the Leased Property shall be separately metered for utility service, then in such event Tenant shall pay and discharge
punctually all sewer rents and charges for water, steam, heat, gas, hot water, chilled water, electricity, light and power and any and all other utility
services furnished to the Leased Property which are separately metered for the Tenant's Leased Property.
(b) In the event that any of the foregoing utility services shall not be separately metered for the Tenant's use at the Leased Property, then in such
event the Tenant shall reimburse the Landlord for Tenant's proportionate share of all utility costs and charges which are not separately metered to
the Tenant's Leased Property. Reimbursement shall be made by Tenant within thirty (30) days after Tenant receives a copy of an invoice from
Landlord for reimbursement for utility services. Tenant's proportionate share of any such utility services not separately metered shall be
determined by the Landlord. Tenant's obligation to reimburse the Landlord for all such utility costs not separately metered shall be prorated for any
partial year at the commencement and expiration of the term of this Lease.
ARTICLE IX CERTAIN PROHIBITIONS
Section 9.01. Prohibited Uses. Tenant shall not use or occupy, and shall not permit or suffer the Leased Property or any part thereof to be used or
occupied for any business, use or purpose which in any manner:

(i) is in violation of any present or future laws applicable to Tenant or to the Leased Property:
(ii) would violate any Certificate of Occupancy affecting the Leased Property;
(iii) would make void or voidable any insurance then in force with respect thereto, or which will make it impossible to obtain fire or
any other insurance;

(iv) would be likely to cause structural damage to the Building or any part thereof; or
(v) would constitute a public or private nuisance.
Tenant shall promptly after the discovery of any such prohibited use take all necessary steps to discontinue such use or compel its
discontinuance.
Section 9.02. Obstructions. Tenant shall not obstruct or encumber the courts, stairways and corridors of the Building or the sidewalks and
passageways adjacent thereto, nor shall Tenant use such places for any purpose other than ingress and egress and loading and unloading of
materials to and from the Leased Property.
Section 9.03. Floor Load; Noise. Tenant shall not place a load upon any floor of the Leased Property which exceeds the load per square foot which
such floor is then designed to carry or which exceeds the loads then allowed by law. All equipment installed and used by Tenant in the Leased
Property shall be properly placed, equipped, installed, and maintained by Tenant at Tenant's own cost and expense in appropriate settings so as to
eliminate the transmission of noise, vibration and electrical, or other interference from the Leased Property to any other area of the Building.
ARTICLE X NON-ABATEMENT
Section 10.01. Rent Not to Abate except as set forth in Section 3.03. Tenant's obligation to pay rent (whether Base Rent or Additional Rent) under
this Lease shall not be affected by, nor shall the rent abate or be diminished, reduced, rebated or refunded on account of any want of repair,
destruction or damage to the Leased Property or the Improvements, regardless of the cause or extent of them, or for any inconvenience,
discomfort, interruption of business or otherwise arising from the making of alterations, changes, additions or repairs to the Leased Property or the
Improvements, or because of any present or future governmental laws, ordinances, requirements, orders, directives, rules or regulations, or for any
other cause or reason. Tenant waives the provisions of any statute or rule of law now or hereafter in effect contrary to this Section.
ARTICLE XI REQUIREMENTS OF PUBLIC AUTHORITY
Section 11.01. Compliance by Tenant and Landlord.
a. Tenant, at its sole cost and expense, shall promptly comply with all present and future laws, ordinances, requirements, orders,
directives, rules and regulations of all federal, state, county, city, and town governments and of all other governmental authorities,
departments, boards and officers, and all orders, rules and regulations of the National and New York Boards of Fire Underwriters or
any other body or bodies which may exercise similar functions, foreseen and unforeseen, ordinary and extraordinary, applicable to
the Tenant's use of Leased Property or the Improvements or any part of them or to their use, whether in force at the commencement
of the term of this Lease or passed, enacted or directed in the future, , and whether or not compliance shall require structural
changes (collectively in this Article "the requirements"). Tenant shall pay all costs, expenses, liabilities, losses, damages, fines,
penalties, claims and demands, including counsel fees (collectively "the costs"), that may in any manner arise from or be imposed
because of the failure of Tenant to comply with this Article and shall indemnify, hold harmless and defend Landlord of and from all
such costs.
(b) Tenant shall comply with the requirements of all policies of public liability, fire and all other policies of insurance in
force with respect to the Leased Property and the Improvements.
Section 11.02. Challenge of Validity . Tenant shall have the right, after prior written notice to Landlord, to contest by appropriate legal proceedings
("the proceedings"), diligently conducted in good faith, in the name of Tenant, and, if Landlord consents in writing, in the name of Landlord, or both,
if necessary, without cost or expense to Landlord, the validity or application of the requirements. If compliance with the requirements may be
delayed during the proceedings without the incurrence of any lien, charge or liability of any kind against the Leased Property or the Improvements
and without subjecting Tenant or Landlord to any liability, civil or criminal, for failure to comply with them, Tenant may delay compliance with them
until the final determination of the proceedings.
ARTICLE XII COVENANT AGAINST LIENS
Section 12.01. Tenant's Obligation to Discharge. Tenant shall not create or permit to be created and shall promptly discharge, any mechanic's
laborer's, or materialman's lien, encumbrance or charge upon the Leased Property, the Improvements, or any part of either that occurs as the
result of tenant's conduct (a "Lien").
Section 12.02. Landlord's Rights to Discharge. If any lien included in Section 12.01 shall be filed against the Leased Property, the Improvements,
or any part of either, Tenant, at its own cost and expense, within thirty (30) days after the filing of the lien, shall discharge it of record or post a
bond satisfactory to Landlord to assure its discharge. If Tenant fails to discharge or bond the lien with in thirty (30) days after its filing, Landlord, in
addition to any other right or remedy it may have, and without waiving its right to declare a default, may discharge the lien of record or post a bond
to assure its discharge. Any amounts paid by Landlord in the discharge or bonding of the lien, including, but not limited to, penalties, interest,
costs, allowances and reasonable attorney's fees, together with interest at a rate per annum which is the highest legal rate permitted by law, shall
constitute additional rent under this Lease and shall be paid by Tenant to Landlord on demand.
Section 12.03. No Implied Consent of Landlord. Nothing in this Lease shall be construed as the consent or request of Landlord, express or implied,
by inference or otherwise, to any contractor, subcontractor, laborer or materialman for the performance of any labor or the furnishing of any
material for any improvement, alteration or repair of the Leased Property, the Improvements, or any part of either.
ARTICLE XIII ENTRY ON LEASED PROPERTY BY LANDLORD; CURING DEFAULTS

Section 13.01. Entry. Tenant shall permit Landlord and its authorized representatives to enter the Leased Property and the Improvements at all
reasonable times and on reasonable notice (except in the event of an emergency) for the purposes of (a) inspecting them, (b) inspecting them to
obtain readings from utility meters, or (c) making any necessary repairs or performing any other work that may be necessary because of Tenant's
failure to make repairs or perform other work after written notice from Landlord, or without notice in case of emergency. Landlord's right of entry
shall not imply any duty on its part to perform any repairs or work and shall not constitute a waiver of any default of Tenant. Furthermore, Landlord
shall have a non-exclusive easement if ingress, egress and access for pedestrian and vehicular traffic over all paths, roadways, streets, sidewalks
and the like located in the Building or at the Property for all purposes in connection with the operation of the Building and the Property.
Section 13.02. Showing Improvements. Landlord shall have the right to enter the Leased Property and the Improvements at all reasonable times
during usual business hours at any time for the purpose of showing them to prospective tenants and/or purchasers. Landlord shall provide
reasonable notice before entering the Leased Property and the Improvements.
Section 13.03. Landlord's Right to Cure Tenant Defaults . If, at any time, Tenant is in default in the payment of any imposition, insurance premium,
any installment of principal or interest or any other sum due under any present or future borrowing of Tenant related to the financing of the
leasehold improvements or any of the equipment or other fixtures or items of personal property located at the Leased Property, or any other
amount required to be paid by Tenant, or in the performance of any other act to be performed by Tenant, Landlord, in addition to evoking all other
remedies for any such default, but without having any obligation to do so, may pay Tenant's obligations, or, after giving Tenant thirty (30) days
prior written notice, perform Tenant's acts, in the manner and to the extent Landlord deems desirable, and may pay all incidental expenses related
thereto. All such payments by Landlord shall constitute additional rent payable on demand. Failure to make any such payments on demand shall
constitute a new default by Tenant and Landlord shall have the same rights and remedies as in the case of default by Tenant under the provisions
of Article XXIV.
ARTICLE XIV ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING
Section 14.01. Consent Required.
(a) Tenant may, with the prior written consent of Landlord, which, subject to the provisions of subparagraph (b) below, shall not be unreasonably
withheld or delayed, assign this Lease or sublet the whole or any part of the Leased Property or the Improvements thereon. For purposes of this
paragraph (a), an assignment shall include any transfer of this Lease, whether voluntary or involuntary or by operation of law, including any merger
or consolidation of Tenant and any transfer, sale, assignment, pledge, or other encumbrance, whether voluntary or involuntary or by operation of
law, of more than twenty percent (20%) of the authorized and issued capital stock, membership or partnership interest, as applicable, of Tenant,
except transfer upon death or intervivos among the shareholders, members and/or partners of Tenant.
(b) Any assignment or subletting consented to by Landlord shall be upon the following conditions plus such other conditions as Landlord shall
determine, in its reasonable discretion:
(i) The use of the Leased Property and Improvements by the subtenant or assignee shall comply with the use restrictions contained
in Article IV;
(ii) Tenant shall not be in default under this Lease;
(iii) The assignee, in a document satisfactory to Landlord and in recordable form, shall agree to faithfully perform and be bound by all
of the terms, conditions, covenants, provisions and agreements of this Lease;
(iv) Any sublease or assignment of lease shall provide that it is subject to the terms and conditions of this Lease and may, at
Landlord's option, require the sublessee to attorn to Landlord;
(v) Neither the Assignment nor any sublease nor Landlord's consent to either, shall release or discharge Tenant from any liability,
past or future, under the Lease;
(vi) Tenant shall remain fully liable under this Lease upon notice in accordance with this Lease from Landlord of any default under
this Lease;
(vii) Landlord's consent to any assignment or sublease shall not constitute or be deemed its consent, nor constitute a waiver of the
requirement of its consent, to any subsequent assignment or sublease.
(c) Tenant shall not assign any of its rights under this Lease separate from any permitted assignment.
ARTICLE XV HOLDING OVER
Section 15.01. Upon the expiration or other termination of the term of this Lease, the Tenant shall quit and surrender to the Landlord the Demised
Premises, broom clean, in good order and condition, ordinary wear excepted, and the Tenant shall remove all its property, including, but not limited
to, Tenant's Property. The Tenant's obligation to observe or perform this covenant shall survive the expiration or other termination of this Lease.
Any holding over by Tenant after the expiration of the term of this Lease shall be treated as a daily tenancy at sufferance at a rate equal to one
and a half (1.5) times the Basic Rent plus Additional Rent and other charges herein provided (prorated on a daily basis) and shall otherwise be on
the terms and conditions set forth in this Lease as far as applicable.
ARTICLE XVI REMOVAL OF PERSONAL PROPERTY
Section 16.01. Personal Property. Tenant shall immediately remove all personal property of Tenant remaining upon the Leased Property or
Improvements at the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease. Any personal property of Tenant remaining upon the Leased Property or
Improvements after the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, may, at the option of Landlord, be deemed to have been abandoned by
Tenant and may be retained by Landlord as its property, or be disposed of, without accountability, by Landlord in such manner as it deems
appropriate. Tenant shall be responsible to Landlord for any cost or expense incurred by Landlord in disposing of Tenant's personal property
remaining on the Leased Property or Improvements after the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease.
Section 16.02. The provisions of this Article shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease.

ARTICLE XVII SIGNS
Section 17.01. Tenant shall not install or replace, nor permit the installation or replacement by others, of any signs or advertising matter in, upon or
over the Leased Property or the Improvements without the prior written consent of Landlord, which will not be unreasonably withheld. If Landlord
consents to the installation and replacement of any such signs, Tenant shall comply with all applicable requirements of governmental authorities
having jurisdiction and shall obtain all necessary approvals prior to the installation or replacement of any sign or other advertising matter permitted
by Landlord, all of which shall be performed at the sole cost and expense of Tenant.
ARTICLE XVIII INDEMNITY; ENVIRONMENTAL COVENANT
Section 18.01. Tenant's Indemnification of Landlord. Tenant shall indemnify and hold Landlord harmless from and against any and all liabilities,
obligations, damages, penalties, claims, costs, charges and expenses, including, without limitation, fees of architects, engineers and attorneys,
which may be imposed upon, incurred by or asserted against Landlord because of any of the following ("the claims"):
(i) Any work or thing done in, on or about the Leased Property or the Improvements by Tenant or its agent or contractors;
(ii) Any use, non-use, possession, occupation, condition, operation, maintenance or management of the Leased Property or the
Improvements or any part of either, by Tenant, its agents, guests and invitees;
(iii) Any act or Omission of Tenant or any of its agents, concessionaires, contractors, servants, employees, subtenants, or invitees;
(iv) Any accident, injury or death to any person or damage to any property occurring in, on or about the Leased Property or the
Improvements, or any adjacent sidewalk, curb, passageway or space as a result of the act or default of Tenant, its agents, guests or
invitees; or
(v) Any failure by Tenant to perform or comply with any of the covenants, agreements, terms, provisions, conditions or limitations in
this Lease.
If any action or proceeding is brought against Landlord because of any one or more of the foregoing claims, Tenant, at its sole cost and expense,
upon written notice from Landlord, shall defend that action or proceeding by competent counsel acceptable to Landlord. Landlord may be entitled to
defend that action or proceeding by its own counsel and Tenant shall be required to indemnify Landlord for all costs and expenses incurred by
Landlord for investigation and defense of such action or proceeding upon demand therefor by Landlord to Tenant including evidence of such costs
and expenses.
Section 18.02. Environmental Covenants. Tenant agrees that Tenant, its agents, servants, employees, licensees, contractors and
concessionaires shall not use, manufacture, store or dispose of any flammable explosives, radioactive materials, hazardous wastes or materials,
toxic wastes or materials or other similar substances (collectively "Hazardous Materials") on, under or about the Leased Property in violation of
law. Without limiting the above, Tenant shall indemnify and hold harmless Landlord from and against any and all claims, losses, liabilities,
damages, costs and expenses, including, without limitation, attorneys' fees and costs arising out of or in any way connected with the use,
manufacture, storage, or disposal of Hazardous Materials in violation of law by Tenant, its agent, servants, employees, licensees, contractors or
concessionaires on, under or about the Leased Property including, without limitation, the cost of any required or necessary repair, cleanup or
detoxification and the preparation of any closure or other required plans in connection herewith. The indemnity obligations of Tenant under this
section shall survive any termination of this Lease.
ARTICLE XIX INSURANCE
Section 19.01. Landlord's Obligations. Throughout the term of this Lease, Landlord covenants and agrees to maintain and to keep in force, at
Landlord's own cost and expense, in respect of the Leased Property and all other buildings and improvements within the Property, fire insurance
with extended coverage for not less than 80% of the full insurable value thereof or such other, higher or different limits of coverage as Landlord
shall from time to time carry. Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for Tenant's proportionate share of the premiums paid by Landlord for maintaining
insurance required by this paragraph. Reimbursement shall be made by Tenant in monthly installments on or before the first day of each calendar
month, in advance, in an amount estimated by Landlord, provided that in the event Landlord is required under a mortgage covering the Building and
the Premises to escrow insurance premiums, Landlord may, but shall not be obligated to, use the amount required to be escrowed as a basis for
its estimate of the monthly amount due from Tenant hereunder. Landlord shall furnish Tenant with a written statement of the actual amount of
Tenant's proportionate share of the insurance premiums. If the total amount paid by Tenant under this article during any calendar year shall be less
than the actual amount due from Tenant for such year, as shown on such statement, Tenant shall pay to Landlord the deficiency within thirty (30)
days after demand therefore by Landlord, and if the total amount paid by Tenant hereunder for any such calendar year shall exceed such amount
due from Tenant for such calendar year, Tenant shall be entitled to offset the excess against payments next thereafter becoming due under this
Lease. For the calendar years in which this Lease begins and terminates, the provisions of this Article shall apply and Tenant's liability for its
proportionate share of any insurance premiums for any such year shall be subject to a pro-rata adjustment based on the number of days of any
such year during which the term of this Lease is in effect. Tenant's proportionate share of the insurance premiums shall be the ratio of the total
premium that the total number of gross leaseable square feet in the Leased Property bears to the total number of gross leaseable square feet in
the Building.
Section 19.02. Tenant Obligations . From and after the Commencement Date and throughout the term of this Lease, Tenant shall maintain and
keep in force, at Tenant's own cost and expense, Comprehensive General Liability insurance naming Landlord as an additional insured with respect
to occurrences on the Lease Property (including builders risk coverage throughout the making of any alterations, additions or construction at the
Leased Property by Tenant or its designee), in amounts not less than $1,000,000 for personal and bodily injury to anyone person, $1,000,000 for
personal and bodily injury to all persons in any one occurrence, and $500,000 for damage to property; and Tenant shall indemnify Landlord from,
and hold Landlord harmless against, any and all claims for personal injury, wrongful death and property damage occurring on the Leased Property
or resulting from any acts, omissions or negligence of Tenant, its agents or employees, unless such injury, death or damage results from the acts,
omissions or negligence of Landlord, its agents, employees or contractors, from structural defects of the Leased Property or from any failure of
Landlord to perform any of its obligations under this Lease.
Landlord may also require Tenant to carry such other types of insurance as may be necessary or desirable in Landlord's determination in order to
insure and protect Landlord and Tenant against specific risks of loss related to the Tenant's specific use of the Leased Property, all of which shall
be provided in such amounts as Landlord shall determine at the sole cost of Tenant.

In the event that the permitted uses carried on by the Tenant at the Leased Property shall result in an increase in the premiums payable by the
Landlord for the insurance required to be carried by the Landlord by this Article, or otherwise under this Lease, then in such event Tenant shall,
upon written notice from the Landlord, promptly pay the amount of such increased premiums attributable to the Tenant's uses and operations at the
Premises.
Section 19.03. Policies. Upon request, Landlord or Tenant shall deliver to the other policies or certificate of all insurance policies required under
this Lease, and shall thereafter deliver to the other renewal policies or certificates at least twenty (20) days to the expiration of any existing policy.
Either Landlord or Tenant shall have the right to provide any insurance required to be carried by it hereunder blanket policies.
Section 19.04. Waiver of Subrogation. Every policy of fire insurance with extended coverage and every policy insuring any economic loss resulting
from any risks covered by either of the aforementioned policies, carried by either party with respect to the Leased Property and all other buildings
and improvements, whether or not required hereby to be carried, which insures the interest of one party only, shall (if it can be so written and either
does not result in additional premium or the other party agrees to pay upon demand any additional premium resulting) include provisions denying to
the insurer acquisition by subrogation of rights of recovery against the other and their officers, employees and agents (and their respective parent
and subsidiary corporation) to the extent such rights have been waived by the insured prior to the occurrence of damage or loss. Each party, to the
extent permitted by the applicable policy, hereby waives any rights of recover against the other and their subsidiary corporations) for any direct
damage or consequential loss normally covered by standard policies of fire insurance with extended coverage, boiler and machinery insurance
policies and any policies insuring any economic loss resulting from any risks covered by either of the aforementioned policies, against which such
party is protected by insurance or has elected to be self-insured against, to the extent of the proceeds paid under such policies and the amount of
any self-insurance, whether or not such damage or loss shall have been caused by any acts or omissions of the other party.
Section 19.05. Notice of Cancellation. The policies and certificates evidencing the policies shall provide for thirty (30) days prior written notice to
Landlord of any cancellation, reduction in amount or material change in coverage.
Section 19.06. Responsibility of Tenant During Construction. Prior to commencement of the construction required under Article V, Tenant at its
own expense shall obtain, furnish to Landlord, and maintain through completion of construction the following policies of insurance in form
acceptable to Landlord, or have tenant's subcontractors maintain the following in conjunction with the work performed in accordance with Exhibit
"D";
(i) Worker's compensation insurance, disability benefits insurance and all other insurance Tenant is required by law to provide
covering loss resulting from injury, sickness, disability or death of all persons employed by Tenant or by Tenant's contractors,
subcontractors, or agents;
(ii) Contractor's Public Liability and Property Damage Insurance and Vehicle Liability Insurance with limits of at least $1,000,000 for
personal injury or death to any one or more persons in any one accident and $1,000,000 for property damage, which shall insure the
activities of Tenant and Tenant's contractors, subcontractors and agents, including full underground coverage;
(iii) Contractual Coverage Insurance providing protection for Tenant and Tenant's contractors, subcontractors and agents against
damage claims that may arise from operations under this Lease, with limits of at least $1,000,000;
(iv) An all-risk Builders' Risk Insurance, fire and extended Coverage, on a 100% completed value basis on the Improvements.
Section 19.07. Certificates of Insurance. All insurance coverage required during the period of construction by Section 19.06 of this Lease shall be
evidenced by certificates of insurance furnished by Tenant to Landlord, which certificates shall also state that the insurance carrier will give
Landlord at least ten (10) days prior written notice of cancellation or of any material change in coverage.
Section 19.08. Quality of Insurance. All insurance required to be carried by Tenant by this Article XIX shall be issued by a company classified in
the most recent edition of Best's Insurance Guide as a minimum Class XII as to financial rating and A+
as to policyholder rating, or if not of such class or rating, then any policy of insurance shall be subject to Landlord's approval, which shall not be
unreasonably withheld.

ARTICLE XX EMINENT DOMAIN
Section 20.01. Total Condemnation. If the whole of the Leased Property or the Building in which the Leased Property is located shall be taken or
condemned by eminent domain for any public or quasi-public use or purpose, or shall be taken by purchase in lieu of such condemnation or
exercise of eminent domain, then the term of this Lease shall cease and terminate as of the date of such taking or condemnation or as the date on
which Tenant is deprived of possession, whichever occurs first. Tenant shall continue to pay the Base Rent and all additional rent in the same
amounts as herein provided until such time as the Tenant is required to surrender possession of the Leased Property as a consequence of such
taking or condemnation.
Section 20.02. Partial Condemnation. If only part of the Leased Property or the Building in which the Leased Property is located shall be taken or
condemned, and in the further event that the Landlord shall determine not to restore the remainder of the Leased Property or the Building so taken
or condemned, then the Landlord shall have the right, at its election, to terminate and cancel this Lease as of the date of such taking or
condemnation, or as of the date the Tenant is deprived of possession, whichever occurs first, exercisable not later than ninety (90) days following
the date of the taking of possession, upon ten (10) days written notice given by the Landlord to the Tenant. Tenant shall continue to pay the Base
Rent and all additional rent in the same amounts as herein provided until such time as the Tenant shall be required to surrender possession of the
Leased Property or the portion thereof so taken. Notwithstanding the forgoing, if only part of the Leased Property shall be taken or condemned then
the tenant shall have the right, at its election, to terminate and cancel this lease as of the date of such taking or condemnation provided that the
remaining portion of the Leased Property after such taking is not reasonably adequate to accommodate Tenant's space needs to reasonably
conduct its business following the taking.
Section 20.03. Restoration. If only a part of the Leased Property shall be so taken or condemned, and if the Landlord or tenant shall fail to exercise
its right to cancel and terminate this Lease as provided in Section 20.02 above, then in such event the Landlord shall, at its own cost and
expense, promptly after the Tenant surrenders possession of the part of the Leased Property taken or condemned, restore what remains of the

Leased Property and of the Building of which the Leased Property is a part to as nearly as practicable the condition the same were in prior to the
taking or condemnation, subject to the reduction in size, provided, however, that the Landlord's obligation to restore shall be limited in expenditure
to the amount of the condemnation award received by the Landlord pursuant to such proceeding.
Section 20.04. Condemnation Award. In the event that the taking results in the termination of all or any portion of this Lease, the entire
condemnation award, after deducting all expenses and costs, including attorneys' fees, shall be payable directly to the Landlord and the entire
award shall be distributed to the Landlord in connection with such proceeding. Tenant shall have no claim in respect to the award or payment for
the value of the unexpired term of its Lease, except that (i) Tenant may impose and prosecute in any such proceeding in respect of the taking,
either independent of any claim of the Landlord, or, (ii) if only a single award is made for such taking, as a part of the Landlord's claim, claims for
the reasonable value of the Tenant's trade fixtures and improvements, for damages in interruption or dislocation of its business, and for moving
and remodeling expenses.
ARTICLE XXI DAMAGE OR DESTRUCTION
Section 21.01.
(a) In the event that, as a result of a casualty insured against by the Landlord under the standard form of fire insurance policy and extended
coverage endorsement covered by it on the Building or the Leased Property are damaged without the fault of Tenant, so as to render the Leased
Property untenantable in whole or in part, then the Tenant, if the Tenant in the exercise of its reasonable judgment determines that the Leased
Property is no longer suitable for the conduct of its business, shall have the right to terminate the lease upon delivering written notice to that effect
within thirty (30) days of the casualty. In the event that the Tenant does not terminate this Lease or fails to deliver the notice provided for above
within the time period set forth above, then in such event the Landlord shall have the following options:
(i) If the Landlord shall determine to proceed to repair and rebuild the Building and/or the Leased Property, as the case may be, then
this Lease shall continue in full force and effect until the Building or Leased Property have been repaired and rebuilt by the Landlord,
provided, however, that during the period of repair and rebuilding, the Base Rent hereunder shall be abated in proportion to the area
that has been rendered untenantable by the damage; or
(ii) In the event the Landlord shall determine not to rebuild the Building and/or the Leased Property, then Landlord may terminate this
Lease effective as of the date of the damage which rendered the Building and/or Leased Property untenantable.
In the event that the Landlord shall determine to rebuild and repair the Building and/or the Leased Property, then Tenant shall
promptly repair and rebuild the Improvements and replace its trade fixtures and equipment so that they shall be at least equal in
quality and class to the original Work performed by Tenant under Article 5 of this Lease.
If this Lease shall be terminated for any reason, Landlord shall be entitled to all insurance proceeds payable to it by reason of the
policy or policies carried by the Landlord, and Tenant shall be entitled to all insurance proceeds which it shall carry on its
Improvements and its trade fixtures and equipment, and neither party shall have any right, title or claim in and to the insurance
proceeds payable to the other.
ARTICLE XXII LATE CHARGES
Section 22.01. Past Due Rent. If Tenant shall fail to pay any rent when due and payable, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, as Additional Rent, a late
charge equal to five (5%) percent of the rent due. Rent is considered late if received 5 days after its due date. Nothing in this section shall limit
Landlord's right and remedies under any other provision of this Lease.

ARTICLE XXIII TITLE PROVISIONS
Section 23.01. Quiet Enjoyment. Tenant, upon payment of the rent and the performance and observance of all covenants, warranties, agreements
and conditions of this Lease on its part to be kept, shall quietly have and enjoy the Leased Property during the term of this Lease, without
hindrance or molestation by anyone properly claiming by, through or under Landlord.
Section 23.02. Landlord's Title. Landlord represents and warrants to Tenant that it has the power and authority to execute and deliver this Lease
and to carry out and perform all covenants to be performed by it.
Section 23.03 Subordination and Attornment
(a) Tenant recognizes that Landlord has or will finance the acquisition of the Building which the Leased Property is a part by mortgages or similar
encumbrances upon the Building and the Property. This Lease Agreement shall be subject and subordinate to any mortgage given to secure the
financing and other mortgage now or hereafter constituting a lien upon the Leased Property, and to all renewals, modifications, consolidations,
replacements or extensions, thereof. Although no instrument or act on the part of Tenant shall be necessary to effectuate such subordination,
Tenant agrees to execute, acknowledge and deliver such further instruments subordinating this Lease to such mortgage and future mortgages.
(b) In the event of the foreclosure of any mortgage, Tenant shall make full and complete attornment to lender for the balance of the term of this
Lease, upon the same covenants and conditions as are contained herein, so as to establish direct privity of estate and contract between the lender
and Tenant with the same force and effect as though this Lease Agreement were originally made directly between them. Tenant shall thereafter
make all Rent payments directly to the lender.
(c) Except as set forth in Section 3.03, Landlord shall in no event be charged with default in any of its obligations hereunder unless and until
Landlord shall have failed to perform such obligations within thirty (30) days (or such additional time as is reasonably required to correct any such
default) after written notice to Landlord by Tenant, specifically describing such failure. If Landlord commences and proceeds with due diligence to
remedy a defect or to make any change required under this Lease, it shall not be in default. If the holder of any mortgage covering the Building
shall have given written notice to Tenant of the address to which notices to such holder are to be sent, Tenant shall give such holder written notice
simultaneously with any notice given to Landlord of any default of Landlord, and if Landlord fails to cure any default asserted in said notice within
the time provided above, Tenant shall notify such holder in writing of the failure to cure, and said holder shall have thirty (30) days after receipt of
such second notice to cure such default before Tenant may take any action by reason of such default.

ARTICLE XXIV DEFAULT
Section 24.01. Events of Default. Any one or more of the following events shall constitute an event of default (an "event of default"):
(a) Tenant's failure (i) to pay Annual Base Rent when due and payable pursuant to Article III hereof, or (ii) to pay any Additional Rent when due and
payable, and the continuation of the failure to pay such Additional Rent for twenty (20) days after notice from Landlord to Tenant, provided,
however, that if any installment of rent shall be more than five (5) days overdue, a late charge of five percent (5%) shall be charged to Tenant on
such;
(b) Tenant's failure to observe and perform any of the terms, covenants, conditions, limitations or agreements under this Lease on Tenant's part to
be observed or performed (except the obligation to pay rent) and the continuation of the failure for a period of thirty (30) days after notice from
Landlord to Tenant specifying the nature of the failure, provided, however, that if the nature of the failure is such that it cannot reasonably be cured
within such thirty (30) day period and shall thereafter continue to diligently cure such failure which shall in all events be completed within ninety
(90) days from the date of Landlord's notice;
(c) The use of the Leased Property for any purpose other than that stated in Article IV without the prior written consent of Landlord.
(d) Tenant shall file a voluntary petition in bankruptcy or shall be adjudicated as bankrupt or insolvent, or shall file any petition or answer seeking
any reorganization, arrangement, composition, readjustment, liquidation, dissolution or similar relief under the present or any future federal
bankruptcy code or any other present or future federal, state or other bankruptcy or insolvency statute or law (collectively in this Article
"insolvency laws"), or shall seek, consent to or acquiesce in the appointment of any bankruptcy or insolvency trustee, receiver or liquidation of
Tenant or of all or any substantial part of its properties or of the Leased Property or Improvements;
(e) The commencement of any action, case or proceeding ("proceeding") against Tenant seeking (i) any reorganization, arrangement, composition,
readjustment, liquidation, dissolution or similar relief under any insolvency laws, or (ii) the appointment, without the consent or acquiescence of
Tenant, of any trustee, receiver or liquidation of Tenant or of all or substantially all of its properties or of the Leased Property or Improvements, and
the proceedings shall continue undismissed for a period of thirty (30) days;
(f) If a federal or state tax lien is filed against Tenant affecting the Leased Property or Improvements and remains undischarged for more than sixty
(60) days following written notice from Landlord to Tenant;
(g) If a final judgment for the payment of money in excess of $100,000 shall be rendered against Tenant and shall remain undischarged for a period
of more than sixty (60) days following written notice from Landlord to Tenant.
Section 24.02. Remedies on Default.
(a) Upon any one or more events of default, Landlord may, at its option, at any time thereafter, give written notice to Tenant specifying the event or
events of default and stating that this Lease and the term demised shall expire and terminate on the date specified in the notice, which shall be at
least twenty days after the giving of the notice. Upon the date specified in the notice, this Lease and the term demised and all rights of Tenant
under this Lease shall expire and terminate. The expiration or termination of this Lease by Landlord shall not relieve Tenant of its liability and
obligations under this Lease, which shall survive.
(b) Upon termination of this Lease pursuant to this Section, Tenant shall quit and peacefully surrender the Leased Property and the Improvements
to Landlord. Landlord, upon, or at any time after, the expiration or termination of this Lease, without additional notice and without prejudice to any
other rights and remedies it shall have at law or in equity, may re-enter the Leased Property and Improvements, and remove from them Tenant, its
agents, employees, servants, licensees, and subtenants and other persons, firms or corporations and all or any of its or their property, either by
summary dispossess proceedings or by any suitable action or proceeding at law or in equity, or by force or otherwise, without being liable to
indictment, prosecution or damages for such action, and may repossess and have, hold and enjoy the Leased Property and the Improvements.
(c ) Upon Landlord's termination of this Lease, re-entry of the Leased Property and Improvements or dispossession of Tenant by summary
proceedings or otherwise;
(i) The rent shall become due and payable and be paid up to the time of termination, re-entry, or dispossession;
(ii) Landlord at any time and from time to time may relet the Leased Property and Improvements or any part or parts thereof, either in
the name of Landlord or otherwise, for a term or terms which may, at Landlord's option, be less than or exceed the period which
would otherwise have constituted the balance of the term of this Lease and on such conditions, including, without limitation,
concessions of free rent and alterations of the Leased Property and Improvements, as Landlord in its sole discretion may determine,
and Landlord may collect and receive all rents and income from them;
(iii) Notwithstanding any present or future law, statute, or judicial decision, Landlord shall not be responsible or liable for any failure or
refusal to relet the Leased Property and Improvements or any part of them, or for any failure to collect any rent due upon any
reletting of them;
(iv) Whether or not the Leased Property or Improvements or any part of them shall have been relet, Tenant, until the end of what
would have been the term of this Lease in the absence of expiration or termination, shall be liable to and shall pay Landlord as and
for liquidated and agreed current damages (the "current damages") for Tenant's default, the amount of all rent (including prepaid base
rent, which Landlord shall retain) which would have been payable under this Lease by Tenant if it were still in effect, less the net
proceeds of any reletting pursuant to the provisions of this Section, after deducting all Landlord's expenses in the reletting, including,
without limitation, all repossession costs, brokerage and management commissions, operating expenses, legal expenses, attorney's
fees and expenses of preparation for reletting;
(v ) Tenant shall pay the current damages to Landlord, and Landlord shall be entitled to recover them from Tenant, by separate
action, actions or proceeds, at such time or times when rent would have been payable under this Lease if it were still in effect; and
(vi) In lieu of collecting the current damages, Landlord, at its option, shall be entitled to retain, as and for liquidated and agreed final
damages for Tenant's default, the full amount of prepaid base rent and such other rent as Landlord shall have collected from Tenant.

(d) Nothing in this Article shall limit or prejudice the right of Landlord to prove and obtain as liquidated damages an amount equal to the maximum
allowed by any statute or rule of law in effect at the time those damages are to be proved, whether or not that amount is greater, equal to, or less
than the amount provided by this Article.
Section 24.03. In the event of any breach or threatened breach by Tenant of any of the agreements, terms, covenants or conditions contained in
this Lease, Landlord may enjoin the breach or threatened breach and may invoke any right and remedy allowed at law, in equity, by statute, or
otherwise as though re-entry, summary proceedings, and the other remedies were not available under this Lease
Section 24.04. Each right and remedy under this Lease shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other right or remedy provided for in
this Lease or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute or otherwise, and the exercise by Landlord of anyone or more of these rights
or remedies shall not preclude the simultaneous or later exercise by Landlord of any or all other rights or remedies Landlord may have.
Section 24.05. Landlord may, at its option, from time to time, commence actions to recover any rent, or liquidated damages, or other damages,
and nothing in this Lease shall be deemed to require Landlord to await the date this Lease would have expired had there been no default by Tenant
or no termination by Landlord.
ARTICLE XXV MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
Section 25.01. Waivers. No failure by Landlord to insist upon the strict performance of any agreement, term, covenant or condition of this Lease or
to exercise any right or remedy upon a breach of any of them, and no acceptance of full or partial rent during the continuance of any breach, shall
constitute a waiver of the breach or of the agreement, term, covenant or condition. No agreement, term, covenant or condition to be performed or
complied with by Tenant, and no breach of any of them, shall be waived, altered or modified except by a written instrument executed by Landlord.
No waiver of any breach shall affect or alter this Lease, and each and every agreement, term, covenant and condition of this Lease shall continue
in full force and effect with respect to any other existing or subsequent breach.
Section 25.02. No Representation of Condition. No representation, statement, or warranty, express or implied, has been made by Landlord as to
the condition of the Leased Property, or their permitted use under applicable zoning, building, land use and similar laws, ordinances and regulations
("use regulations"). Tenant assumes all responsibility for compliance with the use regulations, and Landlord shall have no liability or responsibility
for any defect in the Leased Property or for any limitations upon the use of the Leased Property.
Section 25.03. Consent. Unless otherwise specifically provided in the Lease, wherever this Lease requires the consent of Landlord, such consent
may be withheld for any reason or no reason, in Landlord's sole discretion.
Section 25.04. Force Majeure. If Landlord or Tenant shall be delayed, hindered in or prevented from the performance of any act required under this
Lease by reason of strikes, lockouts, impossibility of procuring materials, governmental orders which prevent the construction or development of
the Improvements, riots, insurrection, or war for the purpose of prosecuting Landlord or Tenant's work hereunder ("force majeure"), performance of
that act shall be excused for the period of the delay (but not exceeding two years) and the period for the performance of the act shall be extended
for a period equivalent to the excusable period of the delay (not exceeding two years), provided the party delayed shall give the other party written
notice and full particulars of the force majeure within a reasonable time after the event occurs. The provisions of this Article shall not excuse
Tenant from the prompt payment of rent under this Lease.
Section 25.05. Notice. Every notice, request, demand, consent, approval, objection, document or other communication authorized or required by
this Lease shall not be effective unless it is in writing, sent postage prepaid by United States registered or certified mail, return receipt requested,
or by nationally recognized overnight courier, to the other party at the following address:
To Landlord: Kingfisher, LLC
137 North Street
Pittsfield, MA 01201
With a copy to: Herzog, Engstrom & Koplovitz, P.C.
Harry V.B. Miller, Esq.
7 Southwoods Boulevard
Albany, NY 12211
To Tenant: Mechanical Technology, Inc.
431 New Karner Road
Albany, NY 12205
With a copy to:

or to such other address as either party may designate by notice given from time to time in accordance with this Section. Notices shall be
effective upon mailing except in the case of a notice to change an address, which shall be effective upon receipt by the other party.
Section 25.06. Certificates. Either party shall, without charge, within ten (10) days after written request of the other, certify, by written instrument
duly executed and acknowledged, to any mortgagee, purchaser, or proposed mortgagee or purchaser, or to any other person, firm or corporation
specified in the request, the following matters:

(a) that this Lease has not been amended, or if it has, the substance of the amendment;
(b) whether the Lease is in full force and effect;
(c) the existence of any default, set-off, counterclaimer defense on the part of the other party;
(d) the commencement and expiration dates of this Lease;
(e) the dates to which rent has been paid; and
(f) any other matters that may reasonably be requested.
The certificate may be relied upon by the party requesting it and any other person, firm or corporation to whom by the terms of the certificate it
may be exhibited or delivered, and the contents of the certificate shall be binding on the party which executed it. Tenant hereby constitutes
Landlord as true and lawful attorney-in-fact coupled with an interest for the purpose of executing any such certificate called for by this Section
25.07 which the Tenant has failed or refused to deliver within the time frame set forth herein. Any certificate so executed by Landlord as attorneyin-fact for the Tenant may be relied upon by party with the same full force and effect as if it had been executed by the Tenant as provided for
herein.
Section 25.07. Governing Law. This Lease and the performance of it shall be governed, interpreted, construed and regulated by the laws of the
State of New York without regard to principles of conflicts of laws.
Section 25.08. Partial Invalidity. If any term, covenant, condition or provision of this Lease, or the application of it to any person or circumstance,
shall be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Lease, or the application of that term or provision to persons or circumstances other than
those as to which it is held invalid or unenforceable, shall not be affected and every other term, covenant, condition and provision of this Lease
shall be valid and be enforced to the fullest extent permitted by law.
Section 25.09. Memorandum of Lease. The parties will, at the request of either one, promptly execute duplicate originals of an instrument, in
recordable form, which will constitute a short form of Lease, setting forth a description of the Leased Property, the terms of this Lease and any
other portions of the Lease, except the rental provisions, as either party may request. Tenant will pay all costs of recordation of any memorandum
of sublease.
Section 25.10. Interpretation. Wherever the singular number is used in this Lease the same shall include the plural, and the masculine gender shall
include the feminine and neuter genders, and vice versa, as the context shall require. This Lease may be executed in several counterparts, each
of which shall be an original, but all of which shall constitute one and the same instrument.
Section 25.11. Binding Effect. Except as expressly provided otherwise in this Lease, the covenants, conditions and agreements contained in this
Lease shall bind and inure to the benefit of Landlord and Tenant and their respective heirs, successors, administrators and assigns.
Section 25.12. No Oral Modification. All prior understandings and agreements between the parties are merged within this agreement, which alone
fully and completely sets forth the understanding of the parties. Tenant is not relying on any representation or agreement other than those set forth
in this Lease. This Lease may not be changed or terminated orally or in any manner other than by a written agreement signed by the party against
whom enforcement is sought.
Section 25.13 Headings. The headings of the Articles and Sections of this Lease are for convenience and reference only and do not define, limit or
describe the intent of this Lease or in any way affect this Lease or the interpretation of it.
Section 25.14. No Broker. The parties warrant and represent to each other that no real estate broker or agent was instrumental or in any way
responsible in bringing about this Lease other than CB Richard Ellis Robert Cohn, both Landlord's broker and tenant's broker. Each party agrees to
indemnify and hold the other party harmless against any claim, suit, liability, loss or expense, including attorneys' fees, arising out of the breach of
this warranty and representation.
Section 25.15. Limitation of Liability. Anything in this Lease to the contrary notwithstanding, Tenant agrees that it shall look solely to the estate
and property of Landlord in the Building and the Property, and subject to the prior rights of any mortgagee of such Property and the Building and
subject to Landlord's rights under a leasehold interest of said Property or Building or par thereof, for the collection of any judgment (or other judicial
process) requiring the payment of money by Landlord in the event of any default or breach by Landlord with respect to any of the terms, covenants
and conditions of this Lease to be observed and/or performed by Landlord, and no other assets of Landlord shall be subject to levy, execution or
other procedures for the satisfaction of Tenant's remedies.
Section 25.16. If Tenant shall abandon or vacate the Leased Property or Improvements for 90 days or more, landlord shall have right to terminate
the lease.
Section 25.17. Lease Renewal. Provided that Tenant is not in default, Tenant shall have the option to renew this lease for a further term of five (5)
years upon six (6) months prior written notice at a rate of $12.50 per square foot.
Section 25.18. Advise on Interest. Landlord hereby agrees to advise Tenant of any party's substantial interest in leasing the 6,000 square feet of
space located in the south section of Building "A". This in no way binds the Landlord to grant Tenant the right of first refusal on this space.
Section 25.19. Landlord agrees not to rent any space at 431 New Karner Road to any researcher, manufacturer or developer of fuel cells, provided
tenant is still conducting this type of business on the premises.
KINGFISHER, LLC

By: /s/ Edward L. Hoe, Jr.,Manager___________________________________
Edward L. Hoe, Jr., Manager

Mechanical Technology Incorporated

By: /s/ Cynthia A. Scheuer _
Cynthia A. Scheuer, Vice President and CFO

EXHIBIT "A"
Demised
Premises
EXHIBIT "B"

431 New Karner Road
Site Plan
EXHIBIT "C"

IMPROVEMENTS
431 New Karner Road
Work Letter

Landlord's Work
Landlord agrees to provide the following work, at is sole expense, as described below:
1. Provide and install double door by women's bathroom (as per J. Paul Vosburgh, Architect specifications), complete wall to demise Premise,
and all other work necessary to demise Premises.
2. Provide separate electric and gas meters.
3. Ensure HVAC with existing ductwork and existing systems functions to properly condition Tenant's space as currently configured with
addition of the following: 1) air conditioning will be supplied to lab area, 2) additional heat will be supplied to front area, if necessary, 3) fresh
air, exclusive of lab use, will be provided, and 4) Landlord will repair existing ductwork as necessary, and install ductwork and diffusers to
existing offices which currently have no ductwork or diffusers. Any other changes, upgrades, extensions and replacements will be
considered Tenant Improvements. Remove tanks, cables, etc. in ceilings, leave CAT5 cable.
4. Perform the work necessary to obtain a Certificate of Occupancy for the Premises exclusive of any additional requirements specific to
Tenant's use, which would be Tenant Improvements.
5. Remove rotted hollow metal doors at test cells and replace with new doors.
Tenant Improvements
Landlord agrees to fit-up premises substantially as per drawing and specifications provided by J. Paul Vosburgh, Architect and included in scope
of work by Construction Clerk Services. Landlord will pay for first $191,077.31 of improvements and at Tenant's option, as per Section 3.02, to pay
for up to an additional $50,000. Tenant agrees to pay all costs above Landlord payments. Landlord and Tenant agree the plans and specifications
are not in final form. Landlord and Tenant agree to exercise due diligence to finalize plans and specifications. Both parties must agree to final
plans and specifications prior to commencement of construction.
The final plans and specifications will be attached to an amended lease as Exhibit E.

EXHIBIT "D"
OUTLINE SPECIFICATIONS OF TENANT'S WORK

A. Installation of telephone, data and security systems.
EXHIBIT "E"

Final Plans
And Specifications
EXHIBIT "F"
Estimated
Common Area Expenses

RE: LEASE OF 433 NEW KARNER ROAD BY MECHANICAL TECHNOLOGY, INC. ("Tenant") FROM KINGFISHER, LLC ("Landlord")

Landlord agrees to obtain a separate certificate of occupancy for the 1,872 sq. feet of laboratory space in Building A, located at 433 New Karner
Road, Colonie, NY ("Property"). Landlord agrees to permit Tenant to occupy the Property on or before April 11, 2001 at a monthly rental rate of
$1,521. Upon commencement of Tenant's occupancy of the full office and laboratory space at 433 New Karner Rd, as described in the lease dated
as of April 2, 2001 between Tenant and Landlord, all rental payments regarding the Property shall cease.
All other terms and conditions of the lease shall apply during this initial occupancy period.
Agreed to this 2nd day of April, 2001.

/s/ Edward L. Hoe, Jr., Manager
Landlord
Kingfisher, LLC
By: Edward L. Hoe
Its: Manager

/s/Cynthia A. Scheuer
Tenant
Mechanical Technology Inc.
By: Cynthia A. Scheuer
Its: Vice President and CFO

EXHIBIT 21
SUBSIDIARIES OF MECHANICAL TECHNOLOGY INCORPORATED

Subsidiary Name

Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization

Turbonetics Energy, Inc.

New York

MTI International, Inc.

Guam

MTI Instruments, Inc.

New York

Embedded Power LLC

Delaware

MTI MicroFuel Cells Inc.

Delaware

EXHIBIT 23
Consent of Independent Accountants

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-76817, 333-72841, and 333-41863) of
Mechanical Technology Incorporated and Subsidiaries of our reports dated November 9, 2001, relating to the financial statements and financial
statement schedule which appears in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

December 5, 2001

